
 

 
Prif Weithredwr / Chief Executive  Mohammed Mehmet PhD BSc 

Prif Swyddfeydd Y Cyngor/Council Offices, Rhuthun/Ruthin, Sir Ddinbych/Denbighshire LL15 1YN.   
Ffôn/Tel (01824) 706234 Ffacs/Fax (01824) 707446 

 
At: Aelodau’r  Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau 

Democrataidd 
Dyddiad: 

 
Dydd Mercher, 8 
Tachwedd 2013 
 

 Rhif Union: 
 

01824 712589 

 ebost: dcc_admin@denbighshire.gov.uk 

 
 
Annwyl Gynghorydd 
 
Fe’ch gwahoddir i fynychu cyfarfod y PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD, 
DYDD IAU, 14 TACHWEDD 2013 am 2.00 pm yn YSTAFELL BWLLGOR 1B, NEUADD Y 
SIR, RHUTHUN LL15 1YN. 
 
Yn gywir iawn 
 
 
G Williams 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Democrataidd 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
1 YMDDIHEURIADAU   

 

2 DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT   

 Dylai Aelodau ddatgan unrhyw gysylltiadau personol neu rai sy’n rhagfarnu 
gydag unrhyw fater a nodwyd y dylid ei ystyried yn y cyfarfod hwn. 

 

3 MATERION BRYS FEL Y’U CYTUNWYD GAN Y CADEIRYDD   

 Rhybudd o faterion y dylid, ym marn y Cadeirydd, eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod 
fel mater brys yn unol ag Adran 100B(4) Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972. 
 
 

 

Pecyn Dogfen Cyhoeddus



 
Prif Weithredwr / Chief Executive  Mohammed Mehmet PhD BSc 

Prif Swyddfeydd Y Cyngor/Council Offices, Rhuthun/Ruthin, Sir Ddinbych/Denbighshire LL15 1YN.   
Ffôn/Tel (01824) 706234 Ffacs/Fax (01824) 707446 

4 COFNODION Y CYFARFOD DIWETHAF  (Tudalennau 5 - 8) 

 Derbyn a chymeradwyo cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd a gynhaliwyd ar 15 Chwefror 2013 (copi ynghlwm). 

 

5 YMGYNGHORIAD YNGLŶN Â GORCHYMYN PERSONAU DYNODEDIG  
(Tudalennau 9 - 24) 

 Ystyried adroddiad gan Reolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd (copi 
ynghlwm) er mwyn ymateb i ymgynghoriad Llywodraeth Cymru ynglŷn ag 
ymestyn pwerau Pwyllgorau Craffu i gynnwys darparwyr gwasanaeth 
cyhoeddus dynodedig. 

 

6 ADRODDIADAU BLYNYDDOL GAN AELODAU  (Tudalennau 25 - 36) 

 Ystyried adroddiad gan Reolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd (copi 
ynghlwm) yn amlinellu’r cynnydd a wnaed yn y broses o gyhoeddi 
adroddiadau blynyddol yr aelodau. 

 

7 GWEDDARLLEDU CYFARFODYDD Y CYNGOR  (Tudalennau 37 - 40) 

 Ystyried adroddiad gan Reolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd (copi 
ynghlwm) i roi diweddariad i'r Pwyllgor ynglŷn â datblygiadau'r prosiect hwn. 

 

8 RHEOLIADAU ABSENOLDEB TEULUOL AR GYFER AELODAU  
(Tudalennau 41 - 62) 

 Ystyried adroddiad gan Bennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 
Democrataidd (copi ynghlwm) i ystyried goblygiadau fersiwn ddrafft y 
rheoliadau a'r canllawiau statudol. 

 

9 FERSIWN DDRAFFT ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL PANEL ANNIBYNNOL 
CYMRU AR GYDNABYDDIAETH ARIANNOL 2014/2015  (Tudalennau 63 - 
144) 

 Ystyried adroddiad gan Bennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 
Democrataidd (copi ynghlwm) i geisio barn yr Aelodau ynglŷn â’r adroddiad 
drafft fel y gellir cyflwyno barn y Cyngor i'r Panel. 

 

10 RHAGLEN GWAITH I'R DYFODOL   

 Ystyried eitemau i’r dyfodol. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
Prif Weithredwr / Chief Executive  Mohammed Mehmet PhD BSc 

Prif Swyddfeydd Y Cyngor/Council Offices, Rhuthun/Ruthin, Sir Ddinbych/Denbighshire LL15 1YN.   
Ffôn/Tel (01824) 706234 Ffacs/Fax (01824) 707446 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
Y Cynghorwyr 
 
William Cowie 
Stuart Davies 
Martyn Holland 
Gwyneth Kensler 
Barry Mellor 
Win Mullen-James 
 

Bob Murray 
Peter Owen 
Merfyn Parry 
Arwel Roberts 
Gareth Sandilands 
 

 
COPIAU I’R: 
 
Holl Gynghorwyr er gwybodaeth 
Y Wasg a’r Llyfrgelloedd 
Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned  



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



 

PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD 
 
Cofnodion cyfarfod o’r Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a gynhaliwyd yn Ystafell 
Bwllgor 1a, Neuadd Y Sir, Rhuthun, Dydd Gwener, 15 Chwefror 2013 am 10.00 am. 
 

YN BRESENNOL 
 
Y Cynghorwyr Gwyneth Kensler, Barry Mellor (Cadeirydd), Merfyn Parry, Arwel Roberts 
a/ac Gareth Sandilands 
 

HEFYD YN BRESENNOL 

 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Democrataidd (RGW), Gwasanaethau Democratig 
(SP) a/ac Gweinyddwr Pwyllgor (SLW)  
  
 

 
1 YMDDIHEURIADAU  

 
Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb oddi wrth y Cynghorwr(wyr) 
Martyn Holland, Bob Murray a/ac Peter Owen 
 

2 DATGAN CYSYLLTIAD  
 
Ni fu i unrhyw Aelod ddatgan cysylltiad personol na niweidiol mewn unrhyw fusnes 
i’w ystyried yn y cyfarfod.  
 

3 MATERION BRYS FEL Y’U CYTUNWYD GAN Y CADEIRYDD  
 
Dim.  
 

4 COFNODION Y CYFARFOD DIWETHAF  
 
Cyflwynwyd cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
gynhaliwyd ar 13 Rhagfyr 2012. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD derbyn a chymeradwyo’r cofnodion fel cofnod cywir.   
 

5 CYMHARU ADNODDAU AR GYFER CRAFFU YNG NGOGLEDD CYMRU  
 
Cyflwynodd y Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd  adroddiad (a gafodd ei 
gylchredeg yn flaenorol) ynglŷn â’r adnoddau ar gael i bob awdurdod lleol a’r ffyrdd 
maent yn cael eu dosbarthu. 
 
Gofynnwyd am yr adroddiad yn ystod cyfarfod diwethaf y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd er mwyn cymharu adnoddau Pwyllgorau Craffu gogledd Cymru. 
 
Roedd yr adroddiad yn cynnwys gwybodaeth fanwl ar swyddogaethau Craffu pob 
Cyngor yng ngogledd Cymru yn ôl eu hadroddiadau blynyddol. 
 

Eitem Agenda 4

Tudalen 5



Yn dilyn cais y Pwyllgor, cadarnhaodd Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 
Democrataidd y byddai’n holi ynghylch swm y gyllideb hyfforddi ac yn adrodd yn ôl.  
 
Byddai sefydlu cyfarfod Craffu ar y Cyd yn broses anodd. Ar hyn o bryd nid oes gan 
Sir Ddinbych y gallu a byddai’n rhaid aildrefnu patrymau gwaith i ddelio â hyn.  
 
Yn ôl arweiniad Llywodraeth Cymru roedd bwriad y tu ôl i’r mesur i ddarparu cyfle 
craffu mwy agored ac ar gyfer aelodau o’r cyhoedd. Awgrymwyd sefydlu Grŵp Tasg 
a Gorffen a fyddai’n agored i aelodau o’r cyhoedd a mudiadau gwirfoddol. Os 
sefydlir Grŵp Tasg a Gorffen, bydd yn effeithio ar adnoddau a byddai Craffu ar y 
Cyd yn effeithio cryn dipyn ar adnoddau. Roedd adroddiad am gael ei gyflwyno yn 
ystod Brîff y Cyngor i alluogi’r Aelodau gymryd rhan yn y drafodaeth. Byddai’r mater 
hefyd yn cael ei gyflwyno i’r Grwpiau Gwleidyddol er mwyn iddyn nhw ei drafod cyn 
cyfarfod Brîff y Cyngor ym mis Tachwedd.  
 
Cadarnhaodd y Cydlynydd Archwilio bod y taflenni craffu wedi eu dosbarthu. Mae’r 
Cydlynydd Archwilio hefyd wedi edrych i mewn i’r wybodaeth sy’n cael ei chynnwys 
yn Llais y Sir. Os codir mater trwy’r taflenni, byddai’n cael ei ddwyn i sylw Grŵp 
Cadeiryddion ac Is-Gadeiryddion Archwilio er mwyn iddyn nhw benderfynu a yw’n 
fater ar gyfer Archwilio neu’n fater ar gyfer Aelod Ward, Aelod Grŵp Ardal neu 
Wasanaeth Cwsmer.   
 
PENDERFYNWYD yn amodol ar yr uchod, derbyn a chymeradwyo’r adroddiad.  
 

6 CANLYNIADAU AROLWG AMSERIAD CYFARFODYDD  
 
Cyflwynodd Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd adroddiad (a gafodd ei 
gylchredeg yn flaenorol) ynglŷn ag asesu canlyniadau Arolwg Amseriad 
Cyfarfodydd. 
 
Trafodwyd amserlen ddrafft cyfarfodydd Mai 2013 - Mai 2014. Lle bynnag bo’n 
bosib nid yw cyfarfodydd wedi eu trefnu yn ystod gwyliau ysgol. Byddai egwyl ym 
mis Awst fel sydd wedi digwydd yn y gorffennol. Roedd amserlenni cyfarfodydd rhai 
Pwyllgorau wedi eu cynllunio i  gyd-daro â materion a ŵyr amdanynt. Cyfarfod 
Llywodraethu Corfforaethol ar 27 Medi: roedd cais wedi dod i law i drefnu’r cyfarfod 
2 ddiwrnod yn ddiweddarach i hwyluso llunio’r datganiad o gyfrifon.  
  
Dychwelwyd oddeutu 30 holiadur wedi eu cwblhau gan Aelodau. Roedd y rhan 
fwyaf o’r Aelodau’n ffafrio cynnal cyfarfodydd yn y bore ac wedi dewis Rhuthun fel y 
lle gorau i’w cynnal. Dywedwyd y byddai’n ddefnyddiol derbyn rhestr o bawb a 
ddychwelodd holiadur a chytunodd Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd i 
gasglu a dosbarthu’r wybodaeth.   
 
PENDERFYNWYD yn amodol ar yr uchod, derbyn a chadarnhau’r canlynol:- 
 

(i) Amserlen ddrafft cyfarfodydd Pwyllgorau, a 
(ii) Amseriad priodol cyfarfodydd (yn seiliedig ar ymateb Aelodau ac Aelodau 

Cyfetholedig i’r holiadur)  
 
 

Tudalen 6



7 DIWEDDARIAD AR GANLLAWIAU STATUDOL TERFYNOL:  
 
Rhoddodd Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd adroddiad llafar ynglŷn â 
materion Craffu ar y Cyd a’r broses i gefnogi Adroddiadau Blynyddol.  
 
Dywedodd Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd nad oedd diweddariad pellach 
ar gael ar y canllaw statudol terfynol ar adroddiadau blynyddol Aelodau. Eglurodd 
Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Democrataidd  bod yn rhaid i bob 
awdurdod lleol gael trefniadau yn eu lle i alluogi Aelodau baratoi adroddiad 
blynyddol yn ymwneud â’u gweithgareddau yn ystod y 12 mis diwethaf. Byddai 
templed adroddiad yn cael ei lunio ar gyfer Aelodau. Unwaith y byddai’r 
adroddiadau blynyddol yn cael eu cwblhau, byddai proses fetio yn ei le i sicrhau 
mai gwybodaeth berthnasol yn unig oedd yn yr adroddiadau. 
 
Argymhellwyd y dylai pob Aelod gael gwybod am y posibilrwydd o lunio adroddiad 
blynyddol er mwyn iddyn nhw allu cadw cofnod o’u gwaith i hwyluso pethau pan 
fyddan nhw’n mynd ati i lunio eu hadroddiad.   
  
Er na fyddai’n orfodol i Aelodau lunio’r adroddiadau, fe ellir disgwyl i Aelodau eu 
llunio.   
 
PENDERFYNWYD yn amodol ar yr uchod, derbyn a nodi’r wybodaeth.   
 

8 RHAGLEN GWAITH I’R DYFODOL  
 
Rhoddodd y Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd adroddiad llafar ynglŷn â 
Rhaglen Gwaith i’r Dyfodol y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a gofynnodd 
am faterion i’w trafod yn y dyfodol.   
 
Holodd yr Aelodau p’un ai fyddai’r cyfarfod ar 24 Mai yn gworwm gan nad yw’n 
debygol y bydd y Cynghr. Gwyneth Kensler, Barry Mellor ac Arwel Roberts yn 
bresennol a gofynnwyd a fyddai modd cysylltu ag Aelodau eraill y Pwyllgor i 
dderbyn cadarnhad o’u presenoldeb.   
 
PENDERFYNWYD nodi’r wybodaeth ar y Rhaglen Gwaith i’r Dyfodol.     
 
 
 
Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 11.10 a.m. 

Tudalen 7



Tudalen 8

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



  

Adroddiad i'r:    Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd  
 
Dyddiad y Cyfarfod:   14 Tachwedd 2013 
 
Aelod / Swyddog Arweiniol:  Gary Williams, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a  

Democrataidd 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: Gary Williams, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 

Democrataidd 
 
Teitl:      Ymgynghoriad ar y Gorchymyn Personau  

Dynodedig 
 
 
1. Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn? 
 
1.1 Mae'r adroddiad yn ymwneud â’r ddogfen ymgynghori a gynhyrchwyd gan 

Lywodraeth Cymru mewn perthynas â'r cyrff cyhoeddus mae’n ystyried eu cynnwys 
mewn gorchymyn yn nodi cyrff fel personau dynodedig y gellir eu craffu gan 
awdurdodau lleol o dan ddarpariaethau Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 

 
2. Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn?  
 
2.1 Gofyn am farn yr Aelodau ar y ddogfen ymgynghori gyda golwg ar baratoi ymateb ar 

ran y Cyngor i'r cynigion. 
 
3. Beth yw'r argymhellion? 
 
3.1 Bod yr Aelodau'n nodi cynnwys y papur ymgynghori a rhoi barn ar yr ymateb i'w 

gyflwyno ar ran y Cyngor. 
 
4. Manylion am yr adroddiad. 
 
4.1 Mae Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 ("y Mesur") yn rhoi’r pŵer cyfreithiol i 

Weinidogion Cymru 'ddynodi' darparwyr gwasanaeth cyhoeddus at ddibenion craffu 
awdurdodau lleol.  Mewn geiriau eraill, mae'n ymestyn arferion craffu llywodraeth leol 
i'r gwasanaeth cyhoeddus ehangach (y sefydliadau hynny sy’n 'ddynodedig').  Mae'r 
darpariaethau yn y Mesur yn gosod dyletswydd newydd ar bwyllgorau craffu 
awdurdodau lleol i graffu ar ddarparwyr gwasanaethau cyhoeddus yn eu hardal. 

 
4.2 Nid pwrpas y ddyletswydd hon yw dyblygu systemau atebolrwydd sydd eisoes yn 

bodoli mewn perthynas â'r cyrff eraill hyn, ond yn hytrach, i ganolbwyntio ar feysydd 
lle mae gwasanaethau cyhoeddus yn gweithio gyda'i gilydd. 

 
4.3  Efallai bod rhai o'r cyrff sy'n cael eu hystyried ar gyfer eu dynodi eisoes yn cymryd 

rhan mewn trafodaethau yn ein pwyllgorau craffu, e.e. y bwrdd iechyd lleol, ond nid 
yw'r gyfraith bresennol yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i bwyllgorau craffu'r awdurdod lleol i 
gymryd rhan yn y gweithgaredd hwn ac nid oes unrhyw ffordd o orfodi cyrff 
cyhoeddus eraill i fynychu cyfarfodydd craffu. 

 

Eitem Agenda 5

Tudalen 9



  

4.4 O dan ddarpariaethau'r Mesur gellir gofyn i gyrff cyhoeddus sy'n cael eu dynodi 
mewn Gorchymyn a wnaed gan Weinidogion Cymru i fod yn bresennol gerbron 
pwyllgor craffu sy’n ymwneud â materion sy'n effeithio ar ardal yr awdurdod neu 
drigolion yr ardal, ac yn darparu gwybodaeth o’r fath i'r pwyllgor sy'n ofynnol yn 
rhesymol. 

 
4.5 Nid yw'r darpariaethau hyn yn berthnasol i faterion lle gall pwyllgor trosedd ac 

anhrefn lunio adroddiad neu wneud argymhellion. 
 
4.6 Mae'r Mesur yn nodi y caiff pwyllgor craffu gyflwyno adroddiad ac argymhellion i 

berson dynodedig a gofyn iddynt ei gymryd i ystyriaeth. 
 
4.7 Mae'r Mesur yn cynnwys meini prawf ar gyfer y cyrff hynny a all fod yn ddynodedig.  

Maent yn gyrff; 
 

• sy’n darparu gwasanaethau, nwyddau neu gyfleusterau o unrhyw ddisgrifiad i’r 
cyhoedd (neu ran o’r cyhoedd) (pa un ai am dâl ai peidio); 

• sy’n darparu'r gwasanaethau, nwyddau neu gyfleusterau wrth arfer 
swyddogaethau o natur gyhoeddus; ac 

• sy’n cael eu hariannu'n gyfan gwbl neu'n rhannol gan arian cyhoeddus. 

• nad ydynt yn awdurdod lleol (sy'n golygu cyngor sir neu gyngor bwrdeistref sirol). 
 
4.8 Mae'r ddogfen ymgynghori bresennol yn gofyn am farn awdurdodau lleol ar y cyrff y 

dylid eu dynodi at ddibenion y Mesur fel personau dynodedig.  Mae Llywodraeth 
Cymru yn mynegi'r farn y dylid dynodi cyrff yn raddol ac yn awgrymu y dylai'r 
gorchymyn dynodi cyntaf gynnwys cyrff sy'n ofynnol iddynt o dan Adran 38 Mesur 
Llywodraeth Leol Cymru 2009 i gymryd rhan mewn cynllunio cymunedol trwy 
gynlluniau integredig sengl. 

 
4.9 Yr effaith a fwriedir yw y bydd yn canolbwyntio ar graffu ar y cyfraniad a wneir gan 

bartneriaid y Bwrdd Gwasanaeth Lleol i gyflawni amcanion a rennir yn y cynllun 
integredig sengl. 

 
4.10 Mae'r cyrff a awgrymir ar gyfer dynodi ar hyn o bryd fel a ganlyn: 
 

• Byrddau Iechyd Lleol 

• Ymddiriedolaethau GIG 

• Awdurdodau Tân ac Achub 

• Awdurdodau Parciau Cenedlaethol 
 
4.11 Mae Llywodraeth Cymru hefyd yn gofyn am farn ar pa un i gynnwys cynghorau tref a 

chymuned o ystyried eu rôl mewn cynllunio cymunedol. 
 
4.12 Mae’r cyrff eraill, y mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn ceisio barn ar eu dynodi, yn 

landlordiaid cymdeithasol cofrestredig a chyrff y trydydd sector sy'n cwrdd â'r meini 
prawf a nodir uchod. 

 

Tudalen 10



  

4.13 Mae'r papur ymgynghori hefyd yn gofyn am farn ar pa un a oes yna gyrff eraill y dylid 
eu dynodi yn y gorchymyn cyntaf hwn neu mewn gorchmynion yn y dyfodol. 

 
4.14 Mae'r papur ymgynghori ynghlwm fel Atodiad 1 i'r adroddiad hwn a'r ffurflen ymateb 

ynghlwm fel Atodiad 2. 
 
5. Sut mae'r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau Corfforaethol? 
 
5.1 Bydd y gallu i ofyn i bersonau dynodedig fod yn bresennol gerbron pwyllgorau craffu 

a darparu gwybodaeth yn helpu i graffu ar yr agweddau hynny o'r blaenoriaethau 
corfforaethol sy'n dibynnu ar weithio mewn partneriaeth gyda chyrff ac asiantaethau 
cyhoeddus eraill. 

 
6. Beth fydd yn ei gostio a sut bydd yn effeithio ar wasanaethau eraill? 
 
6.1 Nid oes unrhyw gostau uniongyrchol yn gysylltiedig â'r ymgynghoriad hwn.  Efallai y 

bydd angen mwy o adnoddau i gefnogi craffu ar gyrff dynodedig os yw'r rhain yn 
mynd i fod yn ychwanegol at y llwyth gwaith craffu presennol. 

 
7. Pa ymgynghoriadau a gynhaliwyd, ac a gynhaliwyd Sgrinio ar gyfer Asesu’r 

Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb?  
 
7.1 Mae hon yn ddogfen ymgynghori.  Ymgynghorwyd â Chadeiryddion ac Is-

gadeiryddion y Pwyllgor Archwilio a'r Cabinet.  Nid oes angen Asesiad o’r Effaith ar 
Gydraddoldeb. 

 
8. Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 
 
8.1 Mae'r adroddiad yn syml yn ymateb i ymgynghoriad ac, fel y cyfryw, nid oes 

goblygiadau ariannol mawr.  Penderfynir ynglŷn â’r rhain unwaith y bydd y 
diwygiadau i'r cynllun yn cael eu cadarnhau. 

 
9. Pa risgiau sy’n bodoli ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei wneud i'w lleihau? 
 
9.1 Y risg o beidio ymateb i'r ymgynghoriad yw nad yw barn y Cyngor yn cael ei chymryd 

i ystyriaeth. 
 
10. Pŵer i wneud y Penderfyniad 
 
10.1 Adran 111 Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972. 
 

Tudalen 11



Tudalen 12

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



Designated Persons Order  
(Number 1)
Under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011

Welsh Government

Consultation Document 

Date of issue: 29 August 2013
Action required: Responses by 21 November 2013

Number: WG17306
Appendix 1

Tudalen 13



Overview 

This consultation paper is seeking views on 
the proposed list of public service providers 
to be included in the Designated Persons 
Order (No 1) under section 61 of the 
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011. 
It also seeks views on whether additional 
organisations which deliver public services 
should be designated, either in the initial phase 
of implementation, or under a future Order. 

How to respond 

Please complete the separate questionnaire 
at Annex A and submit your comments 
on any aspect of the Regulations by 
21 November 2013 in any of the 
following ways:

E-mail: LGDTMailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Post: to the address in the contact 
details below. 

Further information and related 
documents 

Large print, Braille and alternative 
language versions of this document 
are available on request.

Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011

Contact details

For further information:

Scrutiny, Democracy and Participation Team
Welsh Government
Cathays Park
Cardiff
CF10 3NQ

e-mail: LGDTMailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Tel: 029 2082 5490

Data protection 

How the views and information you give 
us will be used.

Any response you send us will be seen in 
full by Welsh Government staff dealing 
with the issues set out in this consultation 
paper. It may also be made available to other 
Welsh Government staff to help them when 
planning future consultations.

The Welsh Government intends to publish a 
summary of the responses to this document. 
It may also publish responses in full. 
Normally, the name and address (or part of 
the address) of the person or organisation 
who sent the response is published with the 
response to validate the consultation approach 
taken. If you do not want your name or 
address published, please make this clear in 
writing when you send your response. We will 
then blank out the details.

Names or addresses that are blanked 
out might still be published at a later 
date, although this is unlikely to happen 
very often. The Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 allow the public to ask to 
see information held by a range of public 
bodies, including the Welsh Government, 
including information which has not been 
published. The law also allows us to withhold 
information in some circumstances, and if 
anyone asks to see information we have 
initially withheld, we will have to decide 
whether to release it or not. If someone has 
asked for their name and address not to be 
published, that is an important fact we would 
take into account. However, in some cases 
there might be important reasons why we 
would have to reveal someone’s name and 
address, even though they have asked for 
them not to be published. In such cases the 
Welsh Government would contact the affected 
person to seek their views, before deciding 
whether or not to reveal the information.

© Crown Copyright 2013 Tudalen 14



1

1. Background to this consultation 

1.1 Chapter Two of Programme for Government sets out the 
Welsh Government’s approach to public service reform. Central to these 
reforms is strong democratic accountability as a vital means of ensuring the 
views and needs of people are put at the heart of improving service quality. 
Good scrutiny is essential to improving the efficiency, effectiveness and 
quality of service delivery, including delivery through ever-increasing 
collaboration between those organisations which deliver public services. 

1.2 Scrutiny of the way public services work together as a whole will 
provide effective challenge to, and governance of, collaborative projects. The
development of local scrutiny capability and capacity to deliver wider public 
service scrutiny is currently supported by the Welsh Government in a number 
of ways, including through the third phase of the Scrutiny Development Fund; 
through our work with the Centre for Public Scrutiny1 (CfPS); and through a 
programme of research into the current delivery of collaborative scrutiny.

1.3 The Welsh Government believes that cross public service collaborative 
projects should be scrutinised and this will be essential to ensure and 
promote shared responsibility and delivery, and maintain a clear line of 
accountability.

2. The scrutiny of public services  

2.1 All local authorities and their partners are expected to have a Single 
Integrated Plan in place for their area from April 2013, as set out in “Shared 
Purpose Shared Delivery.” In addition, we are currently consulting on placing 
integrated planning on a single statutory footing as part of the consultation on 
the Sustainable Development Bill (now re-named The Future Generations 
Bill.) This recognises no single public service organisation working in isolation 
can deliver improved outcomes for citizens and communities. However, while 
planning and delivery are part of the overall process of working 
collaboratively, organisations also need to ensure that strong accountability is 
in place, including arrangements for collective scrutiny.  

3. What does the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 
require?

3.1 The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 provides the Welsh 
Ministers with the legal power to ‘designate’ public service providers for the 
purposes of local authority scrutiny under section 21 of the Local Government 
Act 2000 (“the 2000 Act”). In other words it broadens the application of local 
government scrutiny to the wider public service (those organisations which 
are ‘designated’), placing a new duty on local authority scrutiny committees to 
scrutinise public service providers in their area.  

1
 The Centre for Public Scrutiny is the national body providing guidance, advice and support 

for council scrutiny committees. It was created to help those working across the public sector 
look at the effectiveness of public services. 

Tudalen 15



2

3.2 Section 59 of the Measure (inserting new section 21(2ZA) into the 
2000 Act) provides that local authorities’ executive arrangements must ensure 
overview and scrutiny committees (or joint overview and scrutiny committees) 
make reports or recommendations on matters which relate to designated 
persons, and which affect the authority’s area, or the inhabitants of that area. 

3.3 Section 59 also amends section 21(13) to provide that an overview and 
scrutiny committee, in connection with making a such report or 
recommendations, may require a designated person to provide the committee 
with information (except in relation to an excluded matter) and may require an 
officer, employee or other representative of a designated person to attend 
meetings of the committee (except in relation to an excluded matter, i.e. a 
crime and disorder matter within the remit of a local authority’s crime and 
disorder committee under section 19 or 20 of the Police and Justice 
Act 2006). 

3.4 Section 60 (inserting new section 21F into the 2000 Act) provides that 
an overview and scrutiny committee may send a copy of the report or 
recommendations to a designated person, and request the designated person 
to have regard to the report or recommendations.

3.5 Section 61 (inserting new section 21G into the 2000 Act) provides that 
the Welsh Ministers may by order designate one or more persons or 
categories of persons for scrutiny by the local authority under section 21 of 
the 2000 Act.

3.6 The scrutiny of designated persons by overview and scrutiny 
committees may be enhanced by thoughtful consideration of the role co-
option can play. Guidance on co-option has been published by the Welsh 
Ministers under Section 76 of the 2011 Measure. It makes it clear that utilising 
the expertise of specialists, community representatives and service users to 
support scrutiny activity may be desirable, and provides an additional and 
appropriate pool of resource to assist local authorities in responding to the 
requirements of their strengthened scrutiny powers. 

Statutory Guidance from the Local Government Measure – Chapter 8 – Co-option

4. What do we mean by a Designated Person? 

4.1 The Welsh Ministers will, subject to consultation, make a “Designated 
Persons Order”. The Order will designate the individuals and organisations 
which will, as a consequence, be subject to scrutiny by local authority scrutiny 
committees. 

4.2 This is not intended to duplicate existing systems of accountability. The 
aim is to complement these by focusing on areas where public services work 
together.

4.3 The statutory basis for the designation of persons is set out in section 
61 of the Measure and the conditions to be met for the designation of a 
person or a category of persons are that the person: 

Tudalen 16



3

 provides the public (or a section of the public) with services, goods 
or facilities of any description (whether on payment or not); 

 provides those services, goods or facilities in the exercise of 
functions of a public nature; and 

 is wholly or partly funded by public money.

 is not a local authority (meaning a county or county borough 
council).

5. Who will be Designated Persons?  

5.1 The criteria in the Measure for establishing “designated persons” allow 
for many statutory and non-statutory organisations providing public services to 
be named (“designated”). 

5.2 The Welsh Government’s policy is for public services, in the future, to 
be subject to effective scrutiny. The Designated Persons provisions in the 
2011 Measure will impose a duty to scrutinise persons which have been 
designated. However, the Welsh Government recognises it will need to take a 
phased approach to the designation of bodies involved in the delivery of 
public services in Wales. We are therefore proposing, in the first instance, to 
designate those bodies listed in section 38 of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2009 placed under a statutory duty to collaborate with 
local authorities in their community planning duties (now discharged as part of 
the development and operation of Single Integrated Plans). The first 
Designation Order under the 2011 Measure is likely to have the practical 
effect of placing a major focus of local authority scrutiny of “designated 
persons” on the contribution their Local Service Board (LSB) partners make to 
the delivery of shared outcomes in the SIP. There are, though, suggested 
additions to this list, as set out below, which will have the potential to enable 
local authority scrutiny of a wider range of public service outcomes set out in 
the SIP. 

5.3 We recognise some local authorities may already be undertaking this 
kind of scrutiny of their partners, and the Order will simply aim to formalise 
those existing arrangements. We intend to make the Order as soon as we can 
after proper consideration of the responses to the consultation. This is likely to 
be in the early part of 2014, and will provide the statutory basis for the scrutiny 
of designated persons to be in place at that time.  

6. Which bodies are under consideration? 

6.1 The relevant bodies under consideration in this first designation phase 
are:

 Local Health Boards  

 NHS Trusts 

 Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 National Park Authorities 

Tudalen 17



4

6.2 Town and Community Councils are also named community planning 
partners. Given their existing democratic mandate, we are seeking views on 
whether and how they could contribute to local collaborative scrutiny and if it 
is necessary to designate them in this first phase. 

6.3 In addition, acknowledging their importance in delivering better 
outcomes for communities across Wales through single integrated planning, 
we are proposing two significant additions to this list: 

 Registered Social Landlords;  

 Third sector organisations delivering services to the public, and that 
meet the criteria set out above in 4.2 ‘What do we mean by a 
Designated Person?’ 

6.4 The Welsh Government will set out in statutory guidance its 
expectations on ensuring this approach to scrutiny does not have an adverse 
impact on either national or very small and more localised third sector service 
providers.

7. What is good scrutiny? 

7.1 Good scrutiny must sit at the heart of the decision-making process if it 
is to be effective, and offer rigorous and constructive challenge. The four key 
principles of good scrutiny, as defined by the CfPS2, are that it: 

 provides constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge;  

 amplifies the voice and concerns of the public;

 is led by independent people who take responsibility for their role; 
and

 drives improvement. 

7.2 Public service scrutiny aims to recognise different organisations’ 
contributions to delivering and promoting shared responsibility for shared 
outcomes. This can be achieved by broadening the application of local 
government scrutiny to the wider public service, and by clearly designating 
those bodies that fall within the envelope of ‘local public service provider’.  

8. How can good scrutiny be ensured? 

Maintaining clear accountability 

8.1 Where collaborative scrutiny currently takes place it is on a voluntary 
basis; where there is no scrutiny of public service providers it represents a 
gap in organisations’ accountability framework. This gap will need to be filled 
if we are to ensure improved outcomes for citizens and communities. In her 
covering letter to this consultation paper the Local Government Minister sets 

2
 Centre for Public Scrutiny: 2006. 

Tudalen 18



5

out clearly the overall policy framework in which the Designated Persons 
provisions will operate. 

8.2 To support this, the Welsh Government will issue statutory guidance to 
provide clarity on the operation of Designated Persons scrutiny when it makes 
the Designated Persons Order early in 2014. 

Forward work programmes – ensuring impact is maximised  

8.3 The Welsh Government will also set out in statutory guidance how it 
expects local authorities to work jointly with partners and neighbouring local 
authorities when constructing forward work programmes for scrutiny, in order 
to maximise the impact of scrutiny and avoid placing an undue burden on 
organisations operating across a number of local authority areas, such as 
Local Health Boards, National Park Authorities, Fire and Rescue Authorities, 
and designated Third Sector service providers. 

Capacity and capability 

8.4 The capacity of local authorities and their partners will be critical to 
ensuring this extension in local authorities’ scrutiny powers contributes to 
delivering better outcomes for citizens and communities. Scrutiny Committees 
may benefit from co-opting individuals with professional expertise and/or 
useful experience onto a committee. As outlined in paragraph 3.6 above 
co-optees are seen as experts that strengthen the committee whilst the 
Local Authority retains overall control of the scrutiny function. A 
Local Authority may require the added knowledge brought to the table by 
co-optees on a temporary ‘issue–specific’ basis, or on a more permanent 
basis. Co-optees would be expected to enrich the line of questioning and as 
such their capability and representation as an expert advisor is important.

How to make your views on designated persons heard 

Welsh Government welcomes your views and observations on the proposed 
designated persons listed above; and on individuals and organisations that 
you consider it appropriate to designate in future phases. Please complete 
Annex A. 

Tudalen 19



Tudalen 20

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



Annex A
Consultation Document

Welsh Government 

1

Consultation on Designated Persons Order (Number 1)

Consultation Response Form

Please note that the consultation ends on 21/11/2013

Name:

Your organisation:

Your address:

Email/telephone no.:

Please feel free to make any comment you wish on this document, the proposed 
designated bodies, issues highlighted in the Consultation Document. However, we
would particularly welcome comments on the attached questions:

Do you agree that the following bodies 
should be designated in the first Order? 
(please tick)

Agree Disagree

Local Health Boards 

NHS Trusts

Fire and Rescue Authorities

National Park Authorities

Registered Social Landlords 

Third sector organisations that are delivering 
services to the public.

How could Town and Community 
Councils best participate in local 
collaborative scrutiny?  Is it necessary to 
designate them?

Appendix 2

Tudalen 21



Annex A
Consultation Document

Welsh Government 

2

If you disagree with a body being designated please tell us 
about it below.

Designated body Your concerns

Do you think there are other organisations that should be 
recommended for designation in the first Order?
Please say why.

Organisation Reason for recommended 
designation

Do you think there are other organisations that should be 
recommended for designation in any future Order? Please 
say why.

Organisation Reason for recommended 
designation

Tudalen 22



Annex A
Consultation Document

Welsh Government 

3

You may wish to offer a view on the following issues 
outlined in the Consultation Document .

Issue Your concerns

Maintaining clear  accountability

Forward work programmes – ensuring 
impact is maximised 

Capacity, capability and co-option

We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have 
any related issues or concerns which we have not specifically 
addressed, please use this space to report them:

Responses to consultations may be made public – on the internet or 
in a report.  If you would prefer your response to be kept confidential, 
please tick here:

Tudalen 23



Tudalen 24

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



  

 
Adroddiad i'r:    Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd  
 
Dyddiad y Cyfarfod:   14 Tachwedd 2013 
 
Swyddog Arweiniol:  Gary Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau 

Cyfreithiol a Democrataidd 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: Steve Price, Rheolwr Gwasanaethau 

Democrataidd 
 
Teitl:   Adroddiadau Blynyddol gan Aelodau 
 

 
1. Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn?  
 
Er mwyn cryfhau democratiaeth lleol, mae Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 yn 
cynnwys darpariaethau yn gofyn i awdurdodau lleol wneud trefniadau i alluogi eu holl 
aelodau gyflwyno adroddiadau blynyddol ynglŷn â'u gweithgareddau yn y cyngor.  
 
2. Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn?  
 
Mae cynghorwyr Sir Ddinbych yn cwblhau eu hadroddiadau blynyddol ar hyn o bryd 
ac felly mae’n amserol bod y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd yn trafod ac yn 
adolygu’r cynnydd.  Mae Canllaw Statudol Llywodraeth Cymru wedi’i atodi fel Atodiad 
1.  
 
3. Beth yw'r argymhellion? 
 
Bod y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd yn ystyried ac yn cyflwyno sylwadau 
ynglŷn â threfniadau a chynnydd mewn perthynas â'r adroddiadau blynyddol gan yr 
aelodau.  
 
4. Manylion am yr adroddiad 
 
4.1 Mae’r Mesur yn gofyn i bob awdurdod lleol i wneud trefniadau er mwyn i bob 
aelod allu llunio adroddiad blynyddol ynglŷn â’u gweithgareddau yn eu rôl fel 
cynghorydd ac i gyhoeddi’r holl adroddiadau hynny; gyda threfniadau cyhoeddi 
cyfartal ar gyfer yr holl Aelodau.  Bydd yr adroddiadau blynyddol  yn cael eu cyhoeddi 
ar wefan y Cyngor.  
 
4.2 Mae’r Canllaw Statudol yn galluogi’r awdurdodau lleol i osod cyfyngiadau ar 
gynnwys yr adroddiadau a dylent fod yn ffeithiol a chanolbwyntio ar gyfarfodydd, 
digwyddiadau, cynadleddau, hyfforddiant a datblygu.  Ym mis Rhagfyr 2012 
gofynnodd y Pwyllgor am dempled wedi'i baratoi gyda’r meysydd priodol (e.e. 
Presenoldeb mewn cyfarfodydd).  Yn unol â hyn mae templed wedi’i gylchredeg i’r 
holl aelodau i alluogi iddynt gynhyrchu adroddiadau blynyddol ac mae templed gwag 
wedi’i atodi yn Atodiad 2. Bydd ffigyrau nifer yr adroddiadau blynyddol sydd wedi'u 
dychwelyd hyd yn hyn yn cael eu hadrodd ar lafar i’r Pwyllgor yn y cyfarfod.  
 

Eitem Agenda 6

Tudalen 25



  

4.3 Gan fod rhai cyfyngiadau ynglŷn â’r hyn y gellir ei gynnwys mewn adroddiad 
blynyddol, bydd angen cam adolygu neu olygu cyn cyhoeddi, er mwyn sicrhau fod y 
cynnwys yn cydymffurfio â’r Canllaw Statudol ac unrhyw gyfyngiadau a osodwyd gan 
y Cyngor.  Gwahoddir safbwynt y Pwyllgor ynglŷn â'r broses hon, er enghraifft a oes 
gan arweinwyr grŵp rôl ar gyfer aelodau eu grwpiau neu beidio.  
 
4.4  
 
5. Sut mae'r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau Corfforaethol? 
 
Mae’r materion sydd wedi’u cynnwys yn yr adroddiad hwn yn ofynion statudol ond 
byddai eu bwriad yn addas ar gyfer maes blaenoriaeth y Cyngor Moderneiddio’r 
Cyngor i Ddarparu Effeithlonrwydd a Gwella Gwasanaethau ar gyfer ein Cwsmeriaid.  
 
6. Faint fydd yn hyn yn costio a sut bydd yn effeithio ar wasanaethau 
eraill? 
 
Bydd cefnogi cynhyrchu a chyhoeddi adroddiadau blynyddol yr aelodau yn creu 
gwaith ychwanegol ar gyfer y swyddogion cefnogi ond gellir cynnwys yr effaith yn yr 
adnoddau sy’n bodoli eisoes.  
 
7. Pa ymgynghoriadau a gynhaliwyd gydag Archwilio ac eraill, ac a 
gynhaliwyd Asesiad o Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb?  
 
Cynhaliwyd ymgynghoriad ynglŷn â gofynion adrodd blynyddol gyda’r Pwyllgor 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ym mis Rhagfyr 2012 mewn ymateb i gyhoeddi 
canllaw statudol.  Ni nodwyd unrhyw oblygiadau cydraddoldeb o ganlyniad i'r 
adroddiad hwn.  
 
8. Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 
 
Nid oedd angen datganiad ganddo ar gyfer yr adroddiad hwn. 
 
9. Pa risgiau sy’n bodoli ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei wneud i'w 
lleihau? 
 
Mae gweithgareddau newydd, ychwanegol megis trefniadau i gefnogi adroddiadau 
blynyddol yn lleihau'r cynhwysedd sydd ar gael i gefnogi democratiaeth leol.   
 
10. Pŵer i wneud y Penderfyniad 
 
Adran 5 Deddf Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 

Tudalen 26



�

�

 (Cynhyrchwyd yn unol â gofynion Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011) 

�

Annwyl Breswylydd 

Pwrpas yr adroddiad hwn yw rhoi gwybod i chi am rai o'r cyfarfodydd / materion yr wyf wedi ymdrin â nhw 

ar eich rhan ac fel aelod o Gyngor Sir Ddinbych yn ystod blwyddyn (Cyngor) 2012/13 a oedd yn rhedeg o 

fis Mai 2012 i Mai 2013. 

  

Gweithgareddau Aelod Lleol 

Gall y rhain gynnwys manylion o gymorthfeydd a gynhaliwyd, y sylwadau a wnaed ar ran yr etholwyr a 

chanlyniadau'r rhain. Dim ond gwybodaeth am weithgareddau wrth weithredu yn rôl y cynghorydd ddylid 

eu cynnwys, ni ddylid cynnwys cyflawniadau gwleidyddol. 

 

Prosiectau Mawr 

Gall aelodau gynnwys eu cyfranogiad mewn mentrau neu brosiectau lleol, sirol neu ranbarthol. Dim ond 

gwybodaeth am weithgareddau pan fo’r aelod yn gweithredu yn rôl y cynghorydd ddylid eu cynnwys, ni 

ddylid cynnwys cyflawniadau gwleidyddol. 

 

Swyddi Cyngor / Aelodaeth Pwyllgor a gafwyd (Mai 2012 - Mai 2013) 

Aelod o'r pwyllgorau cyhoeddus canlynol: 

• ��������	  

• 
������������������������  

• 
��������������	������������	�� 

• Cyngor Sir  

• Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd  

• 
���������������  

• ������������������� 

• Pwyllgor Archwilio Partneriaethau  

ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL 

2012/2013 

CYNGHORYDD  

WARD 

GR�P 

Tudalen 27



• Pwyllgor Archwilio Perfformiad  

• 
������������� 

• Pwyllgor Safonau  

 

Aelod o'r pwyllgorau cyhoeddus canlynol: 
 

  

• Briffio’r Cabinet 

• Pwyllgor Iechyd, Diogelwch a Lles Corfforaethol  

• Ymddiriedolwyr Corfforaethol  Pafiliwn Corwen 

• Ymddiriedolwyr Corfforaethol Lôn Ganol (Dinbych) 

• Briffio’r Cyngor 

• Cydbwyllgor Ymgynghorol Lleol 

• Bwrdd Gwasanaeth Lleol  

• Panel Heddlu a Throsedd Gogledd Cymru  

• Cydbwyllgor Gwastraff Gweddilliol Gogledd Cymru  

• Panel Penodiadau Arbennig  

• Cyngor Ymgynghorol Sefydlog ar Addysg Grefyddol  

• Ymddiriedolwyr Cronfa Ymddiriedolaeth Addysg Bellach Sir Ddinbych  
 

 
 

Rwyf hefyd yn aelod o, ac yn cyfrannu at waith y canlynol: 

Cyrff Llywodraethu Ysgolion a Phartneriaethau: 

Rhowch fanylion unrhyw swyddi llywodraethwyr a wnaethoch. 

 

Cyrff Allanol: 

Rhowch fanylion am gynrychioli'r Awdurdod ar gyrff allanol 

 

Ystadegau Presenoldeb ar 

gyfer Cyfarfodydd y Cyngor 

Nifer Canran 

Cyfanswm presenoldeb 

disgwyliedig:  

  

Yn bresennol yn ôl y disgwyl:      

Ymddiheuriadau a gafwyd:    

Tudalen 28



Absennol (gan gynnwys 

ymddiheuriadau):  

  

Yn Bresennol:  

 (Yn bresennol yng nghyfarfodydd y 

pwyllgorau nad ydynt yn aelod 

ohonynt) 

  

 

�

Digwyddiadau Dysgu a Datblygu a fynychwyd yn ystod 2012/13: 

���������������������������������	������� ��������������������!�"���������������������������������

������������������������������������������	���������������������������	��������������������������������!�

#! 
�����"������������"��	��������$	�	����������
���"�����	����

%! &����������	�����$���"��������

'! ������������������(�������������)������$�����������

*! $����������������

+! ���	������$������,���

-! ��������������

.! ����	���������������	��

/! �������������

0! ��������	������������	���1�$�����������������������

#2! )����	�����������	����������������������	����������3�������������

##! &��������������������������)����	�����������	���

#%! 4�����������

#'! 4���	�������45�����&������

#*! 4�������	���������������

#+! )�����,���������������4���	�����������������

#-! ���������"�������6�

#.! ���������"��������7�����������)����

#/! ����������������������"��������

#0! ������
�����������4��������$	����

%2! $	��	����	��)���������1��	���������������������������

Tudalen 29



%#! "��������4�������	���4���

%%! �����������4����

%'! "���������������

%*! ���������������������"�������(�

%+! ����������

%-! ��������������	������������	����

%.! �������������	������

%/! 4���	����8����������������

%0! &����������������"�����������"�����������

'2! �������������4�������	����9���������4����������	�����

'#! �������������4�������	����
��	�

'%! 4���	�����������������4�������	����������	�������4���������

''! "�������������������4�������������

'*! :���4������"��� ����4�������	���������������4����������

'+! ����������6�

'-! ����������;������	����8�������

'.! 4�������	����
������1���������1�������	����	�����

'/! 
��	������	�������������������

'0! ,�������	��)�����
�����������

*2! ��������

*#! ����������,��������4���	�

*%! ����������$������4���	����

*'! 8����������	���������

**! )����� ������	�

*+! "�����3����������

*-! ������������)������$�����������

*.! "������������������
��	����9�������

*/! 8����������	�����������������������

*0! �����������������

Tudalen 30



+2! $������8������������

+#! �����������	�����	��4��������

�

����������	
������������������������������

���������	
���	���������	���
����
���������������
������
	�
	���������

 

Tudalen 31



Tudalen 32

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



Statutory Guidance from
the Local Government  
Measure 2011

Section 5 
Annual Reports

May 2013

Tudalen 33



Digital ISBN 978 0 7504 9412 0 

© Crown copyright 2013  

WG18614

Tudalen 34



Annual Reports by Members of a Local Authority 

Statutory Guidance made under Section 5 of the Local Government  
(Wales) Measure 2011 

Introduction 

1.1 Part 1 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 (“the Measure”) 
contains provisions intended to strengthen local democracy. Chapter 1 of that 
Part concerns the support provided to members of a local authority and section 5 
within that chapter provides for the production of annual reports for these 
members. 

1.2 This statutory guidance is issued under section 5(4) of the Measure. The 
guidance relates to local authorities making arrangements for the production of 
annual reports.  

What the Measure requires. 

1.3 Section 5 requires county and county borough councils (local authorities) 
to ensure that all their elected members are able to make an annual report on 
their council activities during the previous year. This includes enabling any 
member of the council’s executive to be able to report on their executive activities 
also. Any reports produced by members of a county or county borough council 
must be published by that council. 

A local authority is free to set conditions/limits on what is included in a report.  

A local authority must publicise what arrangements it has for publishing annual 
reports and in drawing up these arrangements must have regard to this guidance 
in so doing.  

Guidance 

Duties of a local authority

1.4 A local authority must make the arrangements enabling its members to 
produce annual reports. This means it must tell its members how and by when to 
do this. The Measure, at section 8 et seq, provides for a Head of Democratic 
Services (HDS) to carry out democratic services functions as defined in section 9. 
This includes the provision of support and advice to members to assist them in 
the carrying out of their functions and organisation of the annual report process 
would fall within this. The Measure prevents the HDS from providing support and 
advice to a member of an executive in relation to the carrying out of that 
member’s executive functions, but production of an annual report, even if it made 
reference to the member’s executive activities, is not an executive function in 
itself. 

 1Tudalen 35



Publication of reports

1.5 How a local authority decides to publish Members annual reports is a 
matter for that authority to decide upon. The minimum requirement would be for 
the authority to include a link to a member’s annual report on that part of the 
authority’s website which carries details of individual members. There is no 
requirement for any publicity beyond this, and authorities should be careful that, if 
they decide to provide any further publicity for the reports, the same provision is 
provided for all members. Therefore, should a member request that his/her report 
is given any greater publicity, that request should be declined unless carried out 
in respect of all members. 

Local authorities should ensure also that their website includes information about 
the introduction of annual reports and how members of the public can access 
them. 

Content of reports

1.6 The central purpose of the reports is for members of the public to find 
information about their local councillor’s activity. 

In considering its approach a local authority should have regard to the resource 
implications of supporting all local Members to prepare for publication of their 
annual report.  In order to contain the scale of the task, an authority may wish to 
create a standard annual report template that acknowledges the need to strike a 
balance between resources and output, whilst taking into account the 
requirements of the Data Protection Act.    

Local Authorities should ensure that Annual reports avoid promoting political 
achievements, are written in the past tense, and limit the report template to two 
sides of A4.  

The template for Members Annual Reports might be expected to include; Role 
and responsibilities (membership of internal and external committees, panels, 
groups and organisations); Constituency Activity; Initiatives and Special Activities, 
Learning & Development; and Other Activities.  

1.7 Local authorities may place their own restrictions on content in reports. 
Annual reports should include only factual information. In the main that would 
suggest information on meetings, events and conferences etc. attended, training 
and development received. While it might be acceptable to record information 
such as “made representations on behalf of the campaign to save the local 
hospital in the following ways”, it would not be acceptable to say “succeeded in 
saving local hospital by my efforts on my constituents’ behalf”. 

1.8 Similarly, care should be taken to avoid including in reports information 
concerning activities when the member concerned is not operating in the role of 
councillor. So, whereas it would be acceptable to include information concerning, 

 2Tudalen 36



for instance, a speech made at a conference where the member was attending 
because of their council role, it would not be acceptable to refer to a speech 
made to, for instance, a Party conference, where the member was a delegate 
from their local party organisation. 

1.9 Care should also be taken not to include information which could be 
interpreted as critical of another member. For instance, it would not be acceptable 
for a member to compare his/her attendance or activities with that of another 
member or members. 

1.10 The following areas are proposed as standard items to be included: 

 Role and responsibilities – to include details of membership of 
committees and outside bodies, attendance records for these and full 
council. 

 Local activity – details of surgeries held, representations made on 
behalf of electors and the results of these 

 Major projects – involvement in local, county or regional initiatives or 
projects. 

 Learning and development – details of training and development events 
attended or undertaken, conferences and seminars attended. 

 3Tudalen 37



Tudalen 38

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



  

 
Adroddiad i'r:   Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd  
 
Dyddiad y Cyfarfod:  14 Tachwedd 2013 
 
Swyddog Arweiniol:  Gary Williams, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 

Democrataidd 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: Steve Price, Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Teitl:  Diweddariad ar Drefniadau Gwe-ddarlledu 
 

 
1. Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn?  
 

Mae'r adroddiad hwn yn rhoi’r datganiad sefyllfa diweddaraf ar y cynnydd tuag 
at we-ddarlledu rhai cyfarfodydd yn 2014. 

 
2. Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn?  
 
 Rhoddodd y Cyngor ei ganiatâd i drefniadau gael eu gwneud i gynnal gwe-

ddarlledu a rhyddhawyd gwahoddiad i dendro am y contract i gynnal a 
chefnogi gwe-ddarlledu. Felly mae'n amser priodol i’r Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd ystyried y cynnydd a wnaed â'r materion sydd o’n blaenau. 

 
3. Beth yw'r argymhellion? 
 

 Dylai’r Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ystyried a rhoi eu sylwadau ar 
y trefniadau a'r cynnydd o ran gwe-ddarlledu cyfarfodydd yn 2014. 

 
4. Manylion am yr adroddiad 
 
4.1 Ysgrifennodd y cyn Weinidog dros Gyfathrebu a Llywodraeth Leol at bob 

awdurdod yn gynharach eleni yn nodi bod Llywodraeth Cymru yn darparu 
gwerth £1,200,000 o grantiau i awdurdodau lleol er mwyn eu cynorthwyo, 
ymysg pethau eraill, i gyflwyno gwe-ddarlledu mewn cyfarfodydd cynghorau. 

 
4.2 Gallai pob awdurdod lleol dderbyn grant o £40,000 tuag at y gost o gyflwyno 

gwe-ddarlledu a ‘phresenoldeb o bell’ mewn cyfarfodydd.  Er bod gwe-
ddarlledu yn cael ei ystyried yn gyfleuster ymarferol a deniadol ar y cyfan, mae 
nifer o broblemau technegol a gweinyddol wedi’u canfod yn ymwneud â 
phresenoldeb o bell. Dylid nodi nad yw Llywodraeth Cymru wedi ymrwymo i 
ailadrodd y cyllid grant mewn blynyddoedd i ddod. 

 
4.3 Mae gwe-ddarlledu cyfarfodydd yn golygu darlledu sain a delweddau o 

gyfarfodydd y cyngor yn fyw ar y we.   Byddai hefyd modd darparu’r gwe-
ddarllediad ar wefan y Cyngor fel deunydd archif.   Mae hynny’n golygu y gall 
aelodau o’r cyhoedd, nad ydynt yn gallu dod i gyfarfodydd, weld y cyfarfodydd 
yn fyw neu eu gwylio rhywdro eto ar yr archif ar-lein.   Byddai gwylwyr sy’n 

Eitem Agenda 7

Tudalen 39



  

defnyddio cynnwys yr archif yn gallu manteisio ar ddolenni llinell amser a 
fyddai’n eu caniatáu i weld y cynnwys yn ôl yr eitem neu’r siaradwr.  

 
4.4 Rhoddodd y Tîm Gweithredol Corfforaethol (TGC) ystyriaeth i rinweddau gwe-

ddarlledu ym mis Mawrth 2013 lle cytunwyd y dylid gofyn i'r Cyngor llawn 
benderfynu a ddylid gwe-ddarlledu cyfarfodydd penodol. Rhoddwyd 
arddangosiad o we-ddarlledu i aelodau ar 15 Mai ac ym mis Gorffennaf 2013, 
rhoddodd y Cyngor ei ganiatâd, yn amodol ar gynnal profion llwyddiannus cyn 
y darllediadau cyhoeddus cyntaf. 

 
4.5 Ers hynny, mae Sir Ddinbych wedi datblygu a chyhoeddi ei manylebau gwe-

ddarlledu er mwyn caniatáu i gyflenwyr gwe-ddarlledu dendro am gontract. 
Mae'r manylebau’n seiliedig ar y penawdau a ganlyn: 

 

• Cynnal y cynnwys 

• Rheoli, diogelwch a pherfformiad y system 

• Cydweddiad gyda thechnoleg y camerâu presennol a systemau meddalwedd 

• Hyfforddiant a chefnogaeth 

• Arloesi / rhwydweithiau cymdeithasol 

• Ddwy iaith – Cymraeg a Saesneg 

• Cynllunio’r prosiect, a 

• Prisio 
 
4.6 Rhagwelir y byddwn wedi caffael pecyn gwe-ddarlledu cyhoeddus cyn diwedd 

2013, a bydd y system yn cael ei gweithredu, hyfforddiant yn cael ei roi a 
phrofion yn cael eu cynnal yn ystod rhan gyntaf 2014. 

 
4.7 Mae'r Cyngor yn bwriadu gwe-ddarlledu tua 60 awr y flwyddyn o gyfarfodydd a 

gynhelir yn Siambr y Cyngor yn Neuadd y Sir gan ddefnyddio camera sefydlog 
a thechnoleg cynrychiolwyr y Siambr. Oherwydd hyn, disgwylir mai 
cyfarfodydd y Cyngor llawn a’r Pwyllgor Cynllunio, sy'n cael eu cynnal yn y 
Siambr, fydd yn cael eu gwe-ddarlledu. 

 
5. Sut y mae’r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau Corfforaethol?   
 

Nid yw'r materion a drafodir yn yr adroddiad hwn yn ofynion statudol ond 
byddai'r rhesymeg y tu ôl iddynt yn briodol i faes blaenoriaeth y Cyngor: 
Moderneiddio’r Cyngor i Gyflawni Arbedion a Gwella Gwasanaethau ar gyfer 
ein Cwsmeriaid. 

 
6. Faint fydd hyn yn ei gostio a sut y bydd yn effeithio ar wasanaethau 

eraill? 
 

 Yn ôl amcan brisiau blaenorol yn seiliedig ar un cyflenwr blaenllaw, 
amcangyfrifir mai cost 1 blwyddyn o gontract fyddai tua £21,000 gyda 
gostyngiad o 10% am dderbyn dwy flynedd o gontract (tua £32,000 am ddwy 
flynedd). Bydd y pris gwirioneddol yn cael ei gadarnhau ar ôl derbyn tendrau 
ac unrhyw gontract a gynigir gan y Cyngor. 

 

Tudalen 40



  

Bydd cyflwyno a gweithredu trefniadau gwe-ddarlledu yn golygu bod angen 
neilltuo amser gan swyddog ychwanegol i fynd i gyfarfodydd sy'n cael eu gwe-
ddarlledu. Nid ydym yn sicr eto beth fydd effaith wirioneddol hyn, ond disgwylir 
y bydd y trefniadau gwe-ddarlledu yn cael eu cyflenwi o fewn adnoddau 
presennol. Gallai fod rhai goblygiadau o ran adnoddau i’r gwasanaeth TGCh 
er y bydd disgwyl i'r cyflenwr allanol ddarparu cefnogaeth fel rhan o'r contract. 

 
7. Pa ymgynghoriadau a gynhaliwyd gydag Archwilio ac eraill ac a 

gynhaliwyd Asesiad o Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb?  
 

Rhoddwyd arddangosiad ar we-ddarlledu i aelodau ym mis Mai 2013 a 
chytunodd y Cyngor llawn i we-ddarlledu cyfarfodydd ym mis Gorffennaf 2013. 
Ymgynghorwyd hefyd â’r TGC ar y cynigion. 

 
Bydd gwe-ddarlledu’n galluogi mynediad ehangach drwy'r rhyngrwyd i 
gyfarfodydd y Cyngor a gallai gynnig dulliau newydd diddorol a phoblogaidd o 
ymgysylltu â’r cyhoedd, er enghraifft, drwy ddefnyddio cyfryngau cymdeithasol 
yn gysylltiedig â’r gwe-ddarllediadau.  Nid oes unrhyw oblygiadau eraill o ran 
cydraddoldeb  wedi’u nodi yn sgil yr adroddiad hwn. 

 
8. Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 
 

Nid oedd angen datganiad ganddo ar gyfer yr adroddiad hwn. 
 
9. Pa risgiau sy’n bodoli ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei wneud i’w 

lleihau? 
 

Mae’r Gwasanaeth wedi nodi gweithgareddau newydd, ychwanegol fel gwe-
ddarlledu cyfarfodydd gan ddefnyddio adnoddau presennol yn unig fel risg. 
Mae'r risg yn ymwneud â'r adnoddau sydd ar gael i gefnogi gwe-ddarlledu a 
gwasanaethau democrataidd a phwyllgorau hanfodol a statudol eraill i safon 
dderbyniol. 

 
10. Grym i wneud Penderfyniad 
 

Adran 111, Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 

Tudalen 41



Tudalen 42

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



1 

 

Adroddiad i'r:    Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
Dyddiad y Cyfarfod:   14 Tachwedd 2013 
 
Aelod / Swyddog Arweiniol:  Gary Williams, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 

Democrataidd 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: Gary Williams, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 

Democrataidd 
 
Teitl:  Rheoliadau Absenoldeb Teuluol ar gyfer Aelodau 

Awdurdodau Lleol (Cymru) 2013 
 
 
1. Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn? 
 
1.1 Mae'r adroddiad yn ymwneud â Rheoliadau Absenoldeb Teuluol ar gyfer Aelodau 

Awdurdodau Lleol (Cymru) 2013 sydd i fod i ddod i rym ar 5 Rhagfyr, 2013 a’r 
Canllawiau Statudol drafft a gynhyrchwyd i gyd-fynd â'r Rheoliadau hyn. 

 
2. Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn?  
 
2.1 Er mwyn tynnu sylw'r Aelodau at y Rheoliadau drafft a'r Canllawiau Statudol. 
 
3. Beth yw'r argymhellion? 
 
3.1 Dylai’r Aelodau nodi cynnwys Rheoliadau Absenoldeb Teuluol ar gyfer Aelodau 

Awdurdodau Lleol (Cymru) 2013 drafft a'r Canllawiau Statudol a gynhyrchwyd i gyd-
fynd â nhw. 

 
3.2 Dylai’r Aelodau argymell bod y Rheoliadau a'r Canllawiau yn cael eu hystyried wrth 

adolygu Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor. 
 
4. Manylion am yr adroddiad 
 
4.1 Mae Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 (y Mesur) yn darparu hawl i absenoldeb 

teuluol i Aelodau awdurdodau lleol.  Mae'r Mesur yn creu hawl i bum math o 
absenoldeb teuluol.  Y rhain yw absenoldeb mamolaeth, absenoldeb newydd-anedig, 
absenoldeb mabwysiadydd, absenoldeb mabwysiadu o’r newydd ac absenoldeb 
rhiant.  Mae hawl gan aelodau i dderbyn y mathau hyn o absenoldebau ar yr amod 
eu bod yn bodloni amodau penodol a nodir yn y Mesur fel rhai i’w cynnwys yn y 
Rheoliadau. 

 
4.2 Daw Rheoliadau Absenoldeb Teuluol ar gyfer Aelodau Awdurdodau Lleol (Cymru) 

2013, y mae copi ohono ynghlwm fel Atodiad 1, i rym ar 5 Rhagfyr 2013 ac maent yn 
rhagnodi'r amodau y mae'n rhaid i Aelodau eu bodloni er mwyn cael hawl i gyfnod o 
absenoldeb teuluol.  Maent hefyd yn gwneud darpariaeth ynglŷn â graddau’r 
gwahanol gyfnodau o absenoldeb, y gallu i’w canslo a dod â’r absenoldeb i ben. 

 
4.3 Rhennir y Rheoliadau hyn yn chwe rhan. 

Eitem Agenda 8

Tudalen 43



2 

 

 
4.4 Mae Rhan 1 y Rheoliadau’n ymwneud ag absenoldeb mamolaeth.  Mae'r rhan hon 

yn caniatáu hyd at 26 wythnos o absenoldeb mamolaeth i Aelodau ac yn nodi'r 
amodau y mae'n rhaid eu bodloni er mwyn i’r Aelod fod yn gymwys i dderbyn y 
cyfnod hwnnw o absenoldeb. 

 
4.5 Mae Rhan 2 yn ymwneud ag absenoldeb newydd-anedig ac yn rhoi’r hawl i Aelod 

dderbyn  2 wythnos yn olynol o absenoldeb newydd-anedig.  Mae Rhan 2 hefyd yn 
nodi'r amodau y mae'n rhaid eu bodloni er mwyn i Aelod gael yr hawl i dderbyn 
absenoldeb o'r fath. 

 
4.6 Mae Rhan 3 y Rheoliadau yn caniatáu i Aelod dderbyn absenoldeb mabwysiadydd.  

Graddau’r hawl i absenoldeb mabwysiadydd yw 2 wythnos yn olynol.  Mae Rhan 3 
hefyd yn nodi'r amodau y mae'n rhaid eu bodloni er mwyn i Aelod gael yr hawl i 
dderbyn absenoldeb mabwysiadydd. 

 
4.7 Mae Rhan 4 y Rheoliadau yn delio ag absenoldeb mabwysiadu o’r newydd.  Mae 

gan Aelod hawl i 2 wythnos yn olynol o absenoldeb mabwysiadu o’r newydd.  Mae 
Rhan 4 hefyd yn nodi'r amodau y mae'n rhaid eu bodloni er mwyn i Aelod fod yn 
gymwys i dderbyn absenoldeb mabwysiadu o’r newydd. 

 
4.8 Mae Rhan 3 y Rheoliadau yn caniatáu absenoldeb rhiant.  Mae absenoldeb rhiant ar 

gael i Aelod sy'n dod yn gyfrifol am blentyn a arferai fod yn gyfrifoldeb i rywun arall.  
Mae absenoldeb rhiant ar gael am gyfnod o hyd at 3 mis.  Mae Rhan 5 y Rheoliadau 
hyn yn nodi'r amodau i'w bodloni er mwyn i Aelod gael yr hawl i gyfnod o absenoldeb 
rhiant. 

 
4.9 Mae Rhan 6 y Rheoliadau hyn yn cynnwys darpariaeth ar gyfer cadw cofnodion, 

dyletswyddau i hysbysu, hawl yr awdurdod lleol i ganslo absenoldeb teuluol, cwynion 
a Rheolau Sefydlog yn ymwneud ag Aelodau wrth gael cyfnod o absenoldeb teuluol.   

 
4.10 Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cyhoeddi Canllawiau Statudol drafft mewn perthynas 

â'r Rheoliadau ac mae'r Canllawiau drafft ynghlwm fel Atodiad 2. Rydym yn disgwyl y 
Canllawiau terfynol ar hyn o bryd. 

 
4.11 Bydd angen i'r Cyngor ystyried gofynion y Rheoliadau a'r Canllawiau ac adolygu ei 

Gyfansoddiad yn unol â hynny er mwyn rhoi ystyriaeth i’r gofynion hyn. 
 
5. Sut mae'r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau Corfforaethol? 
 
5.1 Nid yw’r penderfyniad yn effeithio’n uniongyrchol ar y Blaenoriaethau Corfforaethol. 
 
6. Faint fydd hyn yn ei gostio a sut y bydd yn effeithio ar wasanaethau eraill? 
 
6.1 Nid oes costau uniongyrchol yn gysylltiedig â’r adroddiad hwn. 
 
7. Pa ymgynghoriadau a gynhaliwyd, ac a gynhaliwyd Asesiad o Effaith ar 

Gydraddoldeb?  
 
7.1 Nid oes angen Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb. 

Tudalen 44



3 

 

 
 
 
8. Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 
 
8.1 Nid oes unrhyw oblygiadau ariannol o ganlyniad i’r adroddiad hwn.  
 
9. Pa risgiau sy’n bodoli ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei wneud i’w lleihau? 
 
9.1 Os nad fydd y Cyngor yn cyflwyno mesurau priodol i gofnodi cyfnodau o absenoldeb 

teuluol a diwygio'r Cyfansoddiad i adlewyrchu'r gwahanol hawliau i absenoldeb 
teuluol mae perygl na fydd y Cyngor yn cydymffurfio’n llawn â Mesur Llywodraeth 
Leol Cymru 2011. 

 
10. Pŵer i wneud y Penderfyniad 
 
10.1 Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 
 

Tudalen 45



Tudalen 46

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



Draft Order laid before the National Assembly for 

Wales under section 172(2) of the Local Government 

(Wales) Measure 2011, for approval by resolution of 

the National Assembly for Wales. 

D R A F T  W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S  

2013 No. (W. ) 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, 

WALES 

The Family Absence for Members 

of Local Authorities (Wales) 

Regulations 2013 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

Part 2 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 

2011(1) (“the Measure”) makes available to members 

of local authorities entitlement to a period of family 

absence. 

The Measure creates an entitlement to five types of 

family absence: maternity absence; newborn absence; 

adopter’s absence; new adoption absence and parental 

absence. The entitlement created by the Measure is 

subject to members satisfying conditions prescribed by 

the Welsh Ministers in regulations. 

These Regulations prescribe the conditions that 

members of local authorities must satisfy to be entitled 

to a period of family absence. The Regulations also 

make provision, amongst other things, about the extent 

of the various periods of absence; the cancellation of 

periods of absence and bringing absence to an end. 

These Regulations are divided into six Parts. Parts 1 

to 5 deal with the different types of absence. Part 6 

makes general provision applicable in relation to all 

types of family absence. 

Part 1 makes provision relating to maternity absence. 

Regulation 3 prescribes the conditions that a member 

must satisfy to be entitled to a period of maternity 

                                                                               
(1) 2011 nawm 4. 
 

Appendix 1

Tudalen 47



 2 

absence. The conditions include notification 

requirements and, where requested by the head of 

democratic services, the production of evidence. Part 1 

also includes provision for the start of maternity 

absence, variation of the intended start, duration, 

bringing to an end and cancellation. 

Part 2 makes provision relating to newborn absence. 

Regulation 9 sets out the conditions as to relationship 

with a child or the child’s mother and responsibility for 

the upbringing for that child required for a member to 

be entitled to newborn absence. Part 2 also includes 

provision for duration of newborn absence, when 

absence may be taken, cancellation of absence and the 

start date of a period of newborn absence. 

Part 3 makes provision relating to adopter’s absence. 

Regulation 14 prescribes the conditions that a member 

must satisfy to be entitled to a period of adopter’s 

absence. Part 3 also makes provision for duration of 

adopter’s absence, when absence may be taken, the 

start date of a period of adopter’s absence and 

cancellation. 

Part 4 makes provision relating to new adoption 

absence. Regulation 20 prescribes the conditions that a 

member must satisfy to be entitled to a period of new 

adoption absence. It sets out the relationship 

requirements between a member and a child’s adopter 

and that the member must have responsibility for the 

upbringing of a child. Part 4 also makes provision for 

the duration of new adoption absence, when absence 

may be taken, cancellation and the start date of a 

period of new adoption absence. 

Part 5 makes provision relating to parental absence. 

Regulation 26 prescribes the conditions to be satisfied 

for a member to be entitled to a period of parental 

absence. The conditions relate to the responsibility for 

the care of a child. It also sets out the notification 

requirements and evidence to be produced to the head 

of democratic services where required. Regulations 27 

to 31 provide for the duration of absence, when 

absence may be taken, cancellation, bringing parental 

absence to an end and the start date of a period of 

parental absence. 

Part 6 makes provision relating to record keeping, 

duties to inform, cancellation of family absence by the 

local authority, complaints and standing orders relating 

to members whilst taking a period of family absence. 

Tudalen 48



 3 

Draft Order laid before the National Assembly for 

Wales under section 172(2) of the Local Government 

(Wales) Measure 2011, for approval by resolution of 

the National Assembly for Wales. 

D R A F T  W E L S H  S T A T U T O R Y  
I N S T R U M E N T S  

2013 No. (W. ) 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, 

WALES 

The Family Absence for Members 

of Local Authorities (Wales) 

Regulations 2013 

Made *** 

Coming into force 5 December 2013 

The Welsh Ministers, in exercise of the powers 

conferred by sections 9, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29 and 172 

of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011(1), 

make the following Regulations. 

In accordance with section 172 of that Measure, a draft 

of these Regulations was laid before and approved by a 

resolution of the National Assembly for Wales. 

Title and commencement 

1.—(1) The title of these Regulations is the Family 

Absence for Members of Local Authorities (Wales) 

Regulations 2013. 

(2) These Regulations come into force on 5 

December 2013. 

General Interpretation 

2.—(1) In these Regulations— 

“childbirth” (“geni’r plentyn”) means the birth 

of a living child or the birth of a child whether 

living or dead after 24 weeks of pregnancy; 

                                                                               
(1) 2011 nawm 4. 

Tudalen 49



 4 

“expected week of childbirth” (“yr wythnos y 

disgwylir geni’r plentyn”) means the week, 

beginning with midnight between Saturday 

and Sunday, in which it is expected that 

childbirth will occur;  

“the Measure” (“y Mesur”) means the Local 

Government (Wales) Measure 2011; and 

“partner” (“partner”) means one of a couple 

whether of the same or opposite sex who live 

together. 

(2) Any reference in these Regulations to a “chair of 

the local authority” (“cadeirydd yr awdurdod lleol”) is 

a reference to a person elected as chairman by that 

local authority under section 22 of the Local 

Government Act 1972(1). 

(3) Any reference in these Regulations to “a 

member” (“aelod”) is a reference to a member of a 

local authority in Wales.  

(4) Any reference in these Regulations to “a 

presiding member of a local authority” (“aelod 

llywyddol awdurdod lleol”) is a reference to a person 

elected as presiding member by that local authority 

under section 24A of the Local Government Act 

1972(2). 

PART 1 

Maternity absence 

Prescribed conditions 

3. For the purposes of section 24(1) of the Measure, 

the prescribed conditions are that— 

(a) no later than the end of 15 weeks before the 

expected week of childbirth, or, if that is not 

reasonably practicable, as soon as is 

reasonably practicable, the member has given 

written notice to the head of democratic 

services of— 

(i) that member’s pregnancy; 

(ii) the expected week of childbirth; 

(iii) the date on which the member intends the 

maternity absence to start; and 

(iv) the duration of the period of maternity 

absence the member intends to take, if 

less than 26 weeks;  

                                                                               
(1) 1972 c.70. 
 
(2) Inserted by section 51 of the Local Government 

(Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 (2013 anaw 4). 

Tudalen 50



 5 

(b) the member has, if requested to do so by the 

head of democratic services, provided the 

head of democratic services with a certificate 

from a registered medical practitioner or a 

registered midwife stating the expected week 

of childbirth;  

(c) where the member wishes to vary the start of 

the maternity absence which has been 

specified under paragraph (a)(iii), the member 

has given the head of democratic services 

written notice of the new start date at least one 

week before the date specified under 

paragraph (a)(iii), or at least one week before 

the new date, whichever is the earlier, or, if 

that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as 

is reasonably practicable; and 

(d) where the member wishes to vary the duration 

of the maternity absence, the member has 

given the head of democratic services written 

notice of the new duration at least one week 

before the expected end of the period of 

absence in accordance with the duration 

specified under paragraph (a)(iv), or at least 

one week before the new intended end of the 

period of absence, whichever is the earlier, or 

if that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as 

is reasonably practicable. 

Period of maternity absence 

4. The period of maternity absence is 26 weeks, 

unless the member gives written notice under 

regulation 3(a)(iv), (d) or 7 that the period of maternity 

absence will be shorter than 26 weeks.  

When maternity absence may be taken 

5. Maternity absence may only be taken so as to 

begin during the period—  

(a) beginning at the start of the eleventh week 

before the expected week of childbirth; and 

(b) ending on the day after the day on which 

childbirth occurs. 

Member to choose start date of maternity absence 

6.—(1) Subject to paragraphs (2) and (3) and 

regulation 5, a member may choose the date on which 

their maternity absence is to start.  

(2) Where, during the four week period before the 

start of the expected week of childbirth, a member is 

absent from a meeting of the authority for a reason 

wholly or partly attributable to pregnancy, the period 

of maternity absence starts on the day after the meeting 

from which the member is absent. 

Tudalen 51



 6 

(3) Where a member’s maternity absence has not 

started in accordance with the date notified by a 

member under regulation 3(a)(iii) when childbirth 

occurs, that member’s maternity absence starts on the 

day after the day on which childbirth occurs. 

(4) Regulations 3(a)(ii), (iii) and (b) do not apply in 

respect of a member whose absence starts by virtue of 

paragraph (3). 

Bringing a period of maternity absence to an end 

7. A member may bring a period of maternity 

absence to an end earlier than the end of the period set 

out in regulation 4, which was notified under 

regulation 3(a)(iv) or varied under regulation 3(d) by 

notifying the head of democratic services in writing of 

their intention to do so at least 7 days before their 

return. 

Cancelling maternity absence 

8. The circumstances in which a member may cancel 

a period of maternity absence are that— 

(a) the period of maternity absence has not yet 

started; and 

(b) the member has notified the head of 

democratic services in writing of their 

intention to cancel the absence. 

 PART 2 

Newborn absence 

Prescribed conditions  

9.—(1) For the purposes of section 25(1) of the 

Measure, the prescribed conditions are that the 

member— 

(a) is either— 

(i) the child’s father and has, or expects to 

have, responsibility for the upbringing of 

the child; or 

(ii) married to, the civil partner or the partner 

of the child’s mother, but is not the 

child’s father and has, or expects to have 

the main responsibility (apart from any 

responsibility of the mother) for the 

upbringing of the child; and 

(b) gives the head of democratic services written 

notice of the date the member intends the 

period of newborn absence to start. 

(2) A member is to be treated as having satisfied the 

condition in paragraph (1)(a)(ii) if that member would 

Tudalen 52



 7 

have satisfied the condition but for the fact that the 

child’s mother has died.  

(3) A member is to be treated as having satisfied 

either of the conditions in paragraph (1)(a) if they 

would have satisfied the condition but for the fact that 

the child was stillborn after 24 weeks of pregnancy or 

has died.  

Extent of entitlement to newborn absence 

10.—(1) A member’s entitlement to newborn 

absence is two consecutive weeks.  

(2) Where more than one child is born as a result of 

the same pregnancy, a member is entitled to newborn 

absence only in respect of the first child born. 

When newborn absence may be taken 

11. Newborn absence may only be taken during the 

period—  

(a) beginning with the date of childbirth; and  

(b) ending 56 days after that date. 

Cancelling newborn absence 

12. The circumstances in which a member may 

cancel a period of newborn absence are that— 

(a) the period of newborn absence has not yet 

started; and 

(b) the member has notified the head of 

democratic services in writing of their 

intention to cancel the absence. 

Member to choose start date of newborn absence 

13. Provided that the period of newborn absence will 

come to an end within the period prescribed by 

regulation 11, a member may choose the date on which 

their newborn absence is to start. 

PART 3 

Adopter’s absence 

Prescribed conditions 

14. For the purposes of section 26(1) of the Measure, 

the prescribed conditions are that the member— 

(a) is the child’s adopter; and 

(b) gives the head of democratic services written 

notice of the date the member intends the 

period of adopter’s absence to start. 

Tudalen 53



 8 

Extent of entitlement to adopter’s absence 

15. A member’s entitlement to adopter’s absence is 

two consecutive weeks. 

When adopter’s absence may be taken 

16. Adopter’s absence may only be taken during the 

period—  

(a) beginning with the date on which the child is 

placed with the member for adoption; and  

(b) ending 56 days after that date. 

Member to choose start date of adopter’s absence 

17. Provided that the period of adopter’s absence 

will come to an end within the period prescribed by 

regulation 16, a member may choose the date on which 

their adopter’s absence is to start. 

Cancelling adopter’s absence 

18. The circumstances in which a member may 

cancel a period of adopter’s absence are that— 

(a) the period of adopter’s absence has not yet 

started; and 

(b) the member has notified the head of 

democratic services in writing of their 

intention to cancel the absence. 

Interpretation of this Part 

19. —(1) In this Part— 

“adopter” (“mabwysiadydd”) in relation to a 

child, means a member who has been matched 

with a child for adoption, or in a case where 

two members have been matched jointly, 

whichever of them has elected to be the 

child’s adopter for the purposes of this Part; 

“adoption agency” (“asiantaeth fabwysiadu”) 

means a body which may be referred to as an 

adoption agency by virtue of section 2 of the 

Adoption and Children Act 2002(1); and 

“child” (“plentyn”) means a person who is, or 

when placed with an adopter for adoption 

was, under the age of eighteen. 

(2) For the purposes of this Part a member is 

matched with a child for adoption when an adoption 

agency notifies that member of its decision that the 

member is a suitable adoptive parent for the child, 

whether individually or jointly with another person. 

                                                                               
(1) 2002 c.38. 

Tudalen 54



 9 

PART 4 

New adoption absence 

Prescribed conditions 

20. For the purposes of section 27(1) of the Measure, 

the prescribed conditions are that the member— 

(a) is married to, the civil partner or the partner of 

the child’s adopter;  

(b) has, or expects to have, the main 

responsibility (apart from the responsibility of 

the adopter) for the upbringing of the child; 

and 

(c) gives the head of democratic services written 

notice of the date the member intends the 

period of adopter’s absence to start. 

Extent of entitlement to new adoption absence 

21.—(1) A member’s entitlement to new adoption 

absence is two consecutive weeks. 

(2) Where more than one child is placed with the 

member as part of the same arrangement, a member is 

entitled to new adoption absence only in respect of the 

first child placed with the member for adoption.  

When new adoption absence may be taken 

22. New adoption absence may only be taken during 

the period—  

(a) beginning with the date on which the child is 

placed with the child’s adopter; and  

(b) ending 56 days after that date. 

Cancelling new adoption absence 

23. The circumstances in which a member may 

cancel a period of new adoption absence are that— 

(a) the period of new adoption absence has not 

yet started; and 

(b) the member has notified the head of 

democratic services in writing of their 

intention to cancel the absence. 

Member to choose start date of new adoption 

absence 

24. Provided that the period of new adoption absence 

will come to an end within the period prescribed by 

regulation 22, a member may choose the date on which 

their new adoption absence is to start. 

Tudalen 55



 10 

Interpretation of this Part 

25.—(1) In this Part— 

“adopter” (“mabwysiadydd”) in relation to a child, 

means a person who has been matched with the 

child for adoption, or in a case where two people 

have been matched jointly, whichever of them has 

elected to be the child’s adopter for the purpose of 

Part 3 of these Regulations; 

 “adoption agency” (“asiantaeth fabwysiadu”) 

means a body which may be referred to as an 

adoption agency by virtue of section 2 of the 

Adoption and Children Act 2002; 

“child” (“plentyn”) means a person who is, or 

when placed with an adopter for adoption was, 

under the age of eighteen; 

(2) For the purposes of this Part a person is matched 

with a child for adoption when an adoption agency 

decides that that person would be a suitable adoptive 

parent for the child, either individually or jointly with 

another person. 

PART 5 

Parental absence 

Prescribed conditions 

26. For the purposes of section 28(1) of the Measure, 

the prescribed conditions are that the member— 

(a) could not satisfy the prescribed conditions 

under Parts 2 to 4 of these Regulations; 

(b) has, or expects to have, responsibility for the 

care of a child; 

(c) provides the head of democratic services with 

written notice of— 

(i) their intention to take parental absence; 

(ii) the date on which the member intends  

the parental absence to start; 

(iii) the duration of the intended parental 

absence; and 

(iv) whether the absence is intended to be 

taken as a single period or as a series of 

absences; 

(d) if requested to do so by the head of 

democratic services, provides the head of 

democratic services with evidence in relation 

to the extent of the responsibility for the child; 

and 

(e) where the parental absence is to be taken as a 

series of absences, gives the head of 

democratic services advance written notice of 

Tudalen 56



 11 

the intended start date and duration of each 

period of parental absence. 

Extent of entitlement to parental absence 

27.—(1) A member’s entitlement to parental absence 

is three months. 

(2) Parental absence may be taken as a series of 

periods of absence or as a single period. 

When parental absence may be taken 

28. Parental absence may only be taken during the 

period—  

(a) beginning with the date that the member 

assumes responsibility for the care of a child 

under the age of 14; and  

(b) ending one year after that. 

Bringing a period of parental absence to an end 

29. A member may bring any period of parental 

absence to an end earlier than that notified under 

regulation 26(c)(iii) by notifying the head of 

democratic services in writing of their intention to 

bring the period of parental absence to an end. 

Cancelling a period of parental absence 

30. The circumstances in which a member may 

cancel a period of parental absence are that—  

(a) the period of parental absence has not yet 

started; and 

(b) the member has notified the head of 

democratic services in writing of their 

intention to cancel the period of parental 

absence. 

Member to choose start dates of parental absence 

31. Provided the date falls within the period 

prescribed by regulation 28, a member may choose the 

date on which any period of parental absence is to 

start. 

PART 6 

General 

Record keeping 

32.—(1) A local authority’s head of democratic 

services must maintain a record of all— 

Tudalen 57



 12 

(a) notifications made by members of that local 

authority of periods of family absence; and 

(b) periods of family absence taken by members 

of that local authority. 

(2) A record made under paragraph (1) must be kept 

by the local authority for at least 10 years from the 

date it is made. 

Duty to inform 

33.—(1) Having been notified in accordance with 

Parts 1 to 5 of these Regulations that a member is 

taking a period of family absence, the head of 

democratic services must inform each relevant person 

as soon as is reasonably practicable of that fact. 

(2) In this regulation “relevant person” (“person 

perthnasol”)  means— 

(a) the chair of the local authority, or where a 

local authority has elected a presiding 

member, the presiding member of that local 

authority; 

(b) the chair of the local authority’s Democratic 

Services Committee; and 

(c) the leader of each political group of the local 

authority. 

Cancellation of family absence by a local authority 

34.—(1) Where the head of democratic services has 

reasonable grounds to suspect that a member, who has 

provided notification that they are taking a period of 

family absence, is not entitled to that family absence, 

the head of democratic services must inform the local 

authority and provide all relevant information. 

(2) Where a member is not entitled to a period of 

family absence, following the receipt of information 

under paragraph (1), a local authority may cancel a 

member’s period of family absence before it begins or 

bring a period of family absence to an end. 

(3) Where a local authority exercises its power under 

paragraph (2), the head of democratic services for that 

authority must provide the member with a written 

notice setting out— 

(a) the decision to cancel or bring to an end a 

period of family absence; and 

(b) the date from which the member must return 

from the period of family absence. 

(4) Where a member has failed to return from a 

period of family absence on the date specified in the 

notice provided under paragraph (3), a local authority 

may withhold that member’s remuneration. 

Tudalen 58



 13 

Complaints  

35.—(1) A member may complain in writing to the 

head of democratic services regarding a decision made 

under regulation 34(2). 

(2) A complaint must be received by the head of 

democratic services within 28 days of the member 

being notified under regulation 34(3) of a local 

authority’s decision under paragraph (2) of that 

regulation. 

(3) The head of democratic services must refer any 

complaint received within the period specified in 

paragraph (2) to the chair of the local authority or 

where a local authority has elected a presiding 

member, to the presiding member. 

The panel 

36.—(1) The local authority must appoint a panel to 

determine a complaint made under regulation 35. 

(2) The panel must consist of three members 

appointed by the local authority. 

(3) Neither the chair of the local authority nor the 

presiding member of a local authority may be 

appointed to the panel. 

(4) The panel may— 

(a) confirm a local authority’s decision made 

under regulation 34(2); or 

(b) substitute its own decision as to the member’s 

entitlement to a period of family absence in 

accordance with these Regulations. 

(5) The decision of the panel is final. 

Standing orders 

37. A local authority must, as soon as is reasonably 

practicable after the coming into force of these 

Regulations, make standing orders securing the 

requirements set out in regulation 38.  

38.—(1) A member on maternity absence or parental 

absence may, subject to paragraphs (2) to (6),— 

(a) attend particular meetings; 

(b) attend particular descriptions of meetings; 

(c) perform particular duties; or 

(d) perform duties of a particular description. 

(2) The member must obtain the permission of the 

chair of the local authority, or where a local authority 

has elected a presiding member, the presiding member, 

before attending any meeting or performing any duty. 

(3) The chair of the local authority, or where a local 

authority has elected a presiding member, the 

presiding member, must inform the leaders of each 

Tudalen 59



 14 

political group of the local authority before granting 

permission under paragraph (2). 

(4) A member may complain in writing to the head 

of democratic services regarding a refusal under 

paragraph (2). 

(5) The head of democratic services must refer a 

complaint under paragraph (4) to the chair of the local 

authority, or where a local authority has elected a 

presiding member, to the presiding member. 

(6) A panel constituted in accordance with these 

Regulations must determine a complaint made under 

paragraph (4). 

(7) The panel may— 

(a) confirm the decision of the chair of the local 

authority, or where a local authority has 

elected a presiding member, the decision of 

the presiding member, under paragraph (2); or 

(b) substitute its own decision as to the member 

attending any meeting or performing any 

duty. 

39. A local authority must, as soon as is reasonably 

practicable after the coming into force of these 

Regulations, make provision in standing orders as to 

the extent of the duties, if any, which remain 

applicable to members during a period of family 

absence. 

Tudalen 60



FAMILY ABSENCE

Statutory Guidance made under Section 30 of the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011 

Introduction

Part 2 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 (“the Measure”) introduces 
an entitlement to a period of family absence for members of county and county 
borough councils, during which a member is entitled to be absent from authority 
meetings.

What the Measure requires 

This is statutory guidance issued under section 30 of the Measure. A local authority 
must have regard to this guidance in exercising its functions under Part 2 of the 
Measure.

Section 23 allows members who are entitled to a period of family absence to be 
absent from meetings of the authority, including executive meetings where 
applicable, during periods of family absence, in accord with regulations made under 
this Part of the Measure. The Measure creates an entitlement to five types of family 
absence: maternity absence; newborn absence; adopter’s absence; new adoption 
absence; and parental absence.

The Family Absence for Members of Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013 
(“the Regulations”) are made under Part 2 of the Measure and prescribe the 
conditions to be satisfied for a member to be entitled to a period of family absence. 

A member is entitled to a period of maternity absence where the member satisfies 
conditions prescribed within the Regulations. The Regulations also include provision 
concerning the duration, start, cancellation and end of any maternity absence. The 
Measure restricts the period of maternity absence to a maximum of 26 weeks. 

Newborn absence concerns absence granted to the “parent” of a child other than the 
mother. The Regulations prescribe conditions relating to the relationship between the 
member and child required for the member to be entitled to a period of newborn 
absence. Newborn absence is designed to allow a person who satisfies the 
prescribed conditions to assist in the caring for the child and mother. The 
Regulations also make provision relating to the length of newborn absence and 
when it should be taken.

Section 26 creates an entitlement to adopter’s absence. The Regulations prescribe 
the condition to be satisfied, the length of such absence and when it can be taken, 
subject to the provision that it cannot last more than two weeks. Section 27 deals 
with new adoption absence available to a member who satisfies prescribed 
conditions as to their relationship to an adopter.  

Appendix 2

Tudalen 61



Parental absence applies to a member who becomes responsible for a child 
(who was previously the responsibility of someone else). The Regulations enable 
a member to be absent on parental absence for a period of up to three months.

Section 29 enables regulations to provide for the administrative machinery of any 
family absence as well as the process for dealing with any complaints of abuse of 
absence. It also allows regulations to provide for any duties which members may 
perform during a period of family absence. 

Guidance

The Measure and Regulations must be read together with this guidance.  

The introduction of family absence provides members with entitlements to enable 
members who have babies or become responsible for looking after children to be 
able to continue as members with recognised, legitimate, absence, in an open 
fashion, rather than be potentially subject to criticism for not fulfilling their duties as 
members.

Section 8 of the Measure requires local authorities to designate an officer as the 
authority’s Head of Democratic Services (HDS). The Measure provides that the HDS 
may make arrangements for an officer appointed by them to discharge the functions 
of the HDS under the Measure. All references to the HDS in this guidance and the 
Regulations should be taken as including any officer appointed by them to fulfil the 
duties under the Measure. The Regulations prescribe that the HDS will take the 
responsibility for dealing with notifications of family absence.

This is clearly a potentially delicate area for the HDS. It involves dealing with 
members during a very important development in their personal lives. The 
responsibility the HDS will have for keeping records, including the dates applicable to 
the absence and any suspicion that the family absence entitlement is being abused 
will require sensitivity. The HDS should take a flexible approach towards any request 
to vary the start or finish dates of absence, provided they are within the total 
allowance. With respect to actions which might result in the withdrawal of the 
entitlement, there should be a high degree of certainty in the mind of the HDS before 
proceeding along this course. 

As stated above, in most circumstances, the HDS must be notified in writing before 
any period of family absence. In addition, the Regulations contain other notification 
requirements, such as under the complaint provisions. Notification by way of an 
e-mail or any other electronic format would satisfy the written requirement in respect 
of any notification required under the Regulations. 

Under normal circumstances, the HDS should not be expected to request evidence 
of pregnancy or the expected date of childbirth unless there are grounds for 
suspicion that the notice given by the member is questionable. 

Newborn absence is aimed to assist partners of mothers by enabling them to take a 
period of absence during the first 56 days after childbirth. 

Tudalen 62



Adopter’s absence entitles members to a period of absence of two weeks. The 
entitlement arises at the physical date of placement of the child with the member for 
adoption. It is the actual date of placement of the child which is important for the 
start of this absence, not the date of placement according to any legal document. No 
evidence of adoption is required from the member in order to be entitled to a period 
of adopter’s absence. 

A member who satisfies prescribed conditions as to their relationship with another 
person who is adopting a child may take two weeks new adoption absence. A 
member is not entitled to take adopter’s and new adoption absence in relation to the 
same child. Multiple children adopted at the same time would not enable a member 
to take multiple periods of new adoption absence. If a member jointly adopts a child 
with another member, one member may elect to be the child’s adopter for the 
purposes of the Regulations and would be entitled to a period of adopter’s absence. 
The other member would not be entitled to a period of adopter’s absence but would 
be entitled to a period of new adoption absence.

A member shall be entitled to parental absence if they become responsible for the 
care of a child under the age of 14. The member must notify the HDS of this 
responsibility and the HDS must be satisfied that such a responsibility is real and 
may require supporting evidence.  

Responsibility for a child for the purposes of Part 5 of the Regulations is not limited 
to members who are granted parental responsibility for a child as defined in section 
3 of the Children Act 1989. It is intended that parental absence would be available to 
members who become temporarily responsible for the care of a child in addition to 
members who become the subject of more permanent responsibilities. For example, 
a member who takes responsibility for the care of a child whilst the parent is 
temporarily unable to fulfil these responsibilities for reasons such as illness, would 
be entitled to a period of parental absence. 

A member may decide to stage parental absence over various periods during the 
year from when the member became responsible for the child. The member must 
notify the HDS as to the staging of the periods of absence in advance, although it is 
not expected that a member inform the HDS of the start date and duration of each 
and every period of parental absence at the outset. If possible, the member should 
seek to inform the HDS of the intended periods of absence. However, it is accepted 
that this may not always be possible and would not afford the necessary degree of 
flexibility. In which case, as long as the HDS is informed at the outset of the 
member’s general approach to the taking of absence and the HDS is informed in 
advance of each individual period of absence, the member would be entitled to 
periods of parental absence. 

The HDS is required to inform the chair of the local authority, the chair of the 
Democratic Services Committee (DSC) and, the leaders of each political group of 
the authority of any period of family absence in advance of it being taken or at the 
earliest possible date thereafter. The HDS is free also to inform any other persons 
felt necessary. For instance, this could include members of the authority 
representing the same or neighbouring divisions. 

Tudalen 63



On receiving information from the HDS that a member may not be entitled to a 
period of family absence, a local authority may decide to cancel or curtail a 
member’s family absence if it believes that the permitted absence is fraudulent, has 
been abused or simply that the member is not entitled to a period of family absence.

A member may appeal against a decision to withdraw entitlement to family absence. 
Complaints must be in writing, however, as stated above a complaint in electronic 
form would satisfy this requirement. The HDS then places the appeal before the 
chair of the local authority who must then place it before a panel of three members 
appointed by the authority for the purpose (which cannot include the chair of the 
authority).

A local authority’s standing orders must include provisions describing the 
circumstances in which a member on maternity or parental absence (only) to 
continue to perform some duties if so desired. This should enable a member on 
such leave of absence to attend a particular meeting or type of meeting or perform a 
particular duty or type of duty on receipt of permission granted by the chair of the 
local authority. This might be the case, for instance, where the member has a well 
known particular interest in a matter of business or if urgent business affecting their 
local area is being considered. Before agreeing to such a request, the chair of 
authority must inform the leaders of all political groups on the council. Should there 
be a dispute, a panel established as above should make the final decision. 

Standing orders should also provide as to whether any duty conferred on members 
should be performed during a period of family absence. This might, for instance, 
enable a member on family absence to be asked to attend a meeting if it might 
otherwise be inquorate. The standing orders could enable different arrangements to 
be made for different members. There might be a particular area of expertise 
possessed by a member which would be difficult to replace on a temporary basis, 
which might suggest a limited commitment could still be expected of a member in 
defined circumstances. However, the effect of any such provision under the standing 
orders should not be contrary to the purpose of the Measure and Regulations. 

Tudalen 64



1 

 

 

Adroddiad i'r:    Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd  
 
Dyddiad y Cyfarfod:   14 Tachwedd 2013 
 
Aelod / Swyddog Arweiniol:  Gary Williams, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 

Democrataidd 
 
Awdur yr Adroddiad: Gary Williams, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 

Democrataidd 
 
Teitl:  Adroddiad Blynyddol drafft Panel Taliadau 

Annibynnol Cymru 2014/15 
 

 
1 Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn?  
 
1.1 Mae'r adroddiad yn ymwneud ag adroddiad drafft Panel Taliadau Annibynnol Cymru 

ar gyfer 2014/15 y mae'r Cyngor yn cael ymgynghori arno. 
 
2 Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn?  
 
2.1 Gofyn am farn yr Aelodau ar yr adroddiad drafft er mwyn i’r Cyngor lunio ymateb i’r 

Panel.   
 
3 Beth yw'r argymhellion? 
 
3.1 Bod yr Aelodau'n nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad drafft ac yn datgan eu sylwadau er 

mwyn i’r Cyngor lunio ymateb. 
 
4 Manylion am yr adroddiad 
 
4.1 Sefydlwyd Panel Taliadau Annibynnol Cymru yn 2008. Cafodd cylch gorchwyl a 

swyddogaethau'r Panel eu hymestyn ym Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011. Mae 
cylch gorchwyl y Panel yn cynnwys taliadau Cynghorwyr Sir a thaliadau aelodau o 
Awdurdodau Parciau Cenedlaethol, Awdurdodau Tân ac Achub Cymru a 
Chynghorau Tref a Chymuned. 

 
4.2 Mae'r Panel yn gallu pennu swm y taliad y gall awdurdod ei roi i Aelod ac yn gallu 

pennu’r dyletswyddau a’r cyfrifoldebau a all olygu y caiff Cynghorwyr dâl am 
ymgymryd â nhw.  

 
4.3 Mae'n ofynnol i'r Panel lunio adroddiad blynyddol sy'n nodi tâl Aelodau am ymgymryd 

â dyletswyddau a chyfrifoldebau’r flwyddyn ddinesig nesaf. Mae’n rhaid i’r adroddiad 
hwnnw gael ei lunio erbyn mis Chwefror a rhaid i’r adroddiadau fod yn destun 
ymgynghoriad gyda Gweinidogion Cymru, awdurdodau lleol a chyrff eraill dan gylch 
gorchwyl y Panel.   

 
4.4 Mae'r Panel wedi cynhyrchu adroddiad drafft 2014/15 er dibenion ymgynghori. Mae'r 

ymgynghoriad ar yr adroddiad drafft ar agor tan 26 Tachwedd. Bydd y Panel wedyn 
yn cyhoeddi adroddiad terfynol cyn diwedd mis Chwefror 2014, a bydd argymhellion 
yr adroddiad yn dod i rym yn 2014/15. Mae'r adroddiad i’w weld yn Atodiad 1. 

 
4.5 Mae Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 yn ei gwneud hi’n ofynnol i awdurdodau 

lleol weithredu argymhellion y Panel.   

Eitem Agenda 9

Tudalen 65



2 

 

 
4.6 Wrth baratoi Adroddiad Blynyddol drafft 2014/15 bu i aelodau'r Panel ymweld â phob 

un o'r 22 awdurdod lleol i dderbyn barn yr Aelodau a’r swyddogion. 
 
4.7 Mae'r adroddiad drafft yn nodi’r tri band tâl, nifer y cynghorwyr ym mhob un a nifer y 

cyflogau uwch a delir. Mae’r grwpiau hyn wedi eu nodi yn Nhabl 1. Mae Tabl 2 yn 
nodi'r cyflogau sylfaenol a’r uwch gyflogau fydd yn daladwy i Aelodau yn 2014/15. 

 
4.8 Mae'r cyflog sylfaenol wedi codi o £13,175 i £ 13,300.  
 
4.9 Mae’r Panel o’r farn nad yw cynnal gwerthoedd democrataidd llywodraeth leol yn 

ddigost. Mae taliadau a ariennir yn gyhoeddus ar gael i annog amrywiaeth o bobl leol 
i gymryd rhan yn eu llywodraeth leol, p’un ai ydynt wedi eu hethol, cyfethol neu eu 
penodi.   

 
4.10 Yn adroddiad 2009 bu i’r Panel benderfynu alinio taliadau i Aelodau ar sail enillion 

gros canolig gweithiwr cyflogedig llawn amser sy'n preswylio yng Nghymru. Pennwyd 
y cyflog sylfaenol ar 3/5 o gyflog canolig Cymru gyfan a phennwyd yr uwch gyflog ar 
luosrifau o'r cyflog canolig blynyddol hwn. Wrth bennu’r cyflogau, bu i’r Panel 
gydnabod bod Aelodau yn gwneud cyfraniad cyhoeddus di-dâl.   

 
4.11 Yn ystod y tair blynedd diwethaf, rydym ni wedi gweld gostyngiad yn adnoddau’r 

awdurdodau lleol yn sgil unfannu cyflogau’r sector cyhoeddus. Daeth y Panel i'r 
casgliad y byddai cadw'r aliniad hwn yn arwain at gynnydd amhriodol yn lefel y tâl. 
Mae hyn wedi arwain at ostwng y cyflog sylfaenol yn nhermau real yn ystod y cyfnod 
hwn. Gan fod cyfyngiadau tâl y sector cyhoeddus wedi eu llacio eleni, mae'r Panel 
wedi penderfynu cynyddu’r cyflog sylfaenol o lai nag 1% o wanwyn 2014 ac i 
gynyddu taliadau eraill yn yr un modd.   

 
4.12 Yn ei drafodaethau gydag Aelodau a swyddogion Cynghorau, roedd y Panel yn 

teimlo bod awydd i gynyddu hyblygrwydd yn y fframwaith tâl a chadw lefelau tâl yn 
gyson ar draws y wlad. Sylwodd y Panel hefyd ar ystod strwythurau pwyllgorau ar 
draws Cymru a’r dulliau gwahanol o ddyrannu dyletswyddau a chyfrifoldebau i 
Aelodau etholedig. 

 
4.13 Felly, mae'r Panel wedi cyflwyno lefelau cyfrifoldeb fel bod pob Cyngor yn 

penderfynu ar lefel y taliadau i Gadeiryddion Pwyllgorau, Penaethiaid Dinesig a 
Dirprwy Benaethiaid Dinesig.  

 
4.14 Uwch Gyflog Band 1 a 2 – Mae’r Panel wedi pennu pum band Uwch Gyflog. Mae 

Band 1 yn cynnwys Arweinwyr a Dirprwy Arweinyddion ac mae Band 2 yn cynnwys 
Aelodau Cabinet. Yn nhrafodaethau'r Panel gydag Aelodau etholedig ar draws 
Cymru, roedd nifer yn cytuno mai’r swyddi arwain a gweithredol yw’r swyddi â mwyaf 
o gyfrifoldebau. Mae'r Panel hefyd wedi derbyn sylwadau bod y cyfrifoldebau hyn, 
beth bynnag yw maint y boblogaeth a wasanaethir gan y Cyngor, yn aml iawn yr un 
fath ar draws y wlad. Fodd bynnag, mae'r Panel wedi penderfynu bod maint y 
boblogaeth yn parhau i fod yn ffactor mawr sy’n effeithio ar lefelau cyfrifoldeb ac 
mae’r Panel wedi penderfynu parhau i ystyried y grwpiau boblogaeth fel y nodir yn 
Nhabl 1 at ddibenion Uwch Gyflogau ym Mandiau 1 a 2. Mae'r Panel, fodd bynnag 
wedi gwneud mân addasiadau ar gyfer cyflogau a dalwyd ym Mandiau 1 a 2 i leihau'r 
gwahaniaethau rhwng cynghorau sydd â grwpiau poblogaeth gwahanol. 

 

Tudalen 66



3 

 

4.15 Band 3 – Mae’r Panel yn dweud bod consensws sylweddol ledled Cymru nad yw 
cyfradd cyflog unigol Cadeiryddion Pwyllgorau Cyngor yn adlewyrchu amrywiaeth y 
swyddi, cyfrifoldebau na’r llwyth gwaith.   

 
4.16 Mae'r Panel felly wedi cyflwyno lefelau cyfrifoldeb. Mae tair lefel cyfrifoldeb ar gyfer 

Uwch Gyflog Band 3 a bydd yn rhaid i bob awdurdod benderfynu ar y lefel tâl priodol 
ar gyfer eu Cadeiryddion, eu Penaethiaid Dinesig a’u Dirprwy Benaethiaid Dinesig. 

 
4.17  Band 4 a 5 - Mae’r Panel o’r farn fod taliad arweinydd y wrthblaid fwyaf yn bwysig i 

ddemocratiaeth leol. Mae'r Panel felly wedi penderfynu bod yn rhaid i’r Uwch Gyflog 
hwn gael ei dalu.  

 
4.18 Mae lefel y taliad hwn yn cael ei phennu ar Lefel 1 Uwch Gyflog Band 3 h.y. y lefel 

uchaf o gyfrifoldeb ar gyfer Cadeiryddion Pwyllgor. 
 
4.19 Mae'r Panel yn nodi mai dim ond cyflogau rhai arweinwyr grwpiau gwleidyddol eraill 

sydd wedi eu dyrannu. Mae'r Panel wedi penderfynu y dylai’r cyflogau hyn fod yn 
oddeutu £17,000 y flwyddyn fel y nodir yn Nhabl 2. 

 
4.20 Penaethiaid a Dirprwyon Dinesig - yn ystod ei ymgynghoriad yn 2013, bu i’r Panel 

ystyried yr amrywiaeth yn y lefel o gefnogaeth a roddir, y gost ariannol ac yn lefel y 
gweithgaredd mewn blwyddyn. Mae’r rhain holl yn amrywio o awdurdod i awdurdod a 
sylweddolwyd nad yw maint awdurdod yn ddangosydd dibynadwy o ran yr 
ymrwymiad sydd ei angen, neu a roddir gan Benaethiaid Dinesig. Mae'r Panel wedi 
penderfynu y bydd y swm sydd i'w dalu i Benaethiaid Dinesig yn cael ei bennu gan 
awdurdodau lleol a fydd yn ystyried llwyth gwaith a chyfrifoldebau disgwyliedig y 
Penaethiaid Dinesig. Mae Tabl 3 yn nodi pa Gyflogau Dinesig sydd ar gael i 
Aelodau'r Prif Gynghorau. Mae tri band (A, B ac C) y gall awdurdodau lleol ddewis ar 
gyfer Cyflogau Dinesig. Nid yw'r grwpiau poblogaeth yn cael eu hystyried wrth bennu 
Cyflogau Dinesig. Nid yw Cyflogau Dinesig wedi eu cynnwys yn uchafswm Uwch 
Gyflogau awdurdodau. Gall Gynghorau benderfynu peidio â thalu Cyflogau Dinesig. 

 
4.21 Nid oes unrhyw newid i dreuliau teithio y gellir eu hawlio. Mae'r Panel wedi cael 

gwared ar y categori llety dros nos yng Nghaerdydd o'r lefelau a argymhellir ar gyfer 
costau llety dros nos. Bellach, ceir cyfradd ar gyfer Llundain a chyfradd ar gyfer pob 
aelod arall.   

 
4.22 Mae Deddf Llywodraeth Leol (Democratiaeth) 2013 yn caniatáu i awdurdodau lleol 

benodi Aelod Llywyddu (a fyddai'n cadeirio cyfarfodydd busnes y Cyngor) yn ogystal 
â Phennaeth Dinesig. Gall Gynghorau hefyd benodi Dirprwy Aelod Llywyddol. 

 
4.23  Mae'r Panel wedi penderfynu y bydd Aelodau Llywyddu yn derbyn tâl ar lefel briodol 

Uwch Gyflog Band 3, fel y pennir gan y Cyngor, ac y byddai uchafswm uwch 
gyflogau yn berthnasol. Mae'r Panel wedi penderfynu na fydd Dirprwy Aelodau 
Llywyddol yn derbyn tâl.     

 
4.24 Mae'r Panel wedi gwneud penderfyniadau ynglŷn â gweithrediad y Cydbwyllgorau 

Trosolwg a Chraffu. Mae Cadeirydd Cydbwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu yn gymwys i 
dderbyn tâl sy'n adlewyrchu tâl Cadeirydd Pwyllgor (Band 3). Mater i'r awdurdodau 
lleol yw penderfynu ar dâl y Cadeirydd. Mae'r cyflogau yn adlewyrchu’r Cyflogau 
Uwch sy'n daladwy dan Band 3 i Gadeiryddion Pwyllgorau. 

Tudalen 67



4 

 

 
4.25 Os yw Cadeirydd eisoes yn derbyn Uwch Gyflog ar gyfer swydd Band 3, 4 neu 5, 

bydd y taliad yn seiliedig ar un o’r tair lefel is (yr awdurdod sydd i benderfynu ar yr 
union lefel). Mae Cadeirydd Is-bwyllgor Cydbwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu yn gymwys i 
dderbyn tâl yn seiliedig ar un o'r tair lefel a nodir yn yr adroddiad. Unwaith eto, yr 
awdurdod sy’n penderfynu ar yr union lefel. Hefyd, mae lefel is yn daladwy i 
Gadeirydd Is-bwyllgor sydd eisoes yn derbyn Uwch Gyflog ar gyfer swydd Band 3, 4 
neu 5. 

 
4.26  Mae'n bosibl gwneud taliadau i Gadeiryddion Is-Bwyllgorau Tasg a Gorffen 

Cydbwyllgorau Trosolwg a Chraffu ond mae'r rhain ar raddfa pro rata yn dibynnu ar 
hyd y dasg. Mae taliadau a wneir i Gadeirydd Cydbwyllgor neu Is-bwyllgor Trosolwg 
a Chraffu yn ychwanegol at y gyfran uchaf o aelodaeth yr awdurdodau sy’n gymwys i 
dderbyn Uwch Gyflog. Yn yr achos hwn, nifer yr Uwch Gyflogau yn Sir Ddinbych yw 
17. Fodd bynnag, yn ôl y terfyn statudol ni ddylai mwy na 50% o Aelodau’r Cyngor 
dderbyn Uwch Gyflog. Mae'r Panel wedi cadw'r lefelau ar gyfer aelodau cyfetholedig 
ar yr un cyfraddau â’r blynyddoedd blaenorol. 

 
4.27 Mae taliadau aelodau cyfetholedig yn aros ar y lefel bresennol. Mae rhai newidiadau 

i'r ffordd y cyfrifir yr amser a ganiateir i’w hawlio. 
 
5 Sut mae'r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau Corfforaethol? 
 
5.1 Mae'r penderfyniad yn ymateb i ymgynghoriad ac nid yw'n cyfrannu at y 

blaenoriaethau corfforaethol. 
 
6 Faint fydd yn hyn yn costio a sut bydd yn effeithio ar wasanaethau eraill? 
 
6.1 Bydd y gost yn dibynnu ar benderfyniad y Cyngor yn dilyn cyhoeddi Adroddiad 

Blynyddol terfynol y Panel ym mis Chwefror 2014. 
 
7 Pa ymgynghoriadau a gynhaliwyd, ac a gynhaliwyd Asesiad o Effaith ar 

Gydraddoldeb?  
 
7.1 Ymgynghorwyd â Chadeiryddion ac Is-gadeiryddion y Pwyllgor Archwilio a'r Cabinet.  
 
8 Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 
 
8.1 Mae'r adroddiad yn syml yn ymateb i ymgynghoriad ac, fel y cyfryw, nid oes 

goblygiadau ariannol mawr. Penderfynir ynglŷn â’r rhain unwaith y bydd y diwygiadau 
i'r cynllun wedi eu cadarnhau. 

 
9 Pa risgiau sy’n bodoli ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei wneud i'w lleihau? 
 
9.1 Mae methu ymateb i'r ymgynghoriad yn golygu na fydd barn y Cyngor yn cael ei 

hystyried.  
 
10 Pŵer i wneud y Penderfyniad 
 
10.1 Adran 111 Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 
 

Tudalen 68



February 2014

D
R

A
F
T

Independent Remuneration 

Panel for Wales

Annual Report

Tudalen 69



Foreword 

This is our sixth Annual Report since the Panel 
was established in 2008 and is the third 
Annual Report since the approval of the 
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 
(‘the Measure’)1. Anne Abel joined the Panel from 
June 2012 and was joined by Gregory Owens and 
Stephen Mulholland from January 2013. 

As four years had elapsed since the original framework was set and, given that a 
number of subsequent decisions affecting the remuneration of members has been 
made, we considered it an appropriate time in 2013 to revisit the 22 principal 
authorities, the 3 National Park Authorities (NPAs) and the 3 Fire and Rescue 
Authorities (FRAs) to discuss how our determinations are working in practice and what 
matters we should be considering for this Annual Report and for the future. A number 
of issues raised during our visits indicated that there was a need to clarify some 
elements of the current framework and I wrote to all authorities in July 2013 to action 
this. We also identified particular issues concerning co-optees that we considered 
should be dealt with earlier than the implementation in May 2014 of this Report. In 
order to effect these amendments to the Framework a Supplementary Report was 
issued in August 2013, in accordance with Section 147 of the Measure. 

Having taken account of the constraints on public sector pay the Panel has not 
increased the amount of any payment in its framework since it established the current 
levels in its 2011 Annual Report. However, given the modest relaxation in the 
constraints on public sector pay this year, the Panel has decided to increase the basic 
salary for members of principal authorities by less than 1% from spring 2014 and to 
increase other payments proportionately. This will help to prevent a further erosion of 
relative levels of remuneration. 

From our consultation it was clear to the Panel that local authorities would like 
increased local flexibility in applying the national Remuneration Framework. The Panel 
has therefore in its determinations in this Annual Report provided opportunities for 
increased local determination whilst retaining the nationally consistent prescription of 
levels of remuneration. Individual local authorities will now be able to choose locally 
the most appropriate levels of remuneration to be paid to chairs of committees and to 
civic heads and deputy civic heads. 

The Panel has made revised determinations in relation to payments for members of 
NPAs and FRAs and in particular we have corrected what we concluded had been 
previous under-remuneration of NPA senior posts and the level of basic salary for 
members of FRAs.  

1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents/enacted.

Tudalen 70



We have also taken the opportunity to clarify certain aspects of the current 
determinations in relation to support for members to enable them to discharge their 
functions effectively, and in relation to the reimbursement of subsistence costs.  
The Panel’s determinations can be found at Annex 1. Section 147 (7) & (8) of the 
Measure requires the Panel to consult on its annual reports before final publication, 
and we will take account of the representations which we receive.  

Finally, on behalf of the Panel I would like to put on record our appreciation of the 
support we receive for our work from the Welsh Government officials who constitute 
our Secretariat.  

Richard Penn 
Chairman 

Tudalen 71



Contents 

Summary of salaries for members and co-opted members of principal councils, 
National Park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue authorities in 2014/15  

1 Introduction 1 

2 The Panel’s framework: principles of remuneration 5 

3 Payments to elected members of principal councils: basic, senior and  
civic salaries 7

4 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) 17

5 Pension provision for elected members of principal councils 19

6 Payments to members of National Park authorities 20

7 Payments to members of Welsh fire and rescue authorities 24

8 Payments to co-opted members of local authorities 28

9 Specific or additional senior salaries 32

10 Payments to members of community and town Councils 33

11 Compliance with Panel requirements 35

Annex 1: The Panel’s Determinations 2014/15 

Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) Regulations for  
the remuneration of members and co-opted members of relevant authorities  

Annex 3: Schedule of member remuneration 

Annex 4: Publicity requirements 

Annex 5: Supplementary Report - Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

Annex 6: Draft Supplementary Report - Payments to co-opted members of local 
authorities  

Annex 7: Letter of clarification   

Tudalen 72



Tudalen 73



Summary of salaries for members and co-opted members of 
principal councils, National Park authorities and Welsh fire 
and rescue authorities in 2014/15  

Table 1: Maximum proportions and numbers of council membership eligible for 

payment of a senior salary  

Council Number of councillors Number of senior salaries  

Group A 
Cardiff 
Rhondda Cynon Taff 
Swansea

75
75
72

19
19
19

Group B
Bridgend 
Caerphilly 
Carmarthenshire 
Conwy 
Flintshire 
Gwynedd 
Neath Port Talbot 
Newport 
Pembrokeshire 
Powys 
Vale of Glamorgan 
Wrexham 

54
73
74
59
70
75
64
50
60
73
47
52

18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18

Group C 

Blaenau Gwent 
Ceredigion 
Denbighshire 
Isle of Anglesey 
Merthyr Tydfil 
Monmouthshire 
Torfaen

42
42
47
30
33
43
44

17
17
17
15
16
17
17

Table 1 notes 

(i) Since the commencement of the provisions of the Local Government 
(Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013, there is no longer a need for the Panel to express the 
limit on senior salaries in terms of percentages. It should be remembered, however, 
that  the Measure restricts the maximum number of senior salaries to 50% of the 
membership of the council, unless Welsh Ministers agree that the Panel may 
determine an increased proportion2. That has implications for Merthyr Tydfil where the 

2
 As set out in The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011: Section 142; sub-section 5. 

Tudalen 74



maximum number is 16 and for Isle of Anglesey where the equivalent number is 15 
(both of which include civic salaries in respect of the posts of civic head and deputy 
civic head).  

(ii) The civic salaries in respect of civic head and deputy civic head do not count 
towards the maximum proportion of senior salaries that a council is allowed to pay 
(except for the Isle of Anglesey and Merthyr Tydfil). 

Table 2: Basic salary and senior salaries shall be payable as follows to members of 
principal councils

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £13,300

Group A 
(Cardiff, 
Rhondda
Cynon Taf, 
Swansea)

Group B 
(Bridgend, 
Caerphilly, 
Carmarthenshire, 
Conwy, Flintshire, 
Gwynedd, Newport, 
Neath Port Talbot, 
Pembrokeshire, 
Powys, 
Vale of Glamorgan, 
Wrexham)

Group C 
(Blaenau Gwent, 
Ceredigion, 
Denbighshire, 
Merthyr Tydfil, 
Monmouthshire, 
Torfaen, Isle of 
Anglesey)

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary)

Band 1 

Leader
Deputy leader 

£53,000
£37,000

£48,000
£33,500

£43,000
£30,000

Band 2 
Other executive £32,000 £29,000 £26,000

Band 3
Committee chairs: 
Responsibility Level 1 £22,000 
 Level 2 £20,000 
 Level 3 £18,000

Band 4 
Leader of largest opposition group3 £22,000

Band 5 
Leader of other political groups £17,000

3
 Leader of largest opposition group. See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of 

“largest opposition group” and “other political group”. 

Tudalen 75



Table 2 Notes 

(i) The Panel has determined that a council must make a senior salary available to 
the leader of the largest opposition group (subject to the 10% requirement).  

Table 3: Civic salaries (where paid) shall be payable as follows to members of 

principal councils 

Remuneration of civic leaders and deputy civic leaders  
(inclusive of basic salaries)

Civic leaders Deputy civic leaders 

a 24000 18000

b 21500 16000

c 19000 14000

Table 4: Fees for co-opted members (with voting rights) of local authorities 

Chairs of standards committees and audit committees 

£256
(4 hours and over) 
£128
(up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary members of standards committees who also chair 
standards committees for community and town councils. 

£226 daily fee  
(4 hours and over) 
£113
(up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary members of standards committees; education 
scrutiny committee; crime and disorder scrutiny committee 
and audit committee 

£198
(4 hours and over) 
£99
(up to 4 hours) 

Table 5: Basic and senior salaries shall be payable as follows to members of National 

Park Authorities (NPAs) 

Basic salary £3,600

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary) 

Chair4 (Band 3) 
Deputy chair/committee chair (see note i) 
Level 1 
Level 2 

£12,300

£7300
£6000

4
 Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast, Snowdonia. 

Tudalen 76



Table 6: Basic and senior salaries shall be payable as follows to members of Welsh 
fire and rescue authorities (FRAs) 

Basic salary £1,700

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary) 

Chair5 (Band 3) 
Deputy chair/committee chair (see note i) 

£10,400
£5,400

Tables 5 & 6 notes 

(i) An NPA/FRA senior salary can be paid to a maximum of two committee chairs. 

(ii) National Park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue authorities can decide on 
the maximum number of days for which co-opted members may be paid in any one 
year.

5
 Mid & West Wales, North Wales, South Wales. 

Tudalen 77



1. Introduction

1.1 This is the sixth annual report of the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales (the Panel), and the third published under the requirements of the the Measure. 
The Panel, established by the Welsh Government in 2008, is now in its sixth year. It 
comprises five members appointed by the Minister for Local Government, three of 
whom are newly appointed: Anne Abel, Stephen Mulholland and Gregory Owens. 
Richard Penn has been reappointed as the Chair of the Panel and John Bader was 
reappointed as a member of the Panel and, subsequently, elected as Vice Chair.  

1.2 The previous Panel had undertaken visits to all 22 principal authorities in 2009, 
meeting many members and officers and gathering information and evidence to 
produce an equitable and consistent remuneration framework across Wales. These 
visits provided much of the basis for the creation of the current Panel’s Remuneration 
Framework for councillors in Wales. Since then there have been incremental changes 
to the framework over the last four years, but the basic principles set in 2009 remain in 
place.  

1.3 The Measure extended the responsibilities of the Panel and its powers under 
Section 142 to decide (prescribe) payments to members of relevant authorities. This 
enabled the Panel to move beyond its previous limitation of setting maximum limits for 
member payments. This was welcomed by authorities as it had been an issue for 
which there had been strong support from all of the councils we visited in 2009. The 
Panel was able to use this power of prescription from April 2012 at the time of the 
election of the new councils. The Measure also extended the Panel’s remit to include 
responsibility for the remuneration of members of NPAs, FRAs and community and 
town councils.  

1.4 Given that four years had elapsed since the original framework was set and that 
a number of subsequent decisions affecting the remuneration of members had been 
made, we considered it an appropriate time to revisit the 22 principal authorities, the 
3 NPAs and 3 FRAs to discuss with a cross section of members and officers how our 
determinations were working in practice and what matters the Panel should be 
considering for its next Annual Report and for the future. 

1.5 The 28 visits that subsequently took place over a 10 week period from March to 
June 2013 gave the Panel the opportunity to meet with more than 600 members and 
officers across Wales. We are most grateful to the authorities for the organisation of 
the visits and for the welcome that we were given by the members and officers that we 
met. We were impressed by the commitment to public service shown by those 
members that we met, a commitment that is not always reflected in public opinion or 
recognised by the media. 

1.6 The Panel Secretariat took extensive notes of each of the visits so that the 
Panel has a comprehensive record of the issues that were raised. As we made clear 
at the time, none of the notes are attributable either to the authority or to any individual 
member or officer. Some of the issues fall outside the remit of the Panel but where 
appropriate we will bring these to the attention of the Welsh Government Ministers. 

1Tudalen 78



1.7 A number of issues raised during our visits indicated that there was a need to 
clarify some elements of the existing framework. Subsequently the Chair of the Panel 
wrote to all authorities in July 2013 to action this. For information a copy of this letter is 
contained at Annex 7. 

1.8 The Panel also identified a number of issues in relation to co-optees that we 
considered should be dealt with earlier than the implementation of this Report in 
May 2014. In order to effect these amendments to the Remuneration Framework a 
Supplementary Report was issued in August 2013 in accordance with Section 147 of 
the Measure. 

1.9 Many of the points raised and issues discussed during our visits require longer-
term examination. Over the next few years these will be the subject of detailed 
consideration that will require further consultation. 

1.10 In the determinations for this Annual Report we continue to take into account 
affordability and acceptability, given the ongoing constraints on local authority 
budgets.

1.11 While there has been population growth throughout Wales, the 2011 census6

did not indicate that this growth has been sufficient to move any local council to a 
higher or lower population group and the Panel’s Framework is unchanged in respect 
of population groups. It is recognised in the chapters that follow that NPAs, FRAs and 
community and town councils serve population groups of a different size to those of 
principal councils.  

1.12 As with the Panel’s earlier reports, and no less now under the Measure, our 
determinations of member payments are underpinned by the set of principles set out 
in Section 2 of this Annual Report. 

1.13 The Panel remains firmly of the view that maintaining the democratic values of 
local governance is not cost-free. Elected and co-opted members of local authorities 
and town and community councils, elected and co-opted members of NPAs and FRAs 
and Welsh Government appointees of national park authorities are there to represent 
the interests of local people, undertake the governance of local communities, and to 
secure value-for-money public services for local tax payers through effective scrutiny.  

1.14 These are significant and considerable tasks for relevant authorities within the 
Panel’s remit. Publicly funded remuneration is made available to encourage a diversity 
of willing and able local people to undertake local governance, through their elected, 
appointed or co-opted roles.  

1.15 In determining member payments in local councils hitherto, the Panel has 
sought to meet its principle of ‘acceptability’ by determining maximum levels that are 
not ‘so great as to require a significant diversion of resources from key council 
priorities’. But Section 142(8) of the Measure is more explicit on ‘affordability’ when it 

6
 2011 Census table CP04: Usual resident population all ages, unitary authorities in Wales. 

2Tudalen 79



states that “when setting an amount7 ... ... the Panel must take into account what it 
considers will be the likely financial impact of doing so on relevant authorities”.
Meeting the requirement of the Measure in regard to affordability has been a 
challenge for the Panel not least because of public interest in the payments made to 
members. The Panel acknowledges that the issue of affordability – in relation both to 
relevant authorities’ service budgets and to the electorate’s disposable incomes – is 
likely to exert a powerful impact on the public perception of any proposed increases to 
members’ payments. 

1.16 As a charge on the public purse, payments to members for their time, worth and 
responsibility must be, and must be seen to be fair and affordable. The Panel’s 
determinations in its 2009 Report aligned payments to the median gross earnings of 
all full-time employees resident in Wales, as reported in the Annual Survey of Hourly 
Earnings (ASHE). The basic salary was set at three-fifths of the All Wales Median 
Salary, and senior salaries at multiples of this annual median salary. In setting these 
salaries the Panel recognised that there was an unpaid public service contribution.  

1.17 In the last three years there has been a reduction in resources for local 
authorities and a freeze on public sector pay. The Panel concluded that to retain this 
alignment would have resulted in an inappropriate uplift in levels of remuneration. This 
has resulted in a reduction of the amount of the basic salary in real terms over this 
period.  

1.18 Taking account of the constraints on public sector pay in recent years the Panel 
has not increased the amount of any payment in its framework since it established the 
current levels in its 2011 Annual Report. However, given the modest relaxation in the 
constraints on public sector pay this year, the Panel has decided to increase the basic 
salary by less than 1% from spring 2014 and to increase other payments 
proportionately. This will help to prevent a further erosion of the relative value of the 
basic salary which is paid in recognition of the duties expected of all elected members. 

1.19 The Panel has also taken the opportunity to adjust some payments marginally 
through ‘rounding up’ and ‘rounding down’ of the amounts. The major change in the 
level of payments has been to allow reduced payments to some committee chairs in 
order to enable an increased differential between the salaries of executive members 
and committee chairs, an issue frequently raised during the consultation. 

1.20 From its discussions with members and officers of all principal councils it is 
clear to the Panel that there is a desire for increased flexibility in the remuneration 
framework whilst, however, retaining the nationally consistent prescription of levels 
of remuneration. The Panel also noted the wide range of configurations for council 
committees across Wales and different methods of allocating duties and 
responsibilities to elected members. 

1.21 The Panel has therefore in its determinations in this Annual Report introduced 
responsibility levels for each council to determine the level of payments to committee 
chairs, civic heads and deputy civic heads. This provides the opportunity for increased 

7
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents/enacted.

3Tudalen 80



local determination in this diverse context and at the same time maintains a clearly 
prescribed core of remuneration. Individual local authorities will now be able to 
determine locally the most appropriate of three levels of remuneration to be paid to 
chairs of committees and to civic heads and deputy civic heads. 

1.22 The Panel has further determined that, where appointed, a presiding member 
will be paid at the appropriate level of Band 3 as determined by the council. This post 
will count towards the maximum cap. The Panel has determined that the post of 
deputy presiding member will not be remunerated. 

1.23 The Panel used its visits to NPAs and FRAs to check whether the 
determinations it made following the extension of its remit as a result of the Measure 
to include these Authorities reflected the workload and responsibilities of the members 
involved. The Panel has consequently made revised determinations in relation to 
payments for members of NPAs and FRAs and, in particular, has corrected what we 
concluded had been a previous under-remuneration of NPA senior posts and the level 
of basic salary for members of FRAs. 

1.24 The Panel has taken the opportunity to clarify certain aspects of the current 
determinations in relation to the reimbursement of subsistence costs as well as to 
introduce greater local flexibility particularly in respect of overnight stays. 

1.25 The Panel noted with concern the wide variation and inconsistency of support 
provided to members to enable them to discharge their functions effectively. The 
Panel has determined that in order to provide consistency such support should be 
provided without cost to the individual elected member. Where such support is 
facilitated through additional payments through the council this should be for the 
actual amounts incurred and must be supported by appropriate receipts or invoices. 
Costs of support must be appropriate, reasonable and publicly declared. Deductions 
must not be made from members salaries by the respective authority as a contribution 
towards those support costs which the authority considers necessary for the 
effectiveness and/or efficiency of members.

4Tudalen 81



2. The Panel’s framework: principles of remuneration

Upholding trust and confidence 

2.1 Citizens rightly expect that all those who choose to serve in public authorities 
uphold the public trust by embracing the values and ethics implicit in such public 
service. The Principles show the contribution that the work of the Panel and its 
framework make towards upholding public trust and confidence. 

Simplicity 

2.2 The framework is clear and easily understandable. This is essential for the 
Panel to communicate effectively its priorities to all those who are affected by, or who 
have an interest in, its work. 

Remuneration 

2.3  The framework provides for payment to members of public authorities who 
carry a responsibility for serving their identified communities of geography and of 
interest. The level of remuneration should not act as a barrier to taking up or 
continuing in post. The Framework provides additional recompense for those who are 
given greater levels of responsibility. 

Diversity 

2.4  Democracy is strengthened when the membership of public authorities 
adequately reflects the demographic and cultural make-up of the communities such 
authorities serve. The Panel will consider what contribution its framework can make in 
encouraging the participation of those who are significantly under-represented at local 
authority level. 

Accountability 

2.5  Taxpayers and citizens have the right to expect to receive value for money from 
public funds committed to the remuneration of those who are elected, appointed or 
co-opted to serve in the public interest. The Panel works to ensure that all principal 
councils make information readily available about the activities of their members in 
support of public services. In particular, the Panel expects all local authority councillors 
to produce an annual report of their council-related activity. 

Fairness 

2.6  As an essential test of the framework’s fairness, the Panel ensures that its 
decisions on remuneration for members take account of the earnings of the Welsh 
electorate. The framework will be capable of being applied consistently to members of 
all public authorities as a means of ensuring that levels of remuneration are fair, 
affordable and generally acceptable. 

5Tudalen 82



Quality 

2.7  The Panel recognises that the complex mix of governance, scrutiny and 
regulatory duties incumbent upon members of principal councils requires all members 
to engage with a process of continuous quality improvement. The Panel expects each 
member of a local authority to undertake such training and personal development 
opportunities as are required to properly discharge the duties for which they are 
remunerated. 

Transparency 

2.8 Transparency of members’ remuneration is in the public interest. Some 
members receive additional levels of remuneration by virtue of being elected, or 
appointed, to more than one public body. The framework serves to ensure that 
knowledge of all members’ remuneration is made easily available to the public. 

6Tudalen 83



3. Payments to elected members of principal councils: 
basic, senior and civic salaries 

Basic salary for elected members of principal councils  

3.1 The Panel’s previous determination (IRP Annual Report December, 2009) 
aligned the payment of basic salary to the median gross earnings of all full-time 
employees resident in Wales, as reported in the Annual Survey of Hourly Earnings 
(ASHE). 

3.2 In the last three years there has been a reduction in funding for local authorities 
and a freeze on public sector pay. Therefore the Panel has determined during that 
period that to retain this alignment would have resulted in an inappropriate uplift in 
levels of remuneration. The Panel has not increased the amount of any payment in its 
framework since it established the current levels in its 2011 Annual Report. This has 
resulted in a reduction of the basic salary level in real terms over this period. 

3.3 However, given the modest relaxation in the constraints on public sector pay 
this year, the Panel has decided to increase the Basic Salary by less than 1% from 
spring 2014 and to increase other payments proportionately. This will help to prevent a 
further erosion of relative levels of remuneration in the basic salary paid in recognition 
of the duties expected of all elected members. 

Determination (1) The Panel has concluded that it is now appropriate for basic 
salary levels in 2014/15 for members of principal local authorities to be raised 
from £13,175 to £13,300.

Senior salaries for elected members of principal councils

3.4 The limit on the number of senior salaries payable (‘the cap’) will remain in 
place. Responses to the Panel’s consultation in 2013 indicated that whilst some 
councils would prefer an increase in the cap, almost all felt able to operate effectively 
as required, each within their designated maximum. In 2014/15 the maximum number 
of senior salaries payable within each principal authority will not be altered and will be 
as set out in Table 1.  

Table 1: Maximum proportions and numbers of council membership eligible for 

payment of a senior salary  

Council Number of councillors Number of senior salaries  

Group A 

Cardiff 
Rhondda Cynon Taff 
Swansea

75
75
72

19
19
19

7Tudalen 84



Council Number of councillors Number of senior salaries  

Group B
Bridgend 
Caerphilly 
Carmarthenshire 
Conwy 
Flintshire 
Gwynedd 
Neath Port Talbot 
Newport 
Pembrokeshire 
Powys 
Vale of Glamorgan 
Wrexham 

54
73
74
59
70
75
64
50
60
73
47
52

18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18
18

Group C 

Blaenau Gwent 
Ceredigion 
Denbighshire 
Isle of Anglesey 
Merthyr Tydfil 
Monmouthshire 
Torfaen

42
42
47
30
33
43
44

17
17
17
15
16
17
17

3.5 It was clear to the Panel in its discussions in 2013 with members and officers of 
all principal councils that there is a desire for increased flexibility in the remuneration 
framework whilst retaining the nationally consistent prescription of levels of 
remuneration. The Panel also noted the wide range of configurations for council 
committees and different methods of allocating duties and responsibilities to elected 
members. 

3.6 The Panel has identified opportunities to increase local determination in this 
diverse context whilst at the same time maintaining a clearly prescribed core of 
remuneration across Wales.  

3.7 The Panel has also taken the opportunity to adjust some senior salaries 
marginally through ‘rounding up’ and ‘rounding down’ the amounts. 

3.8 In order to accommodate views expressed to the Panel about the duties and 
workload discharged in different roles senior salaries will be grouped into five bands 
[see table 2 below]. In Band 3, which sets the salary levels for committee chairs, 
individual councils will be able to set varied remuneration levels at £22,000, at 
£20,000 or at £18,000. All principal authorities, regardless of their size will have this 
option open to them as the Population Group Categories (Groups A, B and C based 
on size of population) will not apply in Band 3.  

8Tudalen 85



Table 2: Basic salary and senior salaries payable to members of principal councils

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £13,300

Group A 
(Cardiff, 
Rhondda
Cynon Taf, 
Swansea)

Group B 
(Bridgend, 
Caerphilly, 
Carmarthenshire, 
Conwy, Flintshire, 
Gwynedd, Newport, 
Neath Port Talbot, 
Pembrokeshire, 
Powys, 
Vale of Glamorgan, 
Wrexham)

Group C 
(Blaenau Gwent, 
Ceredigion, 
Denbighshire, 
Merthyr Tydfil, 
Monmouthshire, 
Torfaen, Isle of 
Anglesey)

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary)

Band 1 
Leader
Deputy leader 

£53,000
£37,000

£48,000
£33,500

£43,000
£30,000

Band 2 

Other executive members £32,000 £29,000 £26,000

Band 3

Committee chairs: 
Responsibility Level 1 £22,000 
 Level 2 £20,000 
 Level 3 £18,000

Band 4 

Leader of largest opposition group8 £22,000

Band 5 

Leader of other political groups £17,000

Table 2 Notes 

a. The Panel has determined that a council must make a senior salary available to 
the leader of the largest opposition group (subject to the 10% rule). 

b. When adjusting these figures for use from spring 2014 the practice of ‘rounding’ 
of figures has been used. The successive years’ application of formulae previously 
resulted in irregular sums and these have been presented as rounded figures in the 
updated remuneration table.

8
 Leader of largest opposition group. See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of 

“largest opposition group” and “other political group”. 

9Tudalen 86



The senior salary bands 

Bands 1 and 2 

3.9 In the Panel’s discussions with elected members at all salary levels there was a 
consistent view expressed that the leadership and executive roles (Band 1 and 2 
salaries respectively) carry the greatest individual accountability. It was also strongly 
expressed by some that these accountabilities are regardless of the size of population 
served. However, the Panel remains of the view that size of population remains a 
major factor in influencing levels of responsibility and the use of the three population 
groups (A, B and C) is retained. Notwithstanding that, the Panel has made minor 
adjustments to the salaries paid in Bands 1 and 2 to narrow the current differentials. 

Determination (2) The Panel has concluded that differentials in remuneration 
between different sized authorities for these key roles should be narrowed 
(see Table 2 above).

3.10 In order to keep levels of payment fair, affordable and generally acceptable, 
where uplifts have been made to Band 1 and 2 salaries they are modest. 

Band 3 

3.11 There was a significant consensus of opinion that the payment of one single 
salary rate for chairs of committees of principal councils throughout Wales did not 
accord with the wide variety of roles, responsibilities and workload undertaken by 
committee chairs. 

3.12 The Panel has therefore introduced responsibility levels in its Framework to be 
determined by each council in determining the level of payments to committee chairs, 
civic heads and deputy civic heads. This provides the opportunity for increased local 
determination and at the same time maintains a clearly prescribed core of 
remuneration. Individual local authorities will now be able to determine the most 
appropriate of three levels of remuneration to be paid to chairs of committees and to 
civic heads and deputy civic heads. 

Determination (3) The Panel has determined that each individual authority, 
regardless of population size, may choose to pay committee chairs at a Band 
3 senior salary of either a. £22,000, or b. £20,000 or c. £18,000 commensurate 
with the duties to be discharged in a particular role.

3.13 It is for each council to decide the number of remunerated committee chairs it 
requires and at which level each of those should be remunerated within Band 3. 
These decisions will need to be considered by each council and balanced with its 
requirement for other leadership and executive roles within its cap. 

10Tudalen 87



Bands 4 and 5 

3.14 The responsibilities and accountability of the leader of the largest opposition 
group are not well defined. However the Panel takes the view that the payment for this 
position is important for local democracy.  

Determination (4) The Panel has therefore determined to pay the leader of the 
largest opposition group at Level 1 of a Band 3 senior salary.

Determination (5) The Panel has determined that a Band 5 senior salary of 
£17,000 is available for leaders of other political groups.

3.15 The qualifying size for remuneration of an opposition group leader (‘the 10% 
rule’) remains unchanged. 

3.16 The Panel notes that to date very few of the ‘leader of other political group’ 
posts have been allocated a salary.  

Payments to civic heads and deputies (civic salaries) 

3.17 The Panel has had responsibility for determining the salaries of civic heads and 
their deputies in principal councils in Wales since the implementation of the Measure 
in 2011. In the Panel’s 2013 consultation the following points which underpinned the 
Panel’s original determinations have been reiterated: 

 These civic roles are senior posts within councils which are distinct from 
political or executive leadership. In addition to chairing major meetings the 
civic head is the authority’s ‘first citizen’ and ‘ambassador’, representing the 
council to a wide variety of institutions and organisations, and requiring the 
postholder to exemplify and promote good citizenship. 

 Civic heads and deputies retain ward duties to their electorates during their 
year of office. 

 Deputy civic heads are often ‘civic heads in waiting’ for the following year, 
‘learning the ropes’ by participating in a separate schedule of events as well 
as deputising for the civic head. Without this role it would not be possible for 
a council to fully meet the requirements for civic leadership and 
representation. 

 The intention of the civic allowance as defined by sections 3(5) and 5(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 remains to allow a council to pay a chair 
and vice-chair of a council an allowance which it thinks fit for the purposes 
of meeting the expenses of those offices. 

 In many instances civic heads receive secretarial support, are provided with 
transport for official duties, and can access a separate hospitality budget 
which is managed and controlled by council officers. 

11Tudalen 88



3.18 Having based its initial views on research carried out in early 2011, the Panel 
has now refined its determinations, taking particular account of the following points 
from its 2013 consultation: 

 The level of support given, the personal financial outlay and the level of 
activity during the year of office varies considerably between authorities and 
the size of authority is no reliable indicator as to the commitment required of 
or given by civic heads.  

 Activity levels between civic heads and their deputies are not consistent, 
with some deputies matching time commitment whilst others are less active.  

 Some principal councils have a number of town and community councils 
within their areas, each with their own civic head, which has some impact on 
the number of events attended. 

 The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 allows councils to 
appoint an additional post of presiding member whose role it will be to chair 
meetings of the whole council. Where appointed, there would be a 
consequential reduction in the responsibilities of the respective civic head. 

3.19 The Panel has revised its determinations on the remuneration of civic heads 
and their deputies, and now allows authorities to set remuneration levels which reflect 
activity and responsibility rather than population or budget. It has set three levels of 
civic salary for each role which can be paid by any authority according to local factors. 
For example, a busy mayor in a small council may be paid at the highest rate, whilst a 
less busy deputy mayor in a large council may be paid at the lowest rate. This would 
also allow for civic heads and their deputies in the same authority to be paid at 
different levels. 

Determination (6) Having regard to the time, role and senior responsibilities of 
civic heads and deputy civic heads, the Panel has determined that (where 
paid) civic salaries within the following levels are payable (table 3) and will be 
applied by authorities as each considers appropriate, taking account of the 
anticipated workloads and responsibilities

Table 3: Civic salaries (where paid) shall be payable as follows to members of 

principal councils 

Remuneration of civic heads and deputy civic heads (inclusive of basic salaries)

Civic heads  Deputy civic heads 

a 24000 18000

b 21500 16000

c 19000 14000

12Tudalen 89



Table 3 Note

Flexibility is introduced in the payment of civic salaries using the same principle 
applied in Band 3 (see paragraph 3:12 above). A choice of levels of remuneration is 
set and all principal authorities, regardless of their size will have this option open to 
them as the Population Group Categories (Groups A, B and C ) not apply in relation to 
civic salaries 

3.20 These posts of civic head and deputy civic head are not included in the cap. It 
should be noted that the statutory limit of no more than 50% of a council’s total 
membership receiving a senior salary applies (section 142 (5) of the Measure). 

3.21 A council may decide not to apply any civic salary to the posts of civic head 
and/or deputy civic head. 

Determination (7) The Panel has determined that, where appointed, a 
presiding member will be remunerated at the appropriate level of a Band 3 
senior salary as decided by the council. This post will count towards the cap.

Determination (8) The Panel has determined that the post of deputy presiding 
member will not be remunerated.

3.22 The Panel’s principle that a member’s salary must not be required to subsidise 
the necessary support needed to carry out the duties applies particularly to civic 
heads. The Panel recognises the range of different levels of provision made for civic 
heads in respect of transport, secretarial support, charitable giving or clothing. The 
Panel does not consider it appropriate for councils to expect or require that 
contributions towards this provision should be met from the senior salaries paid to civic 
heads.

Basic, senior and civic salaries 

3.23 Other matters: 

 The basic salary, paid to all members, is remuneration for the responsibility 
of community representation and participation in the scrutiny, regulatory or 
related functions of local governance at the time equivalent of three days a 
week. Any time commitment beyond three days is an unpaid public service 
contribution. 

 A councillor must not be paid more than one senior salary. 

 A councillor must not be paid a senior salary and a civic salary. 

 All senior and civic salaries are paid inclusive of basic salary. 

 If a council chooses to have more than one deputy leader, the difference 
between the senior salary for the deputy leader and other executive 
members should be divided by the number of deputy leaders and added to 

13Tudalen 90



the senior salary for other executive members in order to calculate the 
senior salary payable to each deputy leader. 

 The remuneration of council leaders and executive members (Band 1 and 
Band 2 senior salaries) is based on the Panel’s assumption that the roles 
are equivalent to full-time. 

 Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a 
salary from any NPA or FRA to which they have been nominated.

 The prescribed salary must be paid in full to each member unless an 
individual has independently and voluntarily opted in writing to the 
authority’s proper officer to forego all or any element of the payment. The 
term ‘member’ applies to any person elected or co-opted to the authority.

Supporting the work of local authority elected members 

3.24 The Panel noted with concern the wide variation and inconsistency of support 
provided to members to enable them to discharge their functions effectively. Some 
made a flat rate payment; some provided IT equipment and consumables, some 
provided funded telephones/mobiles and/or tablets. Others made little or no provision, 
and in at least one instance a deduction was made from basic salary. 

Determination (9) The Panel has determined that each authority must ensure 
that all its councillors are given as much support as is necessary to enable 
them to fulfil their duties effectively. All councillors should be provided with 
adequate telephone and email facilities and electronic access to appropriate 
information.

Determination (10) The Panel has determined that such support should be 
without cost to the individual elected member. Where such support is 
facilitated through additional payments through the council this should be for 
the actual amounts incurred and must be supported by appropriate receipts or 
invoices. Costs of support must be appropriate, reasonable and publicly 
declared. Deductions must not be made from members salaries by the 
respective authority as a contribution towards those support costs which the 
authority considers necessary for the effectiveness and/or efficiency of 
members.

3.25 The Panel expects that the support provided should take account of the specific 
needs of individual councillors. 

Reimbursement of travel, subsistence and care costs when on official authority 
business 

Reimbursement of travel costs 

3.26 The Panel has decided there will be no change to mileage rates that can be 
claimed for travel. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs for their members 
undertaking official business at current HMRC rates which are: 

14Tudalen 91



45p per mile Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car 

25p per mile Over 10,000 miles by car 

5p per passenger per mile Passenger supplement 

24p per mile Private motor cycles 

20p per mile bicycles 

Reimbursement of other travel and subsistence costs 

3.27 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts 
showing actual expense, and are subject to any requirement or further limitation that 
an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most 
cost effective method of travel.  

£28 per day Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not 
provided in the overnight charge 

£150 per night London overnight 

£95 per night Elsewhere overnight 

£25 per night Staying with friends and/or family 

3.28 The Panel has removed the particular rate for overnight stays in Cardiff. This 
brings payable rates in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice is 
that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on behalf of 
members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may set its own 
reasonable limits. 

3.29 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their 
members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted claims 
except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family. 

3.30 It is for the members of each council to determine its policy for when the 
reimbursement of mileage/travel costs are appropriate. If an authority has determined 
that costs are reasonable and in the discharge of official business then such costs 
may be reimbursed for journeys made within and/or outside the authority’s boundaries. 
The limits which apply when an individual member claims in arrears for overnight 
accommodation costs do not apply when the respective authority reserves and pays 
directly for accommodation. 

3.31 There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs 
within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive 
days. Where in such a case it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse overnight 
accommodation costs instead of repeated daily mileage costs then it is permissible to 
do so. 

3.32 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between 
different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour period and 
can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is accompanied by 
receipts. 

15Tudalen 92



Reimbursement of costs of care  

3.33 All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the 
care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a 
maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursements shall only be made on production of 
receipts from the carer. 

3.34 The reimbursement of costs of care allowance is intended to enable any person 
whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by their 
responsibilities as a carer. As a result of its 2013 consultation the Panel urges 
authorities to encourage greater take-up of this support to facilitate increased diversity 
amongst authority members. 

3.35 Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of 
the population that are currently under-represented on authorities but who may 
become engaged when awareness of the support available for the costs of care 
becomes more widely known.  

16Tudalen 93



4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC)

4.1 The Panel issued a Supplementary Report in July 2013 setting out the 
arrangements for the remuneration of chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and Sub committees. A copy of the Supplementary Report is at Annex 5 
for information. 

4.2 However, the level of the payments contained in that Report have been 
modified to align with the proposals relating to chairs of committees of principal 
councils set out in Section 3. 

The following determinations apply with effect from the commencement of this 
Annual Report: 

Determination (11a) The chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
eligible for a salary equivalent to that part of a Band 3 senior salary that 
remunerates a committee chair of a principal authority at one of the following 
levels: 

Level 1 – £8,700 
Level 2 – £6,700 
Level 3 – £4,700 

It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide at which level the salary 
for the chair should be set.

Determination (11b) In cases where the chair is already in receipt of a senior 
salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be at one of the following 
levels: 

Level 1 – £4,350 
Level 2 – £3,350 
Level 3 – £2,350 

It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide at which level the salary 
should be set.

Determination (11c) The chair of a sub committee of a Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee is eligible for a salary set at one of the following levels: 

Level 1 – £2,175  
Level 2 – £1,675 
Level 3 – £1,175 

It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide at which level the salary 
should be set.

17Tudalen 94



Determination (11d) In cases where the chair of the sub committee is already 
in receipt of a senior salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be at one 
of the following levels: 

Level 1 – £1,090 
Level 2 – £850 
Level 3 – £600 

It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide at which level the salary 
should be set.

Determination (11e) Payments to chairs of task and finish sub committees are 
to be pro rated to the duration of the task.

Determination (11f) Payments made to a chair of a JOSC or a chair of a sub 
committee of a JOSC are additional to the maximum proportion of the 
authority’s membership eligible for a senior salary. It should be noted that the 
statutory limit of no more than 50% of a council’s membership receiving a 
senior salary applies (section 142 (5) of the Measure). 

Determination (11g) A deputy chair of a JOSC or sub committee is not eligible 
for payment. 

Determination (11h) Co-optees to a JOSC or to a sub committee are not 
eligible for a co-opted member fee unless they are appointed by an authority 
under Section 144(5) of the Measure. 

4.3 It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide whether chairs of JOSCs 
(or sub committees of JOSCs) should be paid. However, if a senior salary is awarded 
it must comply with the determinations set out in this Section.

18Tudalen 95



5. Pension provision for elected members of principal 
councils

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 (“The Measure”) provides a power to 
the Panel to make determinations on pension entitlement for elected members of 
principal councils. 

Determination (12) The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) shall apply to all elected members of principal councils.

19Tudalen 96



6.  Payments to members of National Park authorities 

6.1 The visits made by the Panel to each NPA in 2011 produced valuable 
information that assisted in setting our previous determinations. The Panel repeated 
these visits in 2013 and once again met with chairs, members and officers gathering 
information and views about the application of the Panel’s framework in NPAs. 

6.2 Key points from the 2013 consultation that underpin the Panel’s determinations 
for NPA member remuneration in 2014/15 are that: 

 The functions of the National Parks have not materially changed since the 
Panel’s visits in 2011 except they are subject to significant financial 
pressures. Development control continues to be a key function.  

 NPA Members are drawn from two sources. Welsh Government appointees 
make up one third of the total of members, and two thirds are local authority 
members nominated by constituent authorities.  

 In addition standards committees of NPAs have co-opted members whose 
remuneration is included in the framework.  

 Welsh Government appointees and council nominated members are treated 
equally in relation to remuneration. A team-working ethos is promoted in 
NPAs to support a productive working relationship between members who 
have joined the authority through different routes.  

 NPAs manage their work via formal Authority meetings, committees and 
task and finish groups. Each has a Development /Management/ Planning 
Committee and other committees include Performance and Resources and 
Audit and Scrutiny. Ordinary NPA members are members of at least one 
committee as well as being involved in site visits and inspection panels. 

 NPAs encourage member ‘champions’ for different aspects of the work of 
the Authority.  

 There is an expectation that members will participate in training and 
development. Some NPAs reported issues of attendance from some 
members from principal authorities. Members are encouraged to take on 
their responsibilities with the support and encouragement of a member 
development process including mentoring in some instances. 

 Generally it was not thought that the level of remuneration was a factor in 
low attendance, but the option of a hybrid form of remuneration was raised, 
for example, an annual retainer and an attendance allowance for each 
meeting.  

 The chair of the NPA has a leadership and influencing role in the Authority, 
a representational role similar in some respects to that of a civic head and a 
high level of accountability especially when controversial issues arise that 
can lead to high exposure in local media. The chair is not only the leader of 
the Authority but is also the public face of the particular Park and the link 
with the Minister and with AMs with whom they have regular meetings. The 
role requires a high level of commitment and time.

20Tudalen 97



Basic and Senior Salaries  

6.3 The Panel has previously determined (in its 2011 Annual Report ) that the role 
of ordinary members of an NPA warranted alignment to the basic salary of a member 
of a principal authority and be paid for a time commitment of 42 days per year. The 
Panel has made no change to this level of remuneration beyond the application of the 
same percentage rise as applies to the basic salary for members of principal 
authorities. 

6.4 However, the Panel has reached the view that the current remuneration of NPA 
Chairs was too low in relation to the level of responsibility they carry. The Panel based 
its previous determination in 2011 on a multiple of the NPA basic salary that reflected 
the historical payments for this role prior to the Panel being given responsibility. The 
Panel has carefully reconsidered its previous determination and has concluded that 
the payment of an NPA chair should be set on the same basis as that of chairs of 
FRAs whereby the role of the chair has been aligned to that part of a Band 3 senior 
salary that remunerates a committee chair of a principal authority. Although this is a 
significant increase for the three NPA chairs involved it reflects what the Panel 
considers to be the appropriate payment for a role which has been previously under 
remunerated. 

6.5 The Panel’s determination in 2011 was that the size of the role of a deputy chair 
and a committee chair equated to two thirds of the chair’s role. In its 2013 consultation 
the Panel was told that the workload and level of responsibility of the chair of 
development control/planning was greater than that of some of the other committee 
chairs. Planning applications are often contentious. There can be high exposure in the 
media for the chair of the committee and a risk of reputational damage to the NPA. 
The workload of an NPA chair of development control was considered by some to be 
at least equal to the chair of planning in a principal authority. 

6.6 The Panel has therefore concluded that to provide local flexibility an NPA can 
decide at which of two levels the roles of deputy chair and other committee chairs can 
be remunerated. An NPA may choose to pay its deputy chair and/or committee chairs 
a salary of either a. £7,300, or b. £6,000 commensurate with the duties to be 
discharged in a particular role. 

The Panel has therefore determined that: 

Determination (13) The basic salary for NPA ordinary members should be 
£3,600 (42/156 x £13,300)

Determination (14) The senior salary of the chair of an NPA should be £12,300 
(£3,600 + £8,700)

21Tudalen 98



Determination (15) The senior salary of a deputy chair and chairs of NPA 
committees can be paid at either of the following levels to be decided by the 
authority to reflect the appropriate responsibility:  

Level 1: £7,300 (£3,600 + £3,700) 
Level 2: £6,000 (£3,600 + £2,400)

Determination (16) Members must not receive more than one NPA senior 
salary.

Determination (17) An NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic 
salary.

Determination (18) Members of principal local authorities in receipt of a Band 
1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they 
have been appointed.

Reimbursement of travel, subsistence and care costs when on official authority 
business 

Reimbursement of travel costs 

6.7 The Panel has decided there will be no change to mileage rates that can be 
claimed for travel. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs for their members 
undertaking official business at current HMRC rates which are: 

45p per mile Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car 

25p per mile Over 10,000 miles by car 

5p per passenger per mile Passenger supplement 

24p per mile Private motor cycles 

20p per mile bicycles 

Reimbursement of other travel and subsistence costs 

6.8 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts 
showing actual expense, and are subject to any requirement or further limitation that 
an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most 
cost effective method of travel. 

£28 per day Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not 
provided in the overnight charge 

£150 per night London overnight 

£95 per night Elsewhere overnight 

£25 per night Staying with friends and/or family 

22Tudalen 99



6.9 The Panel has removed the particular rate for overnight stays in Cardiff. This 
brings payable rates in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice is 
that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on behalf of 
members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may set its own 
reasonable limits. 

6.10 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their 
members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted claims 
except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family. 

6.11 It is for the members of each authority to determine its policy for when the 
reimbursement of mileage/travel costs are appropriate. If an authority has determined 
that costs are reasonable and in the discharge of official business then such costs 
may be reimbursed for journeys made within and/or outside the authority’s boundaries. 
The limits which apply when an individual member claims in arrears for overnight 
accommodation costs do not apply when the respective authority reserves and pays 
directly for accommodation. 

6.12 There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs 
within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive 
days. Where in such a case it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse overnight 
accommodation costs instead of repeated daily mileage costs then it is permissible to 
do so. 

6.13 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between 
different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour period and 
can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is accompanied by 
receipts. 

Reimbursement of costs of care 

6.14 All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the 
care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a 
maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursements shall only be made on production of 
receipts from the carer. 

6.15 The reimbursement of costs of care allowance is intended to enable any person 
whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by their 
responsibilities as a carer. Following its 2013 consultation the Panel urges authorities 
to encourage greater take-up of this support to facilitate increased diversity amongst 
authority members. 

6.16 Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of 
the population which may currently be under-represented on authorities but who may 
become engaged when awareness of the support available for the costs of care 
becomes more widely known. 

23Tudalen 100



7. Payments to members of Welsh fire and rescue 
authorities  

7.1 The visits made by the Panel to each FRA in 2011 produced valuable 
information that assisted in setting our previous determinations. The Panel repeated 
these visits in 2013 and once again met with chairs, members and officers gathering 
information and views about the application of the Panel’s framework in FRAs. 

7.2 Key points from the 2013 consultation that underpin the Panel’s determinations 
for FRA member remuneration in 2014/15 are that: 

The chair has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, a 
representational role similar in some respects to that of a civic head and a 
high level of accountability especially when controversial issues relating to 
the emergency service arise that can lead to high exposure in local media. 
The chair provides briefings to Minister and to AMs. Each FRA chair takes 
on a share of the duty of representing all 3 FRAs with bodies such as the 
WLGA. Chairs are involved in collaborative projects including the National 
Issues Committee, established since the last Panel visit in 2011. Chairs 
include regular visits to fire stations as part of their community engagement 
role.  

 Deputy chairs are required to be equally conversant with current issues as 
the chair and frequently have a similarly heavy meeting schedule. Chairs 
and deputy chairs work very closely together and frequently attend the same 
meetings. 

 The chair and the deputy chair may sit on Appeals Panels which require 
extra work and members may sit on disciplinary hearings.  

 In addition to Fire Authority meetings, all FRAs have committees that 
include in different combinations; audit, performance management, scrutiny, 
human resources, resource management as well as task and finish /working 
groups.

 In the Panel’s 2012 report all FRAs were allocated 4 SRAs that were 
payable to the chair, deputy chair and up to two committee chairs. 

 Members are often unaware of the level of commitment needed to fulfil their 
role before they accept appointment to the FRA. As well as formal meetings 
of the Authority and committees members are encouraged to take on a 
community engagement role including visiting fire stations. 

 There is a very strong training ethos in FRAs. Members are expected to 
participate in training and development. Training sessions are often added 
on to Authority meetings to make the training accessible. Induction 
programmes are available as well as specialist training for appeals and 
disciplinary hearings.  

24Tudalen 101



Basic and Senior Salaries 

7.3 The Panel has previously determined (in its 2011 Annual Report) that the role 
of ordinary members of a FRA warranted alignment to the basic salary of a member of 
a principal authority and be paid for a time commitment of 16 days per year. 
Information obtained during its 2013 consultation indicated that the time commitment 
required is actually in the region of 20 days per year.  

7.4 The Panel has previously determined in 2011 that the role of a FRA chair 
warranted remuneration to be aligned to that part of a Band 3 senior salary that 
remunerates a committee chair of a principal authority. The Panel considers that this 
alignment is still valid subject to the application of the same percentage rise as applies 
to the basic salary for members of principal authorities.  

7.5 The Panel has previously determined that the role of a FRA deputy chair where 
there is significant and sustained senior responsibility warranted alignment to that part 
of a Band 4 senior salary that remunerates a leader of an ‘other opposition group’ of a 
principal authority and that this also applied to the role of a FRA committee chair. In 
the revised framework in this report these roles will now be aligned with the new Band 
5 senior salary.  

The Panel has therefore determined that: 

Determination (19) The basic salary for FRA ordinary members should be 
£1,700 (20/156 x £13,300).

Determination (20) The senior salary of the chair of an FRA should be £10,400 
(£1,700 + £8,700).

Determination (21) The senior salary of a deputy chair and chairs of 
committees of FRAs should be £5,400 (£1,700 + £3,700).

Determination (22) Members must not receive more than one FRA senior 
salary

Determination (23) An FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic 
salary

Determination (24) Members of a principal local authority in receipt of a Band 
1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they 
have been nominated.

25Tudalen 102



Reimbursement of travel, subsistence and care costs when on official authority 
business 

Reimbursement of travel costs 

7.6 The Panel has decided there will be no change to mileage rates that can be 
claimed for travel. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs for their members 
undertaking official business at current HMRC rates which are: 

45p per mile Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car 

25p per mile Over 10,000 miles by car 

5p per passenger per mile Passenger supplement 

24p per mile Private motor cycles 

20p per mile bicycles 

Reimbursement of other travel and subsistence costs 

7.7 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts 
showing actual expense, and are subject to any requirement or further limitation that 
an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most 
cost effective method of travel. 

£28 per day Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not 
provided in the overnight charge 

£150 per night London overnight 

£95 per night Elsewhere overnight 

£25 per night Staying with friends and/or family 

7.8 The Panel has removed the particular rate for overnight stays in Cardiff. This 
brings payable rates in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice is 
that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on behalf of 
members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may set its own 
reasonable limits. 

7.9 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their 
members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted claims 
except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family. 

7.10 It is for the members of each authority to determine its policy for when the 
reimbursement of mileage/travel costs are appropriate. If an authority has determined 
that costs are reasonable and in the discharge of official business then such costs 
may be reimbursed for journeys made within and/or outside the authority’s boundaries. 
The limits which apply when an individual member claims in arrears for overnight 
accommodation costs do not apply when the respective authority reserves and pays 
directly for accommodation. 

26Tudalen 103



7.11 There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs 
within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive 
days. Where in such a case it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse overnight 
accommodation costs instead of repeated daily mileage costs then it is permissible to 
do so. 

7.12 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between 
different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour period and 
can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is accompanied by 
receipts. 

Reimbursement of costs of care  

7.13 All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the 
care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a 
maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursements shall only be made on production of 
receipts from the carer. 

7.14  The reimbursement of costs of care allowance is intended to enable any person 
whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by their 
responsibilities as a carer. Following its 2013 consultation the Panel urges authorities 
to encourage greater take-up of this support to facilitate increased diversity amongst 
authority members. 

7.15 Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of 
the population which may currently be under-represented on authorities but who may 
become engaged when awareness of the support available for the costs of care 
becomes more widely known. 

27Tudalen 104



8. Payments to co-opted members of local authorities9

8.1 During its 2013 consultation the Panel met with many co-opted members. The 
discussions elicited a variety of views relating to the payment for the roles that they 
undertake. Some argued for the previous arrangement of annual payments to be 
reinstated, others considered that a daily/half daily fee was a more reasonable 
approach. 

8.2 The Panel has also examined a hybrid system that would provide an annual 
retainer together with a reduced daily/half daily fee. 

8.3 Each of these has merits but equally each has implications which vary 
according to the specific arrangements of the authority. The annual payment which 
was the Panel’s determinations in 2010 had as its major disadvantage the wide 
variation between authorities in the number of meetings. This resulted in some 
co-opted members being paid an excessive amount for the call on their time, whereas 
others were not being fully rewarded for the number of meetings/events that they were 
required to attend. The hybrid system would present a difficulty in determining both the 
amount of the annual retainer and the level of the attendance fee; it would also result 
in some increase in administration.  

8.4 The Panel recognised that the current framework had matters that needed to be 
addressed to deal with inequities and dealt with this by issuing a Supplementary 
Report in August 2013 that set out revised determinations which the Panel considers 
have resolved many of the concerns raised by co-optees. 

8.5 It has therefore been concluded that the existing arrangements of a daily/half 
daily fee as amended is an appropriate approach to remunerating the important role 
undertaken by co-opted members of local authorities. The level of payments is 
equivalent to the current daily rates for chairs and members of the Welsh 
Government’s Band 2 sponsored bodies. 

8.6 The revised determinations for 2014/15 (incorporating those in the 
Supplementary Report) are set out below: 

Determination (25) Local authorities must pay the following fees to co-opted 
members (table 4) (who have voting rights).

Table 4: Fees for co-opted members (with voting rights) of local authorities 

Chairs of standards, and audit committees £256  
(4 hours and over) 
£128 (up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary members of standards committees who also chair 
standards committees for community and town councils. 

£226 daily fee  
(4 hours and over) 

9
This section does not apply to co optedmembers of town and community councils.

28Tudalen 105



£113 (up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary members of standards committees; education 
scrutiny committee; crime and disorder scrutiny committee 
and audit committee 

£198
(4 hours and over) 
£99 (up to 4 hours) 

Determination (26) Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is eligible to 
be included in claims made by co-opted members the extent of which can be 
determined by the appropriate officer in advance of the meeting. 

Determination (27) Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting can be 
included in the claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the 
maximum of the daily rate). 

Determination (28) The appropriate officer within the authority can determine 
in advance whether a meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will be 
paid on the basis of this determination even if the meeting finishes before four 
hours has elapsed. 

Determination (29) Meetings eligible for the payment of fee include other 
committees and working groups (including task and finish groups), pre-
meetings with officers, training and attendance at conferences or any other 
formal meeting to which co-opted members are requested to attend. 

Reimbursement of travel and subsistence costs 

8.7 The Panel has decided there will be no change to mileage rates that can be 
claimed for travel. All authorities may only reimburse travel costs for their members 
undertaking official business at current HMRC rates which are: 

45p per mile Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car 

25p per mile Over 10,000 miles by car 

5p per passenger per mile Passenger supplement 

24p per mile Private motor cycles 

20p per mile bicycles 

Reimbursement of other travel and subsistence costs 

8.8 All other claims for travel must only be reimbursed on production of receipts 
showing actual expense, and are subject to any requirement or further limitation that 
an authority may determine. Members should always be mindful of choosing the most 
cost effective method of travel. 

£28 per day Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not 
provided in the overnight charge 

29Tudalen 106



£150 per night London overnight 

£95 per night Elsewhere overnight 

£25 per night Staying with friends and/or family 

8.9 The Panel has removed the particular rate for overnight stays in Cardiff. This 
brings payable rates in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended practice is 
that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and paid for on behalf of 
members by the relevant authority, in which case an authority may set its own 
reasonable limits. 

8.10 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for their 
members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of receipted claims 
except for occasions when members stay with friends and/or family. 

8.11 It is for the members of each authority to determine its policy for when the 
reimbursement of mileage/travel costs are appropriate. If an authority has determined 
that costs are reasonable and in the discharge of official business then such costs 
may be reimbursed for journeys made within and/or outside the authority’s boundaries. 
The limits which apply when an individual member claims in arrears for overnight 
accommodation costs do not apply when the respective authority reserves and pays 
directly for accommodation. 

8.12 There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel costs 
within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive 
days. Where in such a case it is reasonable and cost effective to reimburse overnight 
accommodation costs instead of repeated daily mileage costs then it is permissible to 
do so. 

8.13 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) between 
different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers a 24 hour period and 
can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided such a claim is accompanied by 
receipts. 

Reimbursement of costs of care 

8.14 All authorities must provide for the reimbursement of necessary costs for the 
care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) up to a 
maximum of £403 per month. Reimbursements shall only be made on production of 
receipts from the carer. 

8.15  The reimbursement of costs of care allowance is intended to enable any person 
whose ability to participate as a member of an authority would be limited by their 
responsibilities as a carer. Following its 2013 consultation the Panel urges authorities 
to encourage greater take-up of this support to facilitate increased diversity amongst 
authority members. 

8.16 Such provision would be especially relevant to those individuals in sectors of 
the population which may currently be under-represented on authorities but who may 

30Tudalen 107



become engaged when awareness of the support available for the costs of care 
becomes more widely known. 

31Tudalen 108



9. Specific or additional senior salaries

9.1 In the course of the Panel’s 2013 consultation there were requests for greater 
flexibility such as including other roles for which senior salaries could be paid within 
the Remuneration Framework. For instance, a number of leaders requested changes 
to the Framework to include what they described as ‘development’, posts which they 
indicated would support and assist members of the executive. 

9.2 The Panel has considered this request for greater flexibility and has concluded 
that it would be most appropriately addressed by allowing authorities to apply for 
specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Remuneration 
Framework or which could not be accommodated within the maximum number of 
senior salaries relating to the authority.  

9.3 This process was operated previously by the Panel and provided opportunities 
for an authority to make a case to extend its scheme and its schedule of allowances to 
include a post or posts that it considers to be important and involves a significant, 
sustained and additional responsibility. 

Determination (30) The Panel has determined to formally introduce this 
provision into the Remuneration Framework

9.4 Guidance will be issued prior to the implementation of this Annual Report. 
However, the following principles will apply: 

a. The total number of senior salaries cannot exceed fifty percent10 of the 
membership. (applies to principal councils; different restrictions will apply to 
National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities). 

b. Applications will have to be approved by the authority as a whole (cannot be 
delegated). 

c. There must be clear evidence that the post/posts has additional 
responsibility demonstrated by a description of the role, function and 
duration. 

d. Each application will have to indicate the timing for a formal review of the 
role to be considered by the authority as a whole.  

10
 Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 section 142 (5) The proportion fixed by the Panel in 

accordance with subsection (4) may not exceed fifty percent unless the consent of the Welsh Ministers 
has been obtained. 

32Tudalen 109



10. Payments to members of community and town 
councils 

10.1 In its last Annual Report (December 2012) the Panel set out determinations for 
payments in respect of community and town councils resulting from the extension of 
its remit provided by the Measure in 2011. These came into effect for the financial year 
2013/2014, so it is too soon to establish the impact and any implications of these 
determinations. Therefore, there are no changes to the previous determinations 
(except for the deletion of a Cardiff rate in the overnight subsistence arrangements). 
The determinations are set out below. 

10.2 The Panel will be consulting further prior to its next Annual Report. 

10.3 The Panel has determined that: 

Determination (31) Community and town councils are authorised to make a 
payment to each of their members of a maximum amount of £100 per year for 
costs incurred in respect of telephone usage, information technology, 
consumables etc.

Determination (32) Community and town councils are authorised to make 
payments to each of their members in respect of travel costs for attending 
approved duties outside the area of the council. Such payments must be the 
actual costs of travel by public transport or the HMRC mileage allowances as 
below: 

45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year. 

25p per mile over 10,000 miles. 

5p per passenger per mile – passenger supplement. 

24p per mile for private motor cycles. 

20p per mile for bicycles. 

Determination (33) Community and town councils are authorised to reimburse 
subsistence expenses to their members for attending approved duties outside 
the area of the council at the maximum rates set out below on the basis of 
receipted claims: 

£28 per day allowance for meals, including breakfast where not provided in 
the overnight.

£150 – London overnight.

£95 – elsewhere overnight.

£25 – staying with friends and/or family.

33Tudalen 110



Determination (34) Community and town councils are authorised to pay an 
Attendance Allowance11 to each of their members for attending approved 
duties outside the area of the council as follows: 

£16.23 for a period not exceeding 4 hours.

£32.46 for a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours.

Determination (35) Community and town councils are authorised to pay a 
Financial Loss Allowance12 to each of their members where such loss has 
actually occurred, for attending approved duties outside the area of the council 
as follows: 

£30.05 for a period not exceeding 4 hours. 

£60.11 for a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours. 

£60.11 plus such amount as is payable under (a) and (b) above as 

appropriate for a period exceeding 24 hours.

Determination (36) Community and town councils are authorised to provide a 
civic allowance to the mayor/chair and deputy mayor/chair of the council of an 
amount that they deem appropriate to undertake the functions of that office.

Note (for information): The Principal Councils (Allowances for Members of 
Community Councils) (Wales) Regulations 2003 were revoked with effect from 
1st April 2013.

10.4 For clarity, determinations 31 to 36 are permissive powers that require a formal 
decision by each community or town council. But where a community and town council 
makes such a decision, it must apply to all its members at the levels determined. An 
individual member may make a personal decision to elect to forgo part or all of the 
entitlement to any of these allowances by giving notice in writing to the proper officer 
of the council. 

11
 Set out in the Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Community Councils)(Wales) 

Regulations 2003 SI No. 895 (W.115). Rate is frozen as the index stipulated in the Regulations for 
calculating the percentage annual increase “the Average Male Non-Manual Wage for Wales” has 
become obsolete. 
12

 Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Community Councils)(Wales) regulations 2003. 

34Tudalen 111



35

11. Compliance with Panel requirements 

The Panel’s remit under the Measure 

11.1 Section 153 of the Measure empowers the Panel to require a relevant 
authority13 to comply with the requirements imposed on it by a Panel Annual Report 
and further enables the Panel to monitor the compliance of relevant authorities with 
the Panel’s determinations.  

11.2 A relevant authority must implement the Panel’s determinations in this report 
from the date of its annual meeting. 

Monitoring compliance 

11.3 The Panel will monitor the compliance with the determinations in this Annual 
Report by all relevant authorities against the following requirements: 

(i) A relevant authority must maintain an annual Schedule of Member 
Remuneration (IRPW Regulations 4 & 5). Guidance at Annex 3 sets out 

the content which must be included in the Schedule. 

(ii) A relevant authority must make arrangements for the Schedule’s 
publication within the authority area (IRPW Regulation 46) and send the 
Schedule to the Panel as soon as practicable and not later than 31 July 
in the year to which it applies. Annex 4 provides further details of the 
publicity requirements. 

(iii) Any amendments to the Schedule made during the year must be 
conveyed to the Panel as soon as possible after the amendment is 
made. 

Note: The above requirements do not apply to community and town 
councils at this time.

(v) A relevant authority must make arrangements for publication within the 
authority area of the total sum paid by it to each member and co-opted 
member in respect of salary (basic, senior and civic), allowances, fees 
and reimbursements (in accordance with Annex 4 that sets out the 
content that must be included in the Publicity Requirements) as soon as 
practicable and no later than 30 September following the close of the 
year to which it relates. 

13
 Interpretation of “Relevant Authority” provided in the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

(IRPW) Regulations, Part 1, ‘Interpretation’. 

Tudalen 112



Annex 1: The Panel’s determinations 2014/15 

(1) The Panel has concluded that it is now appropriate for basic salary levels in 

2014/15 for members of principal local authorities to be raised from £13,175 to 
£13,300.

(2) The Panel has concluded that differentials in remuneration between different 

sized authorities for these key roles should be narrowed (see Table 2 above). 

(3) The Panel has determined that each individual authority, regardless of 
population size, may choose to pay committee chairs at a Band 3 senior salary of 
either a. £22,000, or b. £20,000 or c. £18,000 commensurate with the duties to be 
discharged in a particular role.  

(4) The Panel has therefore determined to pay the leader of the largest opposition 

group at Level 1 of a Band 3 senior salary. 

(5) The Panel has determined that a Band 5 senior salary of £17,000 is available 
for leaders of other political groups. 

(6) Having regard to the time, role and senior responsibilities of civic heads and 

deputy civic heads, the Panel has determined that (where paid) civic salaries within 
the following levels are payable (table 3) and will be applied by authorities as each 
considers appropriate, taking account of the anticipated workloads and 
responsibilities. 

(7) The Panel has determined that, where appointed, a presiding member will be 

remunerated at the appropriate level of a Band 3 senior salary as decided by the 
council. This post will count towards the cap. 

(8) The Panel has determined that the post of deputy presiding member will not be 

remunerated. 

(9) The Panel has determined that each authority must ensure that all its 
councillors are given as much support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their 
duties effectively. All councillors should be provided with adequate telephone and 
email facilities and electronic access to appropriate information. 

(10) The Panel has determined that such support should be without cost to the 
individual elected member. Where such support is facilitated through additional 
payments through the council this should be for the actual amounts incurred and must 
be supported by appropriate receipts or invoices. Costs of support must be 
appropriate, reasonable and publicly declared. Deductions must not be made from 
members salaries by the respective authority as a contribution towards those support 
costs which the authority considers necessary for the effectiveness and/or efficiency of 
members. 

(11a) The chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee is eligible for a salary 

equivalent to that part of a Band 3 senior salary that remunerates a committee chair of 
a principal authority at one of the following levels: 

36Tudalen 113



Level 1 – £8,700. 

Level 2 – £6,700. 

Level 3 – £4,700. 

It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide at which level the salary for the 
chair should be set. 

(11b) In cases where the chair is already in receipt of a senior salary for a Band 3, 4 

or 5 role the payment will be at one of the following levels: 

Level 1 – £4,350. 

Level 2 – £3,350. 

Level 3 – £2,350. 

It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide at which level the salary should 
be set. 

(11c) The chair of a sub committee of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 

eligible for a salary set at one of the following levels: 

Level 1 – £2,175. 

Level 2 – £1,675. 

Level 3 – £1,175. 

It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide at which level the salary should 
be set. 

(11d) In cases where the chair of the sub committee is already in receipt of a senior 

salary for a Band 3, 4 or 5 role the payment will be at one of the following levels: 

Level 1 – £1,090. 

Level 2 – £850. 

Level 3 – £600. 

It is a matter for the constituent authorities to decide at which level the salary should 
be set. 

(11e) Payments to chairs of task and finish sub committees are to be pro rated to the 

duration of the task. 

(11f) Payments made to a chair of a JOSC or a chair of a sub committee of a JOSC 
are additional to the maximum proportion of the authority’s membership eligible for a 
senior salary. It should be noted that the statutory limit of no more than 50% of a 
council’s membership receiving a senior salary applies (section 142 (5) of the 
Measure). 

(11g) A deputy chair of a JOSC or sub committee is not eligible for payment. 

37Tudalen 114



(11h) Co-optees to a JOSC or to a sub committee are not eligible for a co-opted 
member fee unless they are appointed by an authority under Section 144(5) of the 
Measure. 

(12) The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) shall 
apply to all elected members of principal councils. 

(13) The basic salary for NPA ordinary members should be £3,600 

(42/156 x £13,300). 

(14) The senior salary of the chair of an NPA should be £12,300 (£3,600 + £8,700). 

(15) The senior salary of a deputy chair and chairs of NPA committees can be paid 
at either of the following levels to be decided by the authority to reflect the appropriate 
responsibility: 

Level 1: £7,300 (£3,600 + £3,700). 

Level 2: £6,000 (£3,600 + £2,400). 

(16) Members must not receive more than one NPA senior salary. 

(17) An NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic salary. 

(18) Members of principal local authorities in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior 

salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they have been appointed. 

(19) The basic salary for FRA ordinary members should be £1,700 (20/156 x 
£13,300). 

(20) The senior salary of the chair of an FRA should be £10,400 (£1700 + £8,700). 

(21) The senior salary of a deputy chair and chairs of committees of FRAs should be 

£5,400 (£1,700 + £3,700). 

(22) Members must not receive more than one FRA senior salary. 

(23) An FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic salary. 

(24) Members of a principal local authority in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior 
salary cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they have been nominated. 

(25) Local authorities must pay the following fees to co-opted members (table 4) 

(who have voting rights). 

(26) Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is eligible to be included in claims 
made by co-opted members the extent of which can be determined by the appropriate 
officer in advance of the meeting. 

38Tudalen 115



(27) Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting can be included in the 
claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the maximum of the daily 
rate).

(28) The appropriate officer within the authority can determine in advance whether a 
meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will be paid on the basis of this 
determination even if the meeting finishes before four hours has elapsed. 

(29) Meetings eligible for the payment of fee include other committees and working 
groups (including task and finish groups), pre-meetings with officers, training and 
attendance at conferences or any other formal meeting to which co-opted members 
are requested to attend. 

(30) The Panel has determined to formally introduce this provision into the 

Remuneration Framework. 

(31) Community and town councils are authorised to make a payment to each of 
their members of a maximum amount of £100 per year for costs incurred in respect of 
telephone usage, information technology, consumables etc. 

(32) Community and town councils are authorised to make payments to each of their 
members in respect of travel costs for attending approved duties outside the area of 
the council. Such payments must be actual costs of travel by public transport or the 
HMRC mileage allowances as below: 

 45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year. 

 25p per mile over 10,000 miles. 

 5p per passenger per mile – passenger supplement. 

 24p per mile for private motor cycles. 

 20p per mile for bicycles  

(33) Community and town councils are authorised to reimburse subsistence 

expenses to their members for attending approved duties outside the area of the 
council at the maximum rates set out below on the basis of receipted claims: 

 £28 per day allowance for meals, including breakfast where not provided 
overnight. 

 £150 – London overnight. 

 £95 – elsewhere overnight. 

 £25 – overnight staying with friends and/or family. 

39Tudalen 116



(34) Community and town councils are authorised to pay an Attendance 
Allowance14 to each of their members for attending approved duties outside the area 
of the council as follows: 

£16.23 for a period not exceeding 4 hours. 

 £32.46 for a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours. 

(35) Community and town councils are authorised to pay a Financial Loss 
Allowance15 to each of their members where such loss has actually occurred, for 
attending approved duties outside the area of the council as follows: 

 £30.05 for a period not exceeding 4 hours. 

 £60.11 for a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours. 

 £60.11 plus such amount as is payable under (a) and (b) as appropriate. 

(36) Community and town councils are authorised to provide a civic allowance to the 
mayor/chair and deputy mayor/chair of the council of an amount that they deem 
appropriate to undertake the functions of that office. 

14
 Set out in the Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Community Councils)(Wales) 

Regulations 2003 SI No. 895 (W.115). Rate is frozen as the index stipulated in the Regulations for 
calculating the percentage annual increase “the Average Male Non-Manual Wage for Wales” has 
become obsolete. 
15

 Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Community Councils)(Wales) regulations 2003. 

40Tudalen 117



Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
(IRPW) Regulations for the remuneration of members and 
co-opted members of relevant authorities  

Introduction 

Part 8 (sections 141 to 160) and schedules 2 and 3 of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 (the Measure) set out the arrangements for the payments and pensions 
for members of relevant authorities and the functions and responsibilities of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales. 

The powers contained in part 8 and schedules 2 and 3 have replaced the following 
Statutory Instruments:  

 The Principal councils (Allowances for Members of County and 
County Borough Councils and National Park Authorities) (Wales) 
Regulations 2002 (No. 1895 (W.196)). 

 The Principal councils (Allowances for Members of Fire Authorities) (Wales) 
Regulations 2004 (No. 2555 (W.227)). 

 The Principal councils (Allowances for Members) (Wales) Regulations 2007 
(No.1086 (W.115)). 

The Measure also has replaced the sections of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000 relating 
to payments to councillors in Wales. 

Allowances for members of community and town councils are set out in Part 5 of these 
Regulations. The Principal councils (Allowances for Members of Community Councils) 
(Wales) Regulations 2003 (No. 895(W.115)) was revoked from 1st April 2013.  

Part 1 

General 

1. a. The short title of these Regulations is: “IRPW Regulations”. 

b. The IRPW Regulations came into force on 1 April 2012. The implementation 
date for each of the relevant authorities is set out in the Annual Report or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

c. Authorities are required to produce a schedule of payments to members and 
co-opted members no later than the 31st July each year, for submission to 
the Panel and publication (see paragraph 46).  

41Tudalen 118



Interpretation 

2. In the IRPW Regulations: 

 “The 1972 Act” means the Local Government Act 1972. 

 “The 2000 Act” means the Local Government Act 2000. 

“Allowance” means the actual or maximum amount which may be 
reimbursed to members and co-opted members of a relevant authority for 
expenses necessarily incurred when carrying out the official business of the 
relevant authority. 

 “Annual report” means a report produced by the Panel in accordance with 
section 145 of the Measure. 

 “Approved duty” in relation to community and town councils has the 
meaning as set out in Part 5 of these Regulations. 

 “Attendance Allowance” in relation to community or town councils has the 
meaning set out in Part 5 of these Regulations. 

“Authority” means a relevant authority in Wales as defined in Section 144(2) 
of the Measure, and includes a local authority (county or county borough 
council), a National Park authority and a Welsh fire and rescue authority, a 
community or town council. 

 “Basic Salary” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 6 of these 
regulations, and may be qualified as “LA Basic Salary” to refer to the 
Basic Salary of a member of a principal council; “NPA Basic Salary” to refer 
to the Basic Salary of a member of a National Park authority; and “FRA 
Basic Salary” to refer to the Basic Salary of a member of a Welsh fire and 
rescue authority. 

 “Care allowance” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 21 of these 
regulations. 

 “Civic Head” is the person elected by the council to carry out the functions of 
the chair of that council and is designated as mayor or chair. 

 “Committee” includes a sub-committee. 

 “Community or town council” means in relation to Part 8 of the Measure, that 
as set out in Part 7 of the Measure. 

 “Consultation draft” means the draft of a Panel annual report under Section 
146 (7) or 147(8) of the Measure, representations on which must be taken 
into account by the Panel. 

 “Constituent authority” – for National Park authorities this is a local authority 
falling within the area of a National Park authority; for Welsh fire and rescue 
authorities it is a local authority falling within the area of a fire and rescue 
authority. 

 “Controlling group” means a political group in a local authority where any of 
its members form part of the executive. 

42Tudalen 119



“Co-opted Member” has the meaning contained in section 144 (5) of the 
Measure, that is those with the right to vote on matters within the purview of 
the committee on which they serve. 

 “Co-opted Member fee” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 19 of 
these regulations. 

 “Democratic Services Committee” means the local authority committee 
established under section 11 of the Measure. 

 “Deputy Civic Head” is a person elected by the council to deputise for the 
mayor or chair of that council. 

“Executive” means the executive of an authority in a form as specified in 
sections 11(2) to (5) of the 2000 Act, as amended by section 34 of the 
Measure. 

 “Executive arrangements” has the meaning given by section 10(1) of the 
2000 Act. 

 “Family absence” as defined in Section 142 (2)(b) of the Measure has the 
meaning given to it by Part 2 of the Measure. 

“Financial Loss Allowance in relation to community or town councils has the 
meaning as set out in Part 5 of the Regulations. 

 “Fire and rescue authority” means an authority constituted by a scheme 
under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to 
which section 4 of that Act applies. 

 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee means a committee or sub 
committee set up by two or more principal councils under the Local Authority 
(Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2013.  

 “Largest opposition group” means a political group other than a controlling 
group which has a greater number of members than any other political 
group in the authority. 

 “Local authority” means a county or county borough council. 

 “Member” means in respect of a local authority or a community or town 
council a person who has been elected to serve as a councillor for that 
authority; for a National Park authority means a member appointed by a 
constituent authority and also a person appointed by Welsh Ministers; for 
Welsh fire and rescue authorities means a member appointed by a 
constituent authority. 

 “National Park authority” means a National Park authority established under 
section 63 of the Environment Act 1995. 

 “Official business” has the meaning contained in Section 142 (10) of the 
Measure in relation to the payment of allowances for care, travel and 
subsistence as reimbursement of expenses necessarily incurred by 
members and co-opted members of a relevant authority (excluding 
community and town councils) when: 

43Tudalen 120



a. Attending a meeting the authority or any committee of the authority or 
any body to which the authority makes appointments or nominations or 
of any committee of such a body. 

b. Attending a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 
authority is a member. 

c. Attending a meeting the holding of which is authorised by the authority or 
by a committee of the authority or by a joint committee of the authority 
and one or more other authorities. 

d. Attending any training or development event approved by the authority or 
its executive. 

e. A duty undertaken for the purpose of or in connection with the discharge 
of the functions of an executive within the meaning of Part 2 of the 
2000 Act, as amended.  

f. A duty undertaken in pursuance of a standing order which requires a 
member or members to be present when tender documents are opened. 

g. A duty undertaken in connection with the discharge of any function of the 
authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises. 

h. A duty undertaken by members of Principal councils in connection with 
constituency or ward responsibilities which arise from the discharge of 
local authority functions. 

i. Any other duty approved by the authority, or any duty of class so 
approved, undertaken for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 
discharge of the functions of the authority or any of its committees. 

 “Other political group” means a political group other than a controlling 
group or the largest opposition group (if any) which comprises not less 
than ten per cent of the members of that authority. 

 “Overview and Scrutiny Committee” means a committee of the authority 
which has the powers set out in sections 21(2) and (3) of the 2000 Act, as 
amended by Part 6 of the Measure.  

 “Panel” means the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales as set out in 
section 141(1) and schedule 2 of the Measure. 

 “Principal council” means a county or county borough council 

 “Proper officer” has the same meaning as in section 270(3) of the 1972 Act. 

 “Relevant authority” is set out in Section 144(2) of the Measure and, for the 
purposes of these Regulations, includes a local authority/principal council, a 
community or town council, a National Park authority and a Welsh fire and 
rescue authority. 

 “Relevant matters” are as defined in Section 142(2) of the Measure. 

 “Schedule” means a list setting out the authority’s decisions in respect of 
payments to be made during the year (as relating to that authority) to all 
members and co-opted members of that authority. 

44Tudalen 121



“Senior Salary” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 11 of these 
regulations and may be qualified as “Local Authority/Principal council Senior 
Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a member of a principal council; 
“National Park Senior Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a member of a 
National Park authority; or “Fire and Rescue authority Senior Salary” to refer 
to the senior salary of a member of a Fire and Rescue authority. 

 “Supplementary report” has the meaning contained in section 146(4 to 8) of 
the Measure. 

“Travelling and subsistence allowance” has the same meaning as set out in 
paragraph 25 of these regulations. 

 “Year” has the following meanings: 

“financial year” – the period of twelve months ending 31 March; 

“calendar year” – the period of twelve months ending 31 December;  

“municipal year” – the year commencing on the date of the annual meeting of 
the local authority and ending the day before the annual meeting of the 
following year; for National Park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue 
authorities it is the period of up to twelve months following the annual meeting 
of the authority. 

Part 2: Schedule of member/co-opted member remuneration  

Commencement of Term of Office 

3. The term of office of:  

 A Member of a local authority or community or town council begins on the 
date which that member makes a declaration of acceptance of that office 
under section 83(1) of the 1972 Act. 

 A councillor member of a National Park authority begins on the date on 
which that member is appointed as such by a constituent authority and the 
term of office of a Welsh Government appointed member begins on the date 
of that appointment. The term of office of the Chair and Deputy Chair of the 
National Park authority begins on the date of election by that authority to 
that office. 

 A councillor member of a Welsh fire and rescue authority begins on the date 
on which that member is appointed as such by a constituent authority and 
the term of office of the Chair and Deputy Chair of the fire and rescue 
authority begins on the date of election by that authority to that office. 

 A co-opted Member of a relevant authority begins on the date of 
appointment by the relevant authority. 

45Tudalen 122



Schedule of member remuneration (the Schedule) (Does not apply to community 
or town councils – see Part 5) 

4. An authority must produce annually, a schedule of payments it intends to make 
to its members and co-opted members. The amount of those payments must accord 
with the Panel’s determinations made for that year in its Annual or Supplementary 
Reports. The Schedule must be produced no later than four weeks following the 
annual meeting of the authority. 

Amendment to the Schedule  

5. An authority may amend the Schedule at any time during the year (as relating 
to the authority) provided that such amendments accord with the Panel’s 
determinations for that year. 

Basic salary 

6. An authority must provide for the payment of a basic salary, as determined by 
the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports, to each of its members. The 
amount of the salary must be the same for each member. For Principal councils only, 
this salary remains payable during a period of family absence. 

7. A member may not receive more than one Basic Salary from a relevant 
authority, but a member of one relevant authority may receive a further Basic Salary 
by being appointed as a member of another relevant authority (except in the case as 
indicated in paragraph 16). 

8. The amount of the Basic Salary will be set in accordance with section 142(3) of 
the Measure and will be one of the following: 

 The amount the authority must pay to a member of the authority. 

 The maximum amount that the authority may pay to a member of the 
authority. 

9. Where the term of office of a member begins or ends other than at the 
beginning or end of the year (as relating to the authority), the entitlement of that 
member is to such proportion of the basic salary as the number of days during which 
the member’s term of office subsists during that year bears to the number of days in 
that year. 

10. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member of 
an authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the part of the Basic Salary payable to that 
member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which that member is 
suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the authority (Section 155(1) of 
the Measure).

Senior salary 

11. Subject to paragraphs 12 to 18 an authority can make payments of a 
senior salary to members that it has given specific responsibilities. Such payments 

46Tudalen 123



must accord with the Panel’s determination for the year (as relating to the authority) 
that the payments are made and must be set out in the Schedule of that authority. For 
principal councils only, a senior salary will remain payable during the family absence 
of the office holder. 

12. The Panel will prescribe in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the following: 

 The categories of members eligible for the payment of a senior salary which 
may not be the same for all authorities or categories of authorities. 

The discretion available to authorities in relation to the payment of 
senior salaries which may not be the same for all authorities or categories of 
authorities. 

13. The amount of the senior salaries payable will be in accordance with 
section 142(3) of the Measure and specify. 

 The amount that a relevant authority must pay to a member of the authority. 

 The maximum amount that a relevant authority may pay to a member of the 
authority. 

14. The Senior Salary will comprise an amalgam of the basic salary and an 
additional amount for the relevant specific responsibility determined by the Panel in its 
Annual or Supplementary Reports. This may not be the same for all authorities or 
categories of authorities. 

15. The Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports will determine either the 
maximum proportion of its membership or the total number of members that an 
authority can pay as senior salaries. The percentage may not exceed fifty percent 
without the express approval of Welsh Ministers (Section 142(5) of the Measure). For 
Principal councils only, the maximum proportion or number may be exceeded to 
include payment of a senior salary to an additional member who is appointed to 
provide temporary cover for the family absence of a senior salary office holder (subject 
to the 50% limit). For National Park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue authorities 
senior salary payments will be restricted to specified post-holders as determined by 
the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. 

15(a) Payments to chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Sub 
Committees are additional to the maximum proportion of its membership that an 
authority can pay as senior salaries subject to the overall maximum of fifty percent as 
contained in Section 142(5) of the Measure. The Panel will determine the amounts of 
such payments in an Annual or Supplementary Report. 

16. An authority must not pay more than one senior salary to any member. A 
principal council member in receipt of a senior salary as leader or executive member 
of a local authority (determined as full-time by the Panel) may not receive a second 
salary as a member appointed to serve on a National Park authority or a Welsh fire 
and rescue authority. 

47Tudalen 124



16(a). Paragraph 16 does not apply to payments made to a chair of a Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee who is in receipt of a senior salary for a 
role that is not classified as full time equivalent. It continues to apply to leaders or 
members of the executive.  

17. Where a member does not have, throughout the year specific responsibilities 
that allow entitlement to a senior salary, that member’s payment is to be such 
proportion of the salary as the number of days during which that member has such 
special responsibility bears to the number of days in that year. 

18. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member of 
the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make payments of 
the member’s senior salary for the duration of the suspension (Section 155(1) of the 
Measure) If the partial suspension relates only to the specific responsibility element of 
the payment, the member may retain the basic salary. 

Co-opted member payment 

19. A relevant authority must provide for the payment of a fee to a co-opted 
member as determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. In 
relation to this regulation co-opted member means a member as determined in 
Section 144(5) of the Measure and set out in paragraph 2 of these regulations. 

20. Where a co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from an 
authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make payment of a 
co-opted member fee for the duration of the suspension (Section 155(1) of the 
Measure). 

Allowances 

Care allowances 

21. Authorities must provide for the payment to members and co-opted members of 
an authority an allowance (“care allowance”) in respect of such expenses of arranging 
the care of children or dependants as are necessarily incurred in carrying out official 
business as a member or co-opted member of that authority. Payments under this 
paragraph must not be made: 

 In respect of any child over the age of fifteen years or dependant unless the 
member/co-opted member satisfies the authority that the child or dependant 
required supervision which has caused the member to incur expenses that 
were necessary in respect of the care of that child or dependant in the 
carrying out of the duties of a member or co-opted member. 

 To more than one member/co-opted member of the authority in relation to 
the care of the same child or dependant. 

 Of more than one care allowance to a member or co-opted member of the 
authority who is unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the authority 
that the member/co-opted member has to make separate arrangements for 
the care of different children or dependants. 

48Tudalen 125



22. The maximum amount of the care allowance payable by an authority is to be 
determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports.

23. Where a member/co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from 
being a member or co-opted member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) 
the part of the care allowance payable to that member/co-opted member in receipt of 
the responsibilities or duties from which that member/co-opted member is suspended 
or partially suspended must be withheld by the authority (Section 155(1) of the 
Measure). 

24. An authority’s Schedule must stipulate the maximum amount of the care 
allowance payable each month and its arrangements for making claims, taking full 
account of the Panel’s determinations in this respect. 

Travel and subsistence allowances 

25. Subject to paragraphs 26 and 27 below a member or co-opted member is 
entitled to receive payments from the authority by way of travelling and subsistence 
allowances at rates determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. 
Such allowances are in respect of expenditure incurred by a member or co-opted 
member in the performance of the official business of the authority. 

(Paragraphs 26 & 27 apply only to Principal councils) 

26. Payment of a subsistence allowance to a local authority member for the 
performance of official business within the boundaries of a county or county borough 
where s/he is a member should only be made when the authority is satisfied that it can 
be justified on economic grounds. This does not apply in respect of co-opted members 
of a local authority who live outside that authority. 

27. A local authority may make provision, subject to any limitations it thinks fit,
for members to claim mileage expenses for official business in connection with 
constituency or ward responsibilities where they arise out of the discharge of the 
functions of the county or county borough. 

28. Where a member or co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended 
from being a member or co-opted member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act 
refers), travelling and subsistence allowances payable to that member/co-opted 
member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which that member is 
suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the authority (Section 155(1) 
of the Measure). 

Part 3: Further Provisions 

Pensions 

29. Under Section 143 of the Measure, the Panel may make determinations in 
respect of pension arrangements for local authority members in its Annual or 
Supplementary Reports. Such determinations may: 

49Tudalen 126



Describe the description of members for whom a local authority will be 
required to pay a pension. 

 Describe the relevant matters in respect of which a local authority will be 
required to pay a pension. 

 Make different decisions for different principal councils. 

Allowances to support the function of a local authority member 

30. A local authority must provide for the requirements of a member to undertake 
their role and responsibilities more effectively. The way in which this support should be 
provided is determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. 

Payment of expenses for official and courtesy visits 

31. The arrangements contained in Section 176 of the Local Government Act 1972 
will continue to apply but no payment may be made to a person under that 
arrangement when a payment has been made to that person pursuant to any payment 
made under these regulations. 

Arrangements in relation to Family Absence 

32. Part 2 of the Measure sets out the rights of local authority members in relation 
to family absence. The Panel will set out its determinations and the administrative 
arrangements in relation to the payment of salaries and allowances by Principal 
councils in this respect in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. 

Part 4: Salaries, allowances or fees 

Repayment of salaries, allowances or fees 

33. An authority must require that such part of a salary, allowance or fee be repaid 
where payment has already been made in respect of any period during which the 
member or co-opted member concerned: 

 Is suspended or partially suspended from that member’s/co-opted member’s 
duties or responsibilities in accordance with Part 3 of the 2000 Act or 
regulations made under that Act. 

 Ceases to be a member or co-opted member of the authority. 

 Or in any way is not entitled to receive a salary, allowance or fee in respect 
of that period. 

Forgoing salaries, allowances or fees 

34. Under Section 154 of the Measure, any member or co-opted member may by 
notice in writing to the proper officer of the authority elect to forgo any part of their 
entitlement to a salary, allowance or fee under the determination of the Panel for that 
particular year (as relating to the authority). 

50Tudalen 127



Part 5: Specific provisions relating to community and town councils 
(“the council”) 

Interpretation 

35. For the purposes of this Part the term member means both an elected member 
and a co-opted member. 

Allowances 

36. Allowances: 

a) The council can if it so determines make an annual payment to members in 
respect of costs incurred in carrying out the role of a member. The 
maximum amount payable will be set out in the Annual or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

b) The council can if it so determines make payments to members in respect of 
costs of travel for attending approved duties outside the area of the council. 
The amounts claimable will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary 
Report of the Panel. 

c) The council can if it so determines reimburse subsistence expenses to its 
members when attending approved duties outside the area of the council. 
The arrangements for reimbursement will be set out in the Annual or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

d) The council can if it so determines pay an Attendance Allowance to its 
members for attending approved duties outside the area of the council. The 
Allowance will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the 
Panel. 

e) The council can if it so determines pay a Financial Loss Allowance to its 
members where such loss has occurred for attending approved duties 
outside the area of the council. The Allowances will be set out in the Annual 
or Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

f) The council can if it so determines pay an allowance to the chair or mayor of 
the council for the purposes of undertaking the role of that office. The 
allowance will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary Report of the 
Panel. 

37. A member is not entitled to more than one Attendance Allowance in respect of 
any period of 24 hours or if that member claims a Financial Loss Allowance for the 
same period. 

38. A member may elect to forgo any part of an entitlement to an allowance under 
these Regulations by giving notice in writing to the proper officer of the council. 

39. A member making a claim for Attendance or Financial Loss Allowance must 
sign a statement that the member has not made and will not make any other claim in 
respect of the matter to which the claim relates. 

51Tudalen 128



40 “Approved Duty” under this Part means: 

i. Attendance at a meeting of the council or of any committee or sub-
committee of the council or of any other body to which the council makes 
appointments or nominations or of any committee or sub-committee of such 
a body. 

ii. Attendance at any other meeting the holding of which is authorised by the 
council or a committee or sub-committee of the council, or a joint committee 
of the council and one or more councils, or a sub-committee of such a joint 
committee provided that at least two members of the council have been 
invited and where the council is divided into political groupings at least two 
such groups have been invited. 

iii. Attendance at a meeting of any association of councils of which the council 
is a member. 

iv. Attendance at any training or development event approved by the council. 

v. Any other duty approved the council or duty of a class approved by the 
council for the discharge of its functions or any of its committees or 
sub-committees. 

Part 6: Miscellaneous 

Arrangements for payments 

41. The Schedule of an authority must set out the arrangements for the payment of 
salaries, allowances and fees to all members and co-opted members of that authority. 
Such payments may be made at such times and at such intervals as determined by 
the authority.

Claims 

42. An authority must specify a time limit from the date on which an entitlement to 
travelling or subsistence allowance arises during which a claim for those allowances 
must be made by the person to whom they are payable. However, this does not 
prevent an authority from making a payment where the allowance is not claimed within 
the period specified. 

43. Any claim for payment of travelling or subsistence allowance in accordance with 
these regulations (excluding claims for travel by private motor vehicle) shall be 
accompanied by appropriate receipts proving actual expenses.

Avoidance of duplication 

44. A claim for a payment of travelling allowance or subsistence allowance must 
include, or be accompanied by, a statement signed by the member or co-opted 
member that the member/co-opted member has not made and will not make any other 
claim in respect of the matter to which the claim relates. 

52Tudalen 129



Records of salaries, allowances and fees 

45. An authority must keep a record of the payments made in accordance with 
these regulations. Such record must: 

 Specify the name of the recipient and the amount and nature of each 
payment. 

 Be available, at all reasonable times, for inspection (without charge) by any 
local government elector (within the meaning of section 270(1) of the 1972 
Act) for the area of the authority. 

Allow a person who is entitled to inspect the record to make a copy of any 
part of it upon payment of such reasonable fee as the authority may require. 

Publicity requirement (paragraph 48 applies only to principal councils) 

(The required content of Publicity Requirements is given at Annex 4.) 

46. An authority must, as soon as practicable after determining its Schedule of 
Remuneration for the year under these regulations and any Report of the Panel, and 
not later than 31 July of the year to which the Schedule refers, make arrangements for 
the schedule’s publication within the authority’s area. (This section does not apply to 
community and town councils). 

47. As soon as practicable and no later than 30 September following the end of a 
year an authority must make arrangements for the publication within the authority’s 
area, the total sum paid by it to each member/co-opted member in respect of basic 
salary, senior salary, co-opted member fee, care, travel and subsistence allowances. 

48. In the same timescale and in the same manner, a local authority must make 
arrangements for the publication of any further remuneration received by a member 
nominated or appointed to another relevant authority.

Publicising the reports of the Panel 

49. Under Section 146(7) (a) and (b) of the Measure, the Panel will send a 
consultation draft of its Annual Report or Supplementary Report to all relevant 
authorities for circulation to authority members and co-opted members, so that 
representations can be made by members/co-opted members to the Panel, normally 
in a period of eight weeks.

50. The Panel will determine in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the 
arrangements publicising its Reports in accordance with Section 151 and 152 of the 
Measure. 

Monitoring compliance with the Panel’s determinations 

51. Section 153 of the Measure determines that relevant authorities must comply 
with the requirements imposed by the Panel in its Annual Reports. It also empowers 
the Panel to monitor the payments made by relevant authorities and for it to require 

53Tudalen 130



the provision of information that it specifies. The requirements under this section will 
be set out in the Annual Report of the Panel. 

54Tudalen 131



Annex 3: Schedule of member remuneration 

1. Principal councils, National Park authorities (NPAs) and Welsh fire and rescue 
authorities (FRAs) (but not community and town councils) must maintain an annual 
Schedule of Member Remuneration (the ‘Schedule’) which is in accord with the 
Panel’s determinations on member salary and co-opted member payments and which 
must contain the following information: 

a. Named members who are to receive only the basic salary. 

b. Named members who are to receive a Band 1 and Band 2 senior salary, the 
office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid. 

c. Named members who are to receive a Band 3, Band 4 and Band 5 senior 
salary, the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid. 

d. Named members who are to receive a civic salary. 

e. Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and whether 
chair or ordinary member. 

f.  Named members who are to receive a senior salary as a chair of a joint 
overview and scrutiny committee or sub committee. 

2. Amendments made to the Schedule during the municipal year must be 
communicated to the Panel as soon as it is practicable. 

3. Principal councils must confirm in their annual Schedule that the maximum limit 
of senior salaries set for the council has not been exceeded. 

4. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must include a statement of allowable 
expenses and the duties for which they may be claimed for care, travel and 
subsistence in their annual Schedule which is in accord with the Panel’s 
determinations. 

5. The Schedule must set out the arrangements for the payment of salaries, 
allowances and fees to all members and co-opted members of the relevant authority 
(IRPW Regulation 35); arrangements for making claims for care, travel and 
subsistence expenses (IRPW Regulations 24 and 36-37); arrangements for the 
avoidance of duplication (IRPW Regulation 38) and arrangements for re-payment of 
salaries, allowances and fees (IRPW Regulation 33). This schedule must also include 
the duties for which members and co-opted members are able to claim travel, 
subsistence and care allowances. 

6. Principal councils must declare in the Schedule whether: 

 A statement of the basic responsibility of a councillor is in place. 

 Role descriptors of senior salary office holders are in place. 

 Records are kept of councillor attendance. 

 Annual reports are prepared by councillors, and published on the council 
website.

55Tudalen 132



7. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must make arrangements for the 
publication of the Schedule of Member Remuneration as soon as practicable after its 
determination and no later than 31 July of the year to which it applies. 

56Tudalen 133



Annex 4: Publicity requirements 

In accordance with Section 151 of the Measure the Panel requires that: 

Relevant authorities must make arrangements for the publication within the authority 
area of the remuneration received by its members and co-opted members. This 
information must be published no later than 30 September following the end of the 
year to which the payments relate. The following information must be provided: 

a. The amount of basic salary, senior salary, civic salary and co-opted member 
fee paid to each named member/co-opted member of the relevant authority, 
including where the member had chosen to forego all or part of the salary, 
or fee for the municipal year in question. Where a Senior Salary has been 
paid, the title of the senior office held is to be provided. 

b. The payments made by community and town councils to named members 
as:

i. Attendance Allowance. 

ii. Financial Loss Allowance. 

iii. Payments for costs incurred in respect of telephone usage, broadband 
etc.

iv. Allowances made to a mayor/chair and deputy mayor/chair. 

c. All care, travel and subsistence expenses and other payments received by 
each named member and co-opted member of the relevant authority, with 
each category identified separately.  

d. The amount of any further payments received by any named member 
nominated to, or appointed by, another relevant authority.  

e. Named members who did not receive basic or senior salary because they 
were suspended for all or part of the annual period to which the Schedule 
applies. 

57Tudalen 134



Annex 5: Supplementary Report - Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees  

             Our Ref:  qA900196 
To: 
Leaders and Chief Executives of County and County Borough Councils  
Leader and Chief Executive of Welsh Local Government Association  
Head of Democratic/Members Services of County and County  
Borough Councils  

19 July 2013

Dear Colleagues 

SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT –  
JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES – REMUNERATION – 
JULY 2013 

1. This constitutes a Supplementary Report of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales (the Panel) in accordance with Section 147 of the Local Government 
Measure (Wales) 2011(“the Measure”) and relates to matters of remuneration for Joint 
Scrutiny and Overview Committees. 

2. The Welsh Government issued the Regulations and Statutory Guidance for 
Local Authority Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSCs) in May 2013. The 
Panel published a draft Supplementary Report on the 15th March 2013 for comments 
by 14th May. Three responses have been received and these have been considered 
by the Panel. The current Remuneration Framework has to be amended to provide for 
payment to the Chairs of JOSCs and to determine the appropriate level of payment 
and any other matters of remuneration. 

3. The Panel has considered the following issues: 

a) Whether a chair of a JOSC should be eligible for payment: 

The panel considers that it is appropriate for such payments to be included within the 
framework but the decision whether to make a payment is a matter for each JOSC or 
its constituent councils 

58Tudalen 135



b) The appropriate level of remuneration for a chair of a JOSC: 

As there is no information at this point regarding the responsibility of holders of such 
posts or whether this will vary according to the specific functions of different JOSCs, 
the only comparison is the chair of scrutiny of individual councils, 

c) Which local authority should be responsible for the payment: 

This must fall to the council of which the chair is a member. However, the manner in 
which costs may be apportioned is a matter for the authorities involved in the joint 
arrangements. 

d) Should the remuneration of JOSC office holders count against the maximum 
proportion of members a council is allowed to pay a senior salary: 

It would be inequitable and act as a disincentive if senior salaries for office holders of 
JOSC had to be contained within the authority maximum, so they will be additional and 
relate specifically to the individual JOSC. However, this cannot apply to Merthyr Tydfil 
and the Isle of Anglesey Councils where the current maximum is 50% (the maximum 
set by the Measure) so JOSC office holders from these two councils will have to be 
contained within their maximum. Should this situation arise, the Panel will be providing 
advice to Welsh Ministers in respect of the powers contained in section 142(5) of the 
measure. 

e) Can a member who is in receipt of a senior salary for a post in his/her 
authority receive payment as chair of a JOSC: 

The regulations prohibit a member of a local authority executive from chairing a JOSC. 
So this issue could only arise if the member was in receipt of a senior salary for a post 
falling within Bands 3 or 4 (which are not classified as full time) of the Panel’s 
Framework. The general principle of the Panel is that members can only receive one 
senior salary from their authority even if they carry out more than one remunerable 
role. However, members who are not remunerated on a full time basis are able to 
claim a salary (including a senior salary from a National Park Authority or a Fire and 
rescue authority. 

The Panel considers that a similar approach should be taken in respect of specific 
office holders of JOSCs and it would be reasonable for a supplement to be paid in 
such cases. It is proposed that this is set at 50% of the Band 3 responsibility element 
(senior salary minus basic salary). This is £4368 p.a. 

f) Should chairs of sub committees of JOSCs be remunerated: 

The draft regulations provide for sub committees to be established but reports and 
recommendations are subject to the approval of the JOSC. The sub committee is 
required to appoint a chair from among its members. The Panel considers it is 
reasonable for a chair of a sub committee to be eligible for payment but at a level that 
reflects a lesser responsibility. This is to be set at 50% of the salary of the Chair of the 
JOSC, £4368 p.a. For a member who is in receipt of a senior salary this is to be 
reduced by 50% to £2184 p.a.  

In cases where the sub committee is set up on a task and finish basis the payments 
should pro rated according to the duration of the task. 

g) Deputy chairs of JOSCs and deputy chairs of sub committees of JOSCs will 
not be remunerated. 

59Tudalen 136



h) Co-optees: 

The draft regulations allow for the co-option of additional members by JOSCs or sub 
committees. Normally, these co-optees will not have voting rights. The Remuneration 
Framework is clear that only co-optees with voting rights are eligible for a fee, 
therefore they would not be eligible for the payment of a co-optee fee.  

4.  The Panel has therefore decided that: 

Determinations 

i) (a) The chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee is eligible for a 
salary equivalent to Band 3 of the Remuneration Framework set at £8735 per annum. 

     (b) In cases where the Chair is already in receipt of a senior salary for a 
Band 3 or 4 role the payment is set at £4368 per annum 

 ii) (a) The chair of a sub committee of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
is eligible for a salary set at £4368 per annum.  

     (b) In cases where the chair of the sub committee is already in receipt of a 
senior salary for a Band 3 or 4 role the payment is set at £2184 per annum. 

      (c) Payments to chairs of task and finish sub committees are to be pro rated 
to the duration of the task. 

 iii) Payments to a chair of a JOSC or a chair of a sub committee of a JOSC are 
additional to the maximum proportion of the authority’s membership eligible for a 
senior salary. This does not apply to Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council or The Isle of 
Anglesey County Council and the maximum of 50% will continue to apply. 

 iv) A deputy chair of a JOSC or sub committee is not eligible for payment. 

  v) Co-optees to a JOSC or to a sub committee are not eligible for a co-optee 
fee unless they are co-optees appointed by an authority under section 144 (5) of the 
Measure. 

 vi) The Regulations of the Panel are amended as set out in the Annex to this 
Supplementary Report. 

5. The remuneration of chairs of JOSCs (or a sub committee of a JOSC) is not 
prescribed and is a matter for the constituent councils to decide whether such a post 
will be paid. However, if a senior salary is awarded, it must be at the level set out in 
paragraph 4 of this Report. Individual chairs can forgo part or all of the payment if they 
so decide.  

60Tudalen 137



6. The Panel will review these determinations as the system for JOSCs develops 
and information and experience of their operation emerges.  

Regards 

Yours sincerely 

Chair  
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

61Tudalen 138



62

Annex

CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS TO THE REGULATIONS OF THE INDEPENDENT

REMUNERATION PANEL FOR WALES

Part 1 Interpretation

Paragraph 2. After Fire and rescue authorities insert:

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees means a committee or sub

committee set up by two or more principal councils under the Local

Authority (Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (Wales) Regulations

2013.

Part 2 Schedules of member/co opted member remuneration

After paragraph 15 add:

15(a) Payments to chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Sub

Committees are additional to the maximum proportion of its membership that

an authority can pay as senior salaries subject to the overall maximum of

fifty percent as contained in Section 142(5) of the Measure. The Panel will

determine the amounts of such payments in an Annual or

Supplementary Report.

After paragraph 16 add:

16(a) Paragraph 16 does not apply to payments made to a chair of a Joint

Overview and Scrutiny Committee who is in receipt of a senior salary for a role

which is not classified as full time equivalent. It continues to apply to Leaders or

members of the Executive who are remunerated on the equivalence of full time.

Tudalen 139



Annex 6: Draft Supplementary Report - Payments to co-
opted members of local authorities 

Our Ref:  qA900196 

To: 

Leaders and Chief Executives of County and County Borough Councils  

Chairs and Chief Executives of National Park Authorities  

Chairs and Clerks of Fire and Rescue Authorities  

Leader and Chief Executive of Welsh Local Government Association  

Head of Democratic/Members Services of County and County  

Borough Councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities  

1 August 2013

Dear Colleagues 

DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT –  
PAYMENTS TO CO-OPTED MEMBERS OF LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

1. This constitutes a Supplementary Report of the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales (the Panel) in accordance with Section 147 of the Local 
Government Measure (Wales) 2011 (the Measure). It relates to payments made 
to co-opted members of Principal Authorities, National Park Authorities and Fire 
and Rescue Authorities, who have the right to vote. 

2. During a 10 week period, from March to June 2013 the Panel visited each of 
the 28 authorities and a significant number of points were raised at these 
meetings. The Panel will be considering these over the coming months in 
relation to the next or future Annual Reports. However, issues came to light in 
respect of payments to co-opted members that the Panel believes should be 

63Tudalen 140



actioned in advance of the next Annual Report which will not take effect until 
Spring 2014. 

3. These issues are: 
i) Recognising that the preparation for meetings can be very time 

consuming but the current Remuneration Framework does not allow this 
time to be included for payment. 

ii) While co-opted members are entitled to claim travelling expenses, the 
Framework does not indicate whether travelling time to and from 
meetings can be counted in the assessment of whether a meeting is a 
full day or half day for payment purposes. 

iii) Several co-opted members expressed concerns that they were not made 
aware, in advance whether meetings were scheduled for a half day or a 
full day. This created difficulties for planning their diaries, particularly if 
the individual member had other work related activities to be planned. It 
was suggested that the Monitoring Officer (or other relevant officer) 
could be authorised to set the appropriate fee in advance having 
determined the likely time required to deal with the agenda. 

iv) There was a lack of clarity over what constituted a “meeting”. The Panel 
was asked to consider whether it includes other committees or working 
groups (including task & finish groups) that co-opted members are 
requested to attend. 

4. The Panel has considered these matters and has decided: 

Determinations 

i) Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is eligible to be included in 
claims made by co-opted members the extent of which can be 
determined by the appropriate officer in advance of the meeting. 

ii) Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting can be included in 
the claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the 
maximum of the daily rate). 

iii) The appropriate officer within the authority can determine in advance 
whether a meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will be paid 
on the basis of this determination even if the meeting finishes before four 
hours has elapsed. 

iv) Meetings eligible for the payment of fee include other committees and 
working groups (including task and finish groups) or any other formal 
meeting to which co-opted members are requested to attend. (pre 
meetings with officers, training and attendance at conferences are 
already eligible for payment). 

Regards 

Yours sincerely 

64Tudalen 141



65

Chair  

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

Tudalen 142



Annex 7: Letter of clarification   

Our Ref:  qA991372 

To: 

Leaders and Chief Executives of County and County Borough Councils  

Chairs and Chief Executives of National Park Authorities  

Chairs and Clerks of Fire and Rescue Authorities  

Leader and Chief Executive of Welsh Local Government Association  

Head of Democratic/Members Services of County and County  

Borough Councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities  

19 July 2013 

Dear Colleague  

Letter of Clarification 

The Panel has now completed its visits to all 22 Principal Councils, 3 National Park 

Authorities and 3 Fire and Rescue Authorities.  We are grateful for the welcome we 

received and for the open and constructive nature of the discussions.  Over the next 

two months the Panel will be considering changes to the present remuneration 

framework, informed significantly by these discussions.  Changes will be presented as 

determinations in our next Annual Report to be implemented from spring 2014.  We 

will also shortly be circulating a draft Supplementary Report on changes to be 

implemented concerning Co-opted Members.   

We have, however, identified a number of issues relating to salaries and expenses 

which are already set out in the current framework but which have not yet been 

properly or fully implemented across every authority.  The purpose of this letter is to 

clarify the Panel’s intentions to those who set, claim or process such payments.  

66Tudalen 143



These clarifications apply to the current framework of determinations which may be 

revised in future Annual Reports.  The page references relate to relevant paragraphs 

in the current 2012/13 Annual Report. 

1. Prescribed Salary (Annex 2 Part 4 Section 34 on page 34): The prescribed 

salary must be paid in full to each member unless an individual has 

independently and voluntarily opted in writing to the authority’s proper officer to 

forego all or any element of the payment.  The term ‘member’ applies to any 

individual elected, appointed or co-opted to the authority. 

2. Salary Deductions (Annex 1 Section 3 paragraph (ix) on page 23):  A member 

must not have any deduction(s) made from her/his salary by the respective 

authority as a contribution towards those support costs (such as telephones, 

broadband, postal costs or IT equipment) which the authority considers 

necessary for the effectiveness and/or efficiency of members.    

3. Payment of Travel Expenses (Paragraph 27 page 33):  It is for each Council 

to determine its policy for when mileage/travel expenses are appropriate.  If an 

authority has determined that payments are reasonable and in the discharge of 

official business then such expenses may be paid for journeys made within 

and/or outside the authority’s boundaries.  There may be instances where an 

authority has determined that travel expenses within its boundaries are payable 

and require a journey to be repeated on consecutive days.  Where in such a 

case it is cost effective and reasonable to reimburse overnight accommodation 

costs instead of repeated daily mileage expenses then it is permissible to do so.  

4. Overnight Accommodation Cost Limits (Annex 1 Section 3 paragraph (iii) on 

page 22):  These limits which apply when an individual member claims in 

arrears for overnight accommodation costs do not apply when the respective 

authority reserves and pays directly for accommodation.   

5. Schedule of Member Remuneration (Annex 3 page 39):  Clarity as well as 

openness is required in publishing the Schedule of Member Remuneration.  To 

this end each authority must ensure that the full salary, both basic and senior 

elements, is shown clearly against each member’s record of remuneration. 

We would ask that our communications are circulated as a matter of routine to all 

members: elected, appointed and co-opted. 

Yours sincerely 

Chair  

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

Secretariat 

67Tudalen 144



68

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
Room M.05 
First Floor 
Crown Buildings 
Cathay’s Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 

Telephone: 029 2080 1047 
E-mail: irpmailbox@wales.gsi.gov.uk

The Report is available on our website at: 
www.remunerationpanelwales.org.uk

Tudalen 145



Tudalen 146

Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag


	Rhaglen
	4 COFNODION Y CYFARFOD DIWETHAF
	5 YMGYNGHORIAD YNGLYN Â GORCHYMYN PERSONAU DYNODEDIG
	Appendix 1 - Designated Persons
	Appendix 2 - Designated Persons

	6 ADRODDIADAU BLYNYDDOL GAN AELODAU
	DCC Member Annual Report Template WELSH
	Annual Reports - Statutory Guidance

	7 GWEDDARLLEDU CYFARFODYDD Y CYNGOR
	8 RHEOLIADAU ABSENOLDEB TEULUOL AR GYFER AELODAU
	Appendix 1 - Family Absence
	Appendix 2 - Family Absence

	9 FERSIWN DDRAFFT ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL PANEL ANNIBYNNOL CYMRU AR GYDNABYDDIAETH ARIANNOL 2014/2015
	Appendix 1 Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales


